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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

BB E

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

FramAl (BE)

For the year ended 31 December

BEt+t-—A=+—RHLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
TEC=FE - —F —E-—F —E-FF —F—NE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FHExT FET T T FH T FHET
Revenue g A 152,950 125,087 121,672 127,588 114,489
Profit/(loss) before taxation  BRFi Al A,/ (E18) 703 252 (2,225) (8,599) 2,310
Income tax (expense)/credit Fr{3: (), K% (23) (14) - 135 (1,303)
Profit/(loss) for the year F T (EE) 680 238 (2,225) (8,464) 1,007
Profit/(loss) attributable to 2N A FlAE 2R A% R E(S
equity shareholders wmF (&518)
of the Company 680 238 (2,225) (8,464) 1,007
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 December
W+=—A=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
CEC=E DE-oF —E-—F —E-FF —FE-NF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FHExT T T T T FH T FHT
Current assets mENEE 170,597 161,952 168,716 164,539 183,870
Non-current assets IEmEEE 2,116 2,419 2,779 3,842 2,663
Current liabilities nEaE 20,364 12,968 20,021 13,777 23,601
Non-current liabilities EREBAE 521 255 564 1,469 1,333
Net assets BEFE 151,828 151,148 150,910 153,135 161,599
Total equity attributable to AN 7] 4 2 A% 5 FE
equity shareholders T AR
of the Company 151,828 151,148 150,910 153,135 161,599
Total equity e 151,828 151,148 150,910 153,135 161,599




On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited (the
“Company”), | am pleased to present the annual report of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$152,950,000, which was a year-on-
year increase of 22.3% compared to approximately
HK$125,087,000 recorded in the previous financial year. The
profit attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company was
approximately HK$680,000 (2022: approximately HK$238,000).

A contractor of the Company announced liquidation in early
March 2024. The Company has been impacted as there are
receivables of retention and variable orders due from that
contractor as at 31 December 2023 of approximately
HK$1,590,000. The related project was completed and provision
was made for the whole receivable amount. The Company has
communicated with the developer and will approach the liquidator
of that contractor and take appropriate actions to recover the
outstanding balance.

Despite of the coronavirus disease situation is stabilized or
subsided in early 2023, the global and Hong Kong economic
landscapes are continously exhibiting considerable volatility. Hong
Kong real estate transactions are quiet and the property market is
weak which affect the speed of housing construction by
developers. There will continue to be many challenges ahead due
to the labour shortages and building material costs inflation which
lead to the increase in cost, under the keen competition. Facing
the resulting uncertainties, the Group will mitigate and manage
the risks by closely monitor the situation and take appropriate
measures to ensure that the Group can minimize the direct cost
and strive to keep up relationships with its suppliers and existing
customers and actively explore potential development
opportunities, which in turn will enhance the Group’s future
profitability and scale for maximizing returns for shareholders.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERWwE

AANERKREIREE (R BRAR ([HRAF])
sx(gs) e (B8]  MAREARAR
HBAR (REAKE)BE-_T-_=F1+=
A=1+—BLEFENFERS -

HE T =F+_A=+—HIFE ~A£E
$E 15 Uk A #7152,950,00078 7T © 8 + — BT BUFE
$: 18 2 #7125,087,0008 L[ L3 hN22.3% ©
NN R S B R FE (R & Tl 49680,000%8 T
—ET - T4 4238,000/87T) °

=

RATNEABHEMN S _ME= AIETE
E-R-_ZBE-=F+-"FA=+—H8 AQAREA
ZAEABENERRBEe AN IRBREERELNA
1,590,000 TMZ R L - HEEBEEZ R T -
MARAR D A EBEYFIBELEE - ARFIE
BRI B EEITE R W EZAREEREE AR
VA R EREUEE 1TE B R K -

BETVRRSEBER_Z_=FFORBEIER -
BERLEBNKELEZ2RDERY - BER
MERKORR  BTRS  FPERRAEZERE -
EHRFHUT S TRRIGZEM KA ERER
RA LT BPIREEA G S EERESHE
o BHEBRIHABRRE  AEESETIRET
FEBRRBELEERR - RKIUEE B EREARAN
SEAZEREEERAN Y EEBES NGRE
HEBLAERPHNHEARLBEHREMELNER
B BURARAKBERKHANEE N KRE
AR RAIEZA @R -



Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / & JIE£= B (32 /%) B R A &)

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERERE

Looking ahead, with the promise of the increase of the land
supply for the development of the infrastructures by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administration Region and
the cancellation of Special Stamp Duty and Buyer’s Stamp Duty
with effect on 28 February 2024, we are hopeful that the Hong
Kong economy and the construction industry will be restored
gradually.

The Group will continue to focus on enhancing the business
operations and managing the financial position, internal control
and corporate governance. Meanwhile, we will constantly show
perseverance in its development to obtain new projects.

I would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to all the Directors,
management team and all staff for their diligence over the past
year, and to the Company’s shareholders, customers, suppliers
and partners from various sectors for their ongoing great
support.

Chairman of the Board
Cheung Yuen Tung

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is an established HVAC electrical and mechanical
("HVAC E&M") engineering services provider in Hong Kong with
a long business history dating back to 1996. The Group generally
focuses on serving new residential property developments projects
as a first-tier or second-tier subcontractor in Hong Kong. The
HVAC E&M engineering services typically involve installation of
HVAC systems, which refers to heat, ventilation and air-
conditioning systems.

The Group is registered as a Registered Electrical Contractor under
the Electrical and Mechanical Services Departments of the
Government, a minor works contractor (company) of Type A
(Classes Il 'and ll), Type D (Classes Il and Ill) and Type E (Classes I
and 1) under the Building Authority and a registered
subcontractor under the Subcontractor Registration Scheme
operated by the Construction Industry Council.

In order to strengthen the market position as a prime HVAC E&M
engineering services provider and become the preferred choice of
first-tier HYAC E&M engineering subcontractor for property
developers in Hong Kong, the Group continues to strengthen the
financial management and licensing qualifications, securing the
positioning in the property development value chain and pursuing
new business opportunities directly with property developers and/
or their designated main contractors.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue
By timing of revenue recognition:

EEENWmR DN

E 3 4E1)
AEBERBEELEANEBEZARE ((REXE
ARE]) TRERGEERN XBEELAEPE
—NAARF - AEE-RUAEBIRENEE ST
MENREBMUEEYREREB RHRE -
RAZARETIRREAT PR LERBEHR
SRR - BRRZEFHRLS) -

REBDAMAEKRE TIREE T EMEEANS
BEEREBETAER(FIRNKR) - DER
(FBNRNERR]) REER (FIRNER) N T 52
AEE (R UERBEEEFCE o EEMm
SIEA TR B -

REBFSEERBTZARE TRRFBHERD
MISEM  YKASEEMEERDVNEEEER
BERABETIRNER  ASEEEMNRUBEE
BRERER BEWMEEREEENEM X
EYEBRE R AEEEEFRRERFIN
B -

B 7 Bl
A
SR A TR RS

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
F&ET FHET

Services transferred over time  [E i i 82 £ 19 R 75 121,873 80 105,803 85
Products transferred at RERERER

a point in time H 2 mh 31,077 20 19,284 15

152,950 100 125,087 100
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWRDN

By type of services: ERBERE S

Year ended 31 December

BEt+t=-—A=+—RHLEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-=
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
FET FET

Installation services only HLEE R 70,568 46 84,640 68
Installation services with LTERRGER BT SR

HVAC systems procurements R # 82,382 54 40,447 32

152,950 100 125,087 100

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue #HE_FT_=F+_A=+—HIFE F~£H
increased by approximately HK$27,863,000 or 22.3% to AU A AN %727,863,0008 T8k 22.3% & 4
approximately HK$152,950,000. The revenue during the year was 152,950,000/ 70 c F R A HITEESEE W
derived from the respective projects execution progress. HITHE o

Cost of services PR % BX A<

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+t—HLFE

2023 2022
—E-= —_=E_-
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
FERT FHET
Subcontracting fees >BEH 51,306 38 41,143 39
Materials and consumables LRSS =) 54,724 41 45,340 43
Direct labour HEST 17,377 13 17,282 16
Storage fee FlEHR 5,267 4 - -
Others HAth 5,069 4 2,616 2
133,743 100 106,381 100
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group's cost of services mainly represented the cost of HVAC
systems and other ancillary consumables such as pipes and fittings
and subcontracting charges for completing on-site works. The
cost of services increased by approximately HK$27,362,000 or
25.7% to approximately HK$133,743,000 for the year ended 31
December 2023, as compared to approximately HK$106,381,000
for the year ended 31 December 2022. The increase was mainly
due to the increase in revenue and additional storage fee for
ventilation fans and air conditioners.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's gross profit increased by approximately HK$501,000
or 2.7% from approximately HK$18,706,000 for the year ended
31 December 2022 to approximately HK$19,207,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The Group’s gross profit margin
decreased from approximately 15.0% for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately 12.6% for the year ended 31
December 2023. The decrease in the gross profit margin was
mainly due to the additional storage fee and lower profit margin
for projects with HVAC system procurements.

Other income

The other income mainly consisted of bank interest income and
other services income, which principally included repairing and
other installation services recognised for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly comprised staff costs, meals and
entertainment expenses, depreciation expenses, transportation
expenses and others. Administrative expenses increased from
approximately HK$24,691,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately HK$28,465,000 for the year ended 31
December 2023. The increase in administrative expenses of the
Group was mainly due to the increase in the cost of repairing and
other installation services and the impairment of expected credit
loss on trade and other receivables and contract assets.

Finance costs

Finance costs of approximately HK$65,000 (2022: approximately
HK$60,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023 represented
interest expenses on lease liabilities.

BEEENwR D

REBWRBEKN AT ZREBTARS LA
BVREM (B InMEE R BC ) BN - A R SEA e T HY
PEBR -BE_ZE_=—F+_A=+—HL*F
€ BRAGAK AL IN#927,362,000 8 7088, 25.7% &=
#9133,743,0008 L MBE T _F+=H
= +—HIEFERI#106,381,000 JT ° 1 0=
ZEHRBAENAR SRS &= RANEEINDTF
B TR -

EFREFE

AREBNENHBEE -_T-_—_F+-F=+—H
1EF E /949 18,706,000 7 JT 1% H1 49 501,000 7 JT
7% E2HE-_E-_ZF+-_A=Z+—HILHF
JERI%719,207,000/8 7T - AEER ENEKHRE S
:qiiﬁz"f' ﬁ + ElJJ:@VE’Ji’HSO%/Ul
LPEEEE_=F+_A=+—HILEFEND
12.6% > EF R TREBHREINEHNE B LEF
BRBTHRANEE FBERE -

Htg A

H WA E 2 i IRTTF B R Bt AR5 W A4
K EEF2eE8E T -_=F+=-A=+—H
I FERRANGEREMRZERY

THHAX

THRAXETZREETINA EREMERY -
MERX XBRAZEEM THRAZHEEEZ
T CFF+ A=+ —HIEFE424,691,000%
TENEHEEZE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE
#928,465,0008 7T - NEBETHMAEMNEER
REBREMTRERBEEAE  URE S REME
WHERAHNEEBPEEBEBREE AT -

B3 AR AR
HE-_Z-_=ZF+-_A=1+—HIFE BHEX
AR#965,0008 7L (= = =4 : 4960,000%7T) -
EHREaENNERY -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWmE D

Income tax expense

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Company and its subsidiaries in Hong Kong have either sustained
losses for tax purpose or their unused tax losses were sufficient to
cover their estimated assessable profits for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

Total comprehensive income attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s profit and
total comprehensive income attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company was approximately HK$680,000 (2022:
approximately HK$238,000).

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables decreased by approximately HK$15,667,000
from approximately HK$37,391,000 as at 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$21,724,000 as at 31 December 2023. As at 31
December 2022, the trade receivable balance included payment
certificate of approximately HK$9,500,000 issued near the end of
the financial year which contributed to a larger trade receivable
balance when compared with that as 31 December 2023.

Retention receivables increased by approximately HK$368,000
from approximately HK$26,357,000 as at 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$26,725,000 as at 31 December 2023. The
slightly increase in retention receivables was the net effect of
retention recovered and addition of retention according to the
progress of the projects.

Deposits, prepayment and other receivables decreased by
approximately HK$1,599,000 from approximately HK$4,413,000
as at 31 December 2022 to approximately HK$2,814,000 as at 31
December 2023. The decrease in the balance was mainly due to
decrease in wages paid on behalf of the contractor and the
decrease in warehouse storage fee paid on behalf of the
contractor near the end of financial year as at 31 December 2023.

10

FEHmxX

HRARRIREREENMNBAREREM S E
EEENERDATEBEERAREEEE T
CEFEN T HF+ A=t —HIEFEZIE
FHERBORER - MU BB BRI G L EE -

RATFEZRRELZEKEAE

BE-_E-_=F+-A=1+—HB1FEE  xQ7A
X REEAEEEF N 2ERFERAD
680,000/ 7L (ZF = —4 : 4J238,000/87L) °

BRE
EEQ ERINBE_S_=F+_-_A=+—
AFEMRBRE(ZE_—F : &) -

ZESRHEMERE
HRUFER T —_F+_A=+—HHY
37,391,000 JT ik 4> 49 15,667,000 TE = F
Z=F+ZA=+—HmM#%21,724,000/87T ° A
R F+ZRA=+—H  BEHERFIBLEH
BRI BFE R &R T £99,500,000%
THERFE RAUBZIEKFALEHE -
=+ A=+—H&%S5 -

R-ZZE-_=F+-_A=+—H EURELH_
T —F+ - A=+—H#26,357,0005 Ti& M
#9368,000 78 JT & #726,725,0007% 7T ° & UK R &
S EEHUE N T UL R B 4 DA K AR 578 B # [E 18 A0

RESHFEE -

R-ZZE-=F+-_A=+—8 %& BNZHE
NEMEWREBER - _—F+_A=+—H%
4,413,000 LBk 2> 491,599,000 jT & &
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Trade and other payables

Trade payables increased by approximately HK$7,989,000 from
approximately HK$3,782,000 as at 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$11,771,000 as at 31 December 2023. The
increase was mainly due to the Group made large purchase of
HVAC systems for projects installation near the end of financial
year as at 31 December 2023.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the Group will further expand the service
capabilities to capture business opportunities and provide
customers with comprehensive HVAC E&M engineering services
with a prudent financial management strategy, pursuing a long-
term healthy business growth and stable return to the
shareholders.

The property market has become more active with an increase in
transactions after the cancellation of Special Stamp Duty and
Buyer's Stamp Duty on 28 February 2024. Nonetheless, the odds
are not to be underestimated. For example, interest rates are
expected to remain at a relatively high level for a longer period
than anticipated. In addition, the city’'s recovery from the
pandemic has been weaker than anticipated. So the developers
may carry out new development projects after deliberation and
lead to reduction of tendering and keen competition.

Despite the adverse commercial environment and the overall
uncertainties in the recent times, our management’s strong
capabilities and sound track record are expected to enable us to
be competitive in these potential tenders. In addition, we are
constantly evaluating our team and fleet to ensure that we are
optimizing our competitiveness with a view to getting more
projects.

EEENWmR DN

B RHEMEMNKE
R-ZE-—ZF+=-A=+—H BZEMNFEH
—E -+ A =+—H#93,782,000% T 1%
hn#77,989,000% 7T = £911,771,000% 7T © 7% 18
MrERmRAEldE_—_S_=F+_A=1+—
Ay BRTFEERGEAERBERBTHARSH
RIBEZE -

KRR A=

REARK - NEEKHE — SRR 8E N IAEE
B R AEPREEmA R BT A E TIZR -
WHRREEMBERRE  NWEBRRERBENE
BIBRERBRRERIBELR -

RZFEZMF A=+ N\BECERRIENEHLE
REVIERE RSN AR FEHEMISEE
BIER -BEML BT EMEEPRERE -
BOIME  BRIFIEBEFREEREKTE &
MRANTEER - Itoh - BEBRBPERNEE IR
HBRTEH - Al BEREIESERDERES
REAFERIEE  SIBHBERD RFEFEE -

BEMHPARRENH BEREFETHMAR
= RMEEENBRRENALRRENEERR
R ER MR ZFEERETEARFN
BESN  RPIFE AR P EE - ARERBEF D
BB NRFRMEZIER -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWmE D

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group had net current assets of approximately
HK$150,233,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: approximately
HK$148,984,000). The quick ratio of the Group was
approximately 8.3 times as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
approximately 12.2 times). The Group generally financed its daily
operations by its internal resources. The remaining unused net
proceeds as at 31 December 2023 were placed as interest-bearing
deposits with licensed banks in Hong Kong.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
There is no change in the Company’s share capital during the
year.

FINANCIAL POLICIES

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of the settlement
of its trade payables and financing obligations, and its cash flow
management. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in
both the short and long terms.

GEARING RATIO AND DEBT TO EQUITY RATIO
The Group's gearing ratio, which is calculated based on the total
debt divided by total equity (defined as lease liabilities as at the
respective year divided by the total equity as at the respective
corresponding year) was approximately 1.0% as at 31 December
2023 (2022: 0.9%).

The Group’s debt to equity ratio, which is calculated based on the
total debt (defined as the lease liabilities minus cash and cash
equivalents as at the respective year end divided by total equity as
at the respective corresponding year) was not applicable due to
the Group recorded net cash position as at 31 December 2023.

12
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group invested
approximately HK$1,874,000 (2022: approximately
HK$1,723,000) in property, plant and equipment, mainly
represented motor vehicles, computer and office equipment and
other properties leased for own use.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no significant capital
commitments (2022: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

BEEENWmE DM

EXREAX

HE-_Z-_=F+-A=+—H1FE &Xx&£H
WEEN,8740008 T (Z T ZZ2F : 4
1,723,000 870) R - KRB EERFE TERA
B BREMAERERAMEERNEEYE -

BAREE
R-Z-=F+_A=+—HB AEEHEEKX
BREE(ZSD _—_F &) -

HREE

As at 31 December 2023, contingent liabilities not provided forin R-ZE-=F+-A=+—0  SAHEHRENRN
the consolidated financial statements were as follows: WEARBEBENIABERT -
2023 2022
—E-= _F-
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Performance bonds given to customers REERITAEEM B AR EAEIEE
for due and proper performance of mEEFELHBNBLIRE S
projects undertaken by the Group's
subsidiaries - 3,848
Court proceedings (Note) EERFR () 872 872
872 4,720

Note:

In 2020, a subcontractor (“the plaintiff”) sued Man Tung Air-Conditioning Works
Limited (“Man Tung AC Works"), a subsidiary of the Company for the amount due
of HK$871,664 for the ventilation fans installation works. Currently, Man Tung AC
Works is waiting for 1st court session. Based on the legal advice and after
consideration of possible business and financial impact, the directors believe stand a
reasonable chance of success in defending the action and securing the counterclaims,
therefore there is no present obligation to make any provision for the case at this
stage.

MaE

—Zo2H —EZHeR((REDEFARTAN—HHERF
EERARIRARAR(BELSRIR]  EXRINARBRES
R ITRENBMNRIE71,6648 T BRI BBSRIIELERE
SHE-RFEE - EREAEEZBLZRAENEBNGBEE
% EERRBFAENEREIRINBAHFALESRF  BELR
PR R MR F SRR R IFE R R ER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWmE D

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

No property, plant and equipment has been pledged as at 31
December 2023 and 2022.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not
have any significant investment, material acquisition nor disposal
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies (2022: Nil).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 28 June
2018 (the "Prospectus”), the Group did not have other future
plans for material investments or capital assets.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are
principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The Group is not
significantly exposed to foreign currency risk arising from
monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in currencies
other than the functional currencies of the respective group
entities.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy as the foreign currency risk is considered to be insignificant.
However, the management will continue to closely monitor the
Group's foreign exchange risk exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure when necessary.

INFORMATION ON EMPLOYEES AND
REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 71 employees (2022: 71
employees) with total staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments)
of approximately HK$32,157,000 incurred for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: approximately HK$32,285,000). The
Group’s remuneration packages are generally structured with
reference to market terms and individual merits. The remuneration
committee of the Company makes recommendations to the Board
on the overall remuneration policy and structure for the Directors
and senior management.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The controlling shareholders of the Company, namely Mr. Cheung
Yuen Tung, Mr. Cheung Yuen Chau and Prime Pinnacle Limited
(collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”) entered into a
deed of non-competition dated 8 June 2018 (“Deed of Non-
competition”) in favour of the Company (for itself and as trustee
for each of its subsidiaries). For details of the Deed of Non-
competition, please refer to the section headed “Relationship with
the Controlling Shareholders — Deed of Non-competition” in the
Prospectus of the Company. Each of the Controlling Shareholders
has confirmed that none of them is engaged in or interested in
any business (other than the Group) which, directly or indirectly,
competes or may compete with the business of the Group. The
independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed the status
of compliance and written confirmation from each of the
Controlling Shareholders, and confirmed that all the undertakings
under the Deed of Non-competition have been complied with by
each of the Controlling Shareholders since 11 July 2018 and up to
the date of this report.

COMPETING INTEREST

Since the Listing and up to the date of this report, none of the
Directors or the Controlling Shareholders of the Company or their
close associates are interested in any business which competes or
may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group nor any conflicts of interest which has or may have with
the Group.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Company successfully listed on the Stock Exchange on 11 July
2018 and 250,000,000 ordinary shares were issued at HK$0.52
per share by way of share offer (the “Share Offer”). Net proceeds
from the Share Offer was approximately HK$102.4 million (after
deducting the underwriting fees and other related expenses).

BEEENwR D

\BERE
RARZEBRBREERLBLE RTHREER
Prime Pinnacle Limited (5378 & [ R BR R ) A
RAAEZTAN (BERAGRIEAESHERRDN
ZHENFTIEPRA-_ZE-NFENANBH IS
FRE(FTHRBRE]) - FHETHFREN
1B B2HARAC BRER [EBIERR R
B —THFRE] & - SERBREDHER &
EHELHTMEEKEEENEREKBKR
?i—lauiﬁ}ﬂzﬁﬁ%m%ﬁ(Zﬁ‘ilfﬁ%?l\)&ﬁf‘“‘
FHARED - BUIERNTEENE RN ARG
NEBESEBRBRENERE  WHERSIE Hxﬁx%
BT N\FtA+—BEREHZAREH I
BETIEFLBEIE T B A °

BFE S

BETEMBERAREBHIL  BEARFES
S PR AR AR BR Bk 1R T ) B %%/\JWEHET%&F‘?
B BN SR B KB AOH T Sk A BE R B F R A
EPTzﬁﬁﬁém’iéﬁiZlS%@ﬁjo B ERMEE

FrBRERR
RZZ—NFtA+—H ARRERNREER
FrEm WESBRMHBE((RORE]) RER
0.52 7 7T 2% 17 250,000,000 fi% & 3 A% - B 1D 3 &
T 15 3R 185 58 47 102,400,000 8 7T (K% B 8 &
BREMEREMS) -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWRDN

The net proceeds used for the intended purposes as was setoutin TS RIB/FHEBEBRER [ KK ERFTER
the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” of the TEM& | —EiffEiM B EA R - L TEHIIEER
Prospectus. Set out below is the actual utilisation of net proceeds & HHIIEMFIBFIEFRELSHAIBNR

up to the date of this report:

Net Expected
proceeds Utilised Unutilised  timeline
FiieRE
FHE 2EA AEA BHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THT T
Procurement of HVAC KERBTEHRZRS
systems 87,654 87,654 -
Taking out surety bonds KEBERES 4,608 4,226 382  Endof 2024
“EOMER
General working capital —REBES 10,138 10,138 -
102,400 102,018 382
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Tung (“Mr. Tony Cheung”)

Mr. Tony Cheung, aged 64, is the chairman of the Board, an
executive Director and one of the Controlling Shareholders. He
was appointed as a Director on 4 November 2017 and
redesignated as an executive Director on 12 March 2018. He is
also a director of Man Tung Air-Conditioning Works Limited
("Man Tung AC Works”) and Man Tung Air-Conditioning E&M
Limited (“Man Tung AC E&M"), both indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Tony Cheung is primarily
responsible for the overall strategic planning, business
development, and corporate management and sales and
marketing of the Group.

Mr. Tony Cheung has over 20 years of experience in air-
conditioning E&M engineering services industry. Mr. Tony Cheung
established a sole proprietorship in 1986 in the trade name of
“Man Tung Air-conditioning Works"” to carry on the business of
providing air-conditioning installation services. He is the co-
founder of Man Tung AC Works and Shun Tung Engineering
Company Limited (“Shun Tung”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and has been a director of Man Tung
AC Works since its incorporation on 19 November 1996. Mr. Tony
Cheung established Man Tung AC E&M in April 2008 and has
been a director of the company since then. Mr. Tony Cheung,
together with Mr. Gary Cheung, has been responsible for
formulating and determining corporate and business strategies
and making major operation decisions, monitoring the business
operations, reviewing and approving significant contracts and
investment, appointment and appraisal of senior management of
the Group.

Mr. Tony Cheung is the brother of Mr. Gary Cheung, the
executive Director of the Company.

ESREREBAEERE

HITES

RiBRAE(RTBRED

RITBELE 6458 REEEIR WITEER
TRBRZ— - BR_T—tF+—ANBEZE
ERESR BN T \F=ZAT-BHEHTT
BEX -BIARARRBEEEZENMNBAREELR
TREARAR(BBELRRIR]) MEBRSRKE
ERAFR(TBERRBEDNES - Fu@it
TEEEASERBRBAE  EBER X
EEANEERTISHE -

RITBEARGEHARELIZREEB205F -
RTBAEER - NN\ARERIBELRAIREID
BRI BEDLE  HERHEALERBEHOE
B mABRSRIERARFREEENBA
AlRESRERTREARLE ([IRE]) HHF A
WA B AARET-ATNLBEERSRIE
MR AR —EREETHES - RITBEER
ZTN\FHARIERSRAKE  BUEEZA
AEF -RITBLEBMRRTUEEAERE R
U PEREERE FHEALERR &R
XigeE BUBASGWEKENUNZERTZ
AEESRERAR -

RITBELER/ARBMITERRITIKEEMNR -
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EESREREEAEEBRE

Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Chau (“Mr. Gary Cheung”)

Mr. Gary Cheung, aged 59, is the chief executive officer of the
Company, an executive Director and one of the Controlling
Shareholders. He was appointed as a Director on 4 November
2017 and redesignated as an executive Director of the Company
on 12 March 2018. Mr. Gary Cheung is responsible for the
general management and supervising day-to-day operation of the
Group.

Mr. Gary Cheung has approximately 20 years of experience in air-
conditioning E&M engineering services industry. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Gary Cheung was involved in the operation of the
sole proprietorship “Man Tung Air-conditioning Works”
established by Mr. Tony Cheung in the provision of air-
conditioning installation services. He is the co-founder of Man
Tung AC Works and Shun Tung and has been a director of Shun
Tung since its incorporation on 6 November 1998. Mr. Gary
Cheung, together with Mr. Tony Cheung, has been responsible
for formulating and determining corporate and business strategies
and making major operation decisions, monitoring the business
operations, reviewing and approving significant contracts and
investment, appointment and appraisal of senior management of
the Group.

Mr. Gary Cheung is the brother of Mr. Tony Cheung, the
executive Director of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson

Mr. Pang, aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 8 June 2018. Mr. Pang is responsible for
overseeing the Group’s compliance, internal control and corporate
governance, but not participating in the day-to-day management
of the business operation.

Mr. Pang has over 41 years of experience in the legal profession in
Hong Kong. Mr. Pang has been a partner of Y.C. Lee, Pang, &
Kwok, Solicitors (formerly known as Y.C. Lee, Pang, Kwok & Ip,
Solicitors) since July 1987. Prior to joining Y.C. Lee, Pang & Kwok
Solicitors, Mr. Pang was an assistant solicitor at Gallant Y.T. Ho &
Co., Solicitors & Notaries from March 1983 to March 1986. From
March 1986 to June 1987, Mr. Pang served as an assistant solicitor
at Deacons, Solicitors & Notaries. Mr. Pang has been a legal
adviser of Kwun Tong Resident Association, Kwun Tong
Association for Elderly Limited and Shun Lee Yin Ngai Society
Limited since July 2005, February 2010 and July 2013,
respectively.

Mr. Pang was appointed as a Kwun Tong District board member
from April 1985 to September 1994. From April 1989 to May
1991, Mr. Pang was an urban councillor. He acted as the district
affairs adviser of the News China Agency from March 1994 to
June 1997, responsible for advising on district affairs. Since 2012,
Mr. Pang has been the vice-president of East Kowloon Region of
the Scout Association of Hong Kong, who is responsible for
managing the financial affairs of East Kowloon Region Scout
Association of Hong Kong. He was the school manager of Kit Sum
Lam Bing Yin Secondary School since 2003 up to August 2017.

Mr. Pang obtained a bachelor of laws degree from The University
of Hong Kong in November 1980. He was admitted as a solicitor
of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in March 1983, a solicitor of
England & Wales in June 1989 and a barrister of High Court of
Australia in December 1989. He was appointed as a civil celebrant
of marriages in June 2006.

ESREREBAEERE
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ESREREBAEERE

Mr. LAU Yu Ching

Mr. Lau, aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 8 June 2018. Mr. Lau is responsible for
overseeing the Group’s compliance, internal control and corporate
governance, but not participating in the day-to-day management
of our business operation.

Mr. Lau has over 29 years of experience in accounting and
finance. Mr. Lau joined Asia Aluminum Holdings Limited, a
company which engages in aluminium profile extrusion and
aluminium panel manufacturing in April 1996 with his last position
as a chief financial officer. Mr. Lau then joined Asiaalum Holdings
Limited in August 2009 as its chief financial controller until July
2014, responsible for corporate management, major business
decisions plans and direction of strategic decisions. From July 2014
to June 2015, Mr. Lau was an independent non-executive director
of Kirin Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Creative
Energy Solutions Holdings Limited) (stock code: 8109), a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange and principally carries on the
business of providing energy efficiency solutions and engineering
solutions and engineering services in the PRC, insurance brokerage
and money lending services in Hong Kong and information
technology services in the Philippines. Mr. Lau has been a director
of Aceleap Consulting, a company which carries on the business
of the provision of private equity consultancy services since
January 2015.

Mr. Lau graduated from the University of Western Ontario in
Canada with a bachelor’s degree of science in 1989. He is
currently an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). He has been admitted
as a member of the HKICPA in June 1997.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson (formerly known as Law Chi
Cheong)

Mr. Law, aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 8 June 2018. Mr. Law is responsible for
overseeing the Group’s compliance, internal control and corporate
governance, but not participating in the day-to-day management
of our business operation.

Mr. Law has over 38 years of experience in banking and corporate
finance industry. Mr. Law joined Manufacturers Hanover Trust
Company in March 1982 with his last position as an officer-in-
charge of the regional processing centre, responsible for training,
quality control and daily operation. From June 1989 to December
1989, Mr. Law worked as an account officer at the First Interstate
Bank of California. From November 1991 to August 1998, he
worked at Fillpark Limited with his last position as a general
manager. Mr. Law joined Rank Charm Development Limited as a
general manager from 1994 to 1996. He also worked as a general
manager in Wholewin Group, a company specialised in digital
marketing from 2005 to 2008. Since 2008, Mr. Law has been an
associate director of JP Advisory Limited, a company specialise in
corporate finance. Since September 2013, he has also been the
chairman of Angel Fund Co. Ltd.. From September 2013 to
December 2019, Mr. Law was a non-executive director of Wealth
Glory Holdings Limited (stock code: 8269), a company listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange which principally carries on natural
resources trading and financial businesses. Since February 2014,
he was employed as a chief operating officer of Cheung Sheng
Global Holdings Limited and was responsible for overseeing
general operation of the company. Since July 2015, Mr. Law has
been a director, chairman and chief financial officer of Sealand
Capital Galaxy Limited (United Kingdom stock code: SGCL), a
company listed on the London Stock Exchange, responsible for the
management of the company and strategic business development.
Mr. Law has been an independent non-executive director of K
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8475), a company listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange since July 2018 up to June 2023. Mr.
Law completed secondary school education in Hong Kong in
1979.

Save as disclosed above, each of the Directors (i) has not held any
directorships in any public companies (the securities of which are
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas) in the
last three years; (ii) does not have any relationship with any other
Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
Shareholders of the Company; and (iii) does not hold any positions
in the Company or other members of the Group.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. YIP Kam Ming

Mr. Yip, aged 41, is the project director of the Group. Mr. Yip has
over 15 years of experience in E&M engineering services industry.
He joined the Group in May 2006 as an assistant engineer and
was subsequently promoted as a project manager. Mr. Yip is
responsible for management and technical direction of the
Group's projects and overseeing project design, development and
overall project performance of the Group. Mr. Yip graduated from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a bachelor’s degree of
engineering in building services engineering in October 2012. In
February 2023, he further obtained a master degree of science in
engineering management from The City University of Hong Kong.

Mr. CHEUNG Ting Fun, Andy

Mr. Cheung, aged 39, is the project director of the Group. Mr.
Cheung joined the Group in July 2008 as an assistant engineer
and was subsequently promoted as a project manager. Mr.
Cheung is responsible for management and technical direction of
the Group's projects and overseeing project design, development
and overall project performance of the Group.

Mr. Cheung graduated from McMaster University in Canada with
a bachelor degree of engineering, majoring in mechanical
engineering in November 2008. In November 2014, he further
obtained a master degree of science in building services
engineering from The University of Hong Kong. He has been a
member of American Society of Heating Refrigerating and Air-
Conditioning Engineers since November 2008. Mr. Cheung has
over 13 years of experience in E&M engineering services industry.
Mr. Cheung was an engineering trainee in Honda of Canada from
September 2007 to November 2008 prior to joining the Group.
Mr. Cheung is the son of Mr. Tony Cheung, the executive
Director.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. LO Wan Man

Ms. Lo, aged 49, has over 20 years of experience in the area of
accounting, auditing and financial management for both listed
and private companies in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of
China by working in an international accounting firm and other
listed companies. She obtained a master of science in finance from
City University of Hong Kong in November 2006. She has been
working at Acclime Corporate Services Limited as director since
October 2022. Since May 2019, she has been appointed as the
independent non-executive Director of Risecomm Group Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 1679). In October
2022, she has been further appointed as the company secretary
and authorized representative of K. H. Group Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1557). In November 2022, Ms. Lo has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Sky Light Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 3882).Ms. Lo has been a member of HKICPA since January
2003.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Man
Shun Group (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) have the
pleasure in submitting their report together with the audited
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in provision of installation of
heat, ventilation and air-conditioning system (the "HVAC")
business in Hong Kong. Details of the activities and other
particulars of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2023 and a discussion on the Group's future business
development, and also the Group’s performance during the year
ended 31 December 2023 using financial key performance
indicators are set out in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 7 to 16 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 contained the
information required under Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) is set out on pages 36 to 82 of this
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As an entity incorporated in the Cayman Islands and listed in Hong
Kong, the Company is mainly governed by the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands, the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) and the Listing Rules.
The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, and each of its committee has its
own term of reference defining their respective rights, duties and
obligation.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, to the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, there is no material breach of or non-
compliance with applicable laws and regulations by the Group
which has a significant impact on its business and operations.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with its employees, customers, suppliers, governments
and business associates to fulfil its long-term goals and
development. To enhance its competitiveness, the Group aims at
delivering high quality services to its customers constantly and to
continue establishing a caring environment to employees and
emphasis the personal development of its employees. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, there was no material or
significant dispute between the Group and its stakeholders.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Risks and uncertainties involved in the business operations of the
Group may affect the Group’s financial conditions or growth
prospects. The Group has been focusing on the control of risks
and uncertainties with the aim of understanding and addressing
the concerns of stakeholders. Key risks and uncertainties faced by
the Group are listed below:

—  the revenue is mainly derived from HVAC E&M engineering
projects which are non-recurrent in nature and any failure of
our Group to secure tender contracts would affect our
operations and financial results;

— error or inaccurate estimation of project execution
timeframe and/or project duration and/or costs may result in
substantial loss incurred by us or adversely affect our
revenue and profitability;

— reliance on the major customers;

—  the revenue and profit margin are subject to fluctuations
driven by various factors including but not limited to
variation orders, and the past revenue and profit margin
may not be indicative of our future financial performance;

— the strategy to undertake more projects as first-tier HVAC
E&M subcontractor and diversify the customer base could
lead to lower gross and net profit margin going forward,;
and

— may not be able to bill and receive the full amount of gross
amount due from customers for contract work, if progress
payment or retention money is not paid in full as a result of
disputes over the work done, the liquidity position may be
adversely affected.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No event has occurred after 31 December 2023 and up to the
date of this report which would have a material effect on the
Group.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
the Group’s financial position as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 104 to 106 of this
annual report.

The Board does not recommend to declare a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

The Board do not have a fixed dividend policy and the Company
does not have any predetermined dividend pay-out ratio. The
payment and the amount of any future dividends will be at the
discretion of the Board and will depend on a number of factors,
including but not limited to the operations and earnings, capital
requirements and surplus, cash flow position, general financial
condition and other factors that the Directors deem relevant.
Investors should note that historical dividend distributions are not
indicative of the Company’s future dividend distribution policy.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company will be held on
Thursday, 6 June 2024 (the “AGM"). A notice convening the
AGM has been issued to the Shareholders together with this
annual report, which is also available on the website of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) at
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’'s website
www.manshungroup.com.hk.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 3 June 2024 to Thursday, 6 June 2024 (both days
inclusive), for the purpose of determining Shareholders’
entitlement to attend and vote at the annual general meeting. In
order to be eligible to attend and to vote at the annual general
meeting, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Friday, 31 May 2024.
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www.hkexnews.hk

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 4 of this
annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company,
nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s securities listed on the Stock Exchange.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital during the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 22(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
Note 22(a) to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 107 of this
annual report respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of the reserves
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company, as calculated
in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association was
HK$73,660,000 (2022: HK$76,439,000).
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DONATIONS
Donation of HK$70,000 was made by the Group for the year

ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$55,000).

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the
Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as those disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” in this Directors’ Report, no other equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Group, or existed during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to a resolution passed by all the shareholders on 8 June
2018, the Company has conditionally adopted the share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of
providing incentives or rewards to the eligible participants for their
contribution to the Group and enable the Group to recruit and
retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that
are valuable to the Group. The Board is entitled at any time and
from time to time grant options pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme to the directors of the Company’s subsidiaries and
employees of the Group and any other persons (including
consultants or advisers) whom the Board considers have
contributed or will contribute to the Group. The terms of the
Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Board may, at its discretion, determine the minimum period
for which the option has to be held before it can be exercised,
and the period during which an option may be exercised.
However, no options shall be exercised ten years after they have
been granted. The subscription price of a share in respect of a
particular option shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s on the daily
guotation sheet on the date of the grant of the option, which
must be a trading day; (i) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of the grant of
the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a share. The Share
Option Scheme shall take effect from the date it is adopted and
shall remain effective within a period of 10 years from that date.
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From the date that the Share Option Scheme became effective
and unconditional and up to the date of this annual report, no
share options were granted under the Share Option Scheme.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, 45.5% and 98.3% of the
Group’s revenue were attributable to the largest customer and the
five largest customers of the Group, respectively.

During the year, the largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
of the Group accounted for approximately 14.5% and 39.1% of
the total direct costs of the Group respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any other shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers
or customers noted above.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to
the date of this report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Tung (Chairman)
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Chau

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson

Mr. LAU Yu Ching

Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors and considers them to be
independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group are set out on pages 17 to 23 of this annual report.

RETIREMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Cheung Yuen Tung and Mr. Cheung Yuen Chau,
Nelson will retire by rotation at the AGM and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2023 was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, its holding companies or a
subsidiary of its holding companies a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has carried
transactions with its related party as detailed in Note 24(b) to the
consolidated financial statements. Save for as disclosed above, no
other transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries, its holding
companies or a subsidiary of its holding companies was a party or
were parties and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, no
controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries has any contract
of significance (including contract of significance for the provision
of services) with the Company or its subsidiaries during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors was
interested in any business, which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries that is not
determinable by the employing company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration is reviewed by the remuneration
committee of the Board at least once per year with reference to
the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and results
of the Group. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in
Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the five individuals
with the highest emoluments in the Group comprises 2 Directors
and 3 individuals, which included the senior management of the
Company. Details of the highest paid individuals are set out in
Note 8 and Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 467 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors
is currently in force and was in force throughout the financial year
ended 31 December 2023. In addition, the Company has taken
out and kept in force appropriate directors’ and officers’ liabilities
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") (Cap. 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong)) which were required to be: (i) notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which the Directors and chief executive of the Company were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii)
entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section
352 of the SFO; or (iii) notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, are set out below:
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(i) Long positions in the Share (i) RRONEFE

Approximate
Number of percentage of

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest Shares  shareholding
EEpE 54 ntE ROBE RESLNEIL
Mr. Cheung Yuen Tung Interest in controlled corporation 750,000,000 75%

("Tony Cheung”) (note)

STk ([RABEED (H:) ZiE A E

Mr. Cheung Yuen Chau Interest in controlled corporation 750,000,000 75%
("Gary Cheung”) (note)

sRTIK A ([RTRKEE D) (H5T) S A E R

Note: Prime Pinnacle Limited (“Prime Pinnacle”) is beneficially owned as to f5E : Prime Pinnacle Limited ([ Prime Pinnacle]) F5 35 7T
51% by Mr. Tony Cheung and 49% by Mr. Gary Cheung. On 12 BAERRTREED B BERAEBS1% KX49%
March 2018, Mr. Tony Cheung and Mr. Gary Cheung entered into RZE—NF=A+=H ' RuBrERERITK
the concert party deed to acknowledge and confirm, among other AT —BITBALEE  WEARRER (K
things, that they are parties acting in concert and are deemed to be FEE)BRER—BITEAL - WHR AR Prime
interested in the shares held by Prime Pinnacle. Pinnacle FTH5 AR A R HE B % ©
(i) Long position in the ordinary shares of associated (i) REBIEZERNER

corporation

Approximate

Name of associated Capacity/Nature of Number of percentage of
Name of Director corporation interest share(s) held  shareholding
EEnNE LB A B REME FERGHE RESNEDL
Mr. Tony Cheung (note) Prime Pinnacle Beneficial owner 51 51%
sk T A () ER#AEA
Mr. Gary Cheung (note) Prime Pinnacle Beneficial owner 49 49%
SRITIN S A (B EE) EmlEAA
Note: Prime Pinnacle is the direct shareholder of the Company and is an BizE : Prime Pinnacle R R R A M EERFE AR B FH K

associated corporation within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. A (5 BIZE XV 2B FT 57 AR B A B o

32



INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

So far as is known to any Director or chief executive of the
Company, as at 31 December 2023, the following persons (other
than a Director or a chief executive of the Company) had, or were
taken or deemed to have interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which are required to be
disclosed to the Company under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO, or which were entered in the register kept
by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:
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FTERRNERRXR

BAEMESSIARAERITRABHMA  R_Z
=+ ZA=1t—H8 UTAT(FBHFESE
RARBEREITERAER) RARF D k8 #E A%
BHRER  WEFIEGAEEREEFLTE
BOIEXVENFE 2 K30 HH G ARAR B
B ORERARRRIEES R EIENE336
EEEME M ERIAAR

Approximate
Number of percentage of

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Shares  shareholding
BEREE HE B, HEEHE BROEE RESAEI T
Prime Pinnacle (note 1) Beneficial owner 750,000,000 75%
Prime Pinnacle (Fff5¥ 1) EnlEA A

Ms. Chan Ho Fung (note 2) Interest of spouse 750,000,000 75%
PR 4T Bl 22 (F95E2) B B 4w

Ms. Cheng Phyllis Woon Kink (note 3) Interest of spouse 750,000,000 75%
BRiate 7+ (BIsE3) B A 5

Notes: M

(1) Prime Pinnacle is beneficially owned as to 51% by Mr. Tony Cheung and
49% by Mr. Gary Cheung. On 12 March 2018, Mr. Tony Cheung and Mr.
Gary Cheung entered into the concert party deed to acknowledge and
confirm, among other things, that they are parties acting in concert and are
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Prime Pinnacle.

(2) Ms. Chan Ho Fung is the spouse of Mr. Tony Cheung. Accordingly, Ms. Chan
Ho Fung is deemed or taken to be interested in the shares in which Mr. Tony
Cheung is interested under the SFO.

(3) Ms. Cheng Phyllis Woon Kink is the spouse of Mr. Gary Cheung. Accordingly,
Ms. Cheng Phyllis Woon Kink is deemed or taken to be interested in the
shares in which Mr. Gary Cheung is interested under the SFO.

(1) Prime Pinnacle AR Ui C A MR T EE D I B = EHR
51% K% 49% #Em - R T N\F=A+-H KRR
SHEBRITMIE AT — BT A T2 - DIER K E
REPBE) HEB—RITHAL W AR Prime
Pinnacle FT# A& 0 R A #E ok o

2 MREBRZLRFTBLEENES Bt REEHFEDY
BIEA REFBZ IR RANEERRTBEEEAE
SRR HERES -

()  EREZLTRRITREENRS - Bt BREEH LY

EIEG - BB LT WAR B E (ER R k£ A
HERMD P EAER
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Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified by
any other persons (other than Directors or chief executives of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which are required to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were entered in the register
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO as at 31
December 2023.

TRANSACTIONS DISCLOSED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE RULES GOVERNING THE LISTING
OF SECURITIES ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the normal
course of business are provided under Note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements, and none of which constitutes a discloseable
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as
defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note
13 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float as required under the
Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2023 and
up to the date of this annual report.

REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS
The audit committee of the Company has reviewed the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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AUDITORS

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023
have been audited by D & PARTNERS CPA LIMITED (“D &
PARTNERS"”). KPMG resigned as auditors of the Company with
effect from 11 August 2022. D & PARTNERS was appointed as
auditor of the Company with effect from 11 August 2022 to fill
the casual vacancy.

Save for the abovementioned changes in any of the preceding
three years, the auditors of the Company had not been changed.

D & PARTNERS will retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and be eligible to offer
themselves for re-appointment.

By order of the Board

CHEUNG Yuen Tung
Chairman

27 March 2024
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited (the “Company” together
with its subsidiaries, hereinafter referred to as the “Group”) is
pleased to present our annual Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “Report”) for the year ended 31
December 2023 to provide an overview of the Group’s
management of significant issues affecting the operation,
including environmental, social and governance (“"ESG") issues.

REPORTING PERIOD

The Report illustrates the Group’s initiative and performance
regarding the environmental and social aspects during the
reporting period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the
“Reporting Period”).

REPORTING SCOPE

This Report covers all subsidiaries of the Group in Hong Kong with
core business principally engaged in provision of installation of
heat, ventilation and air-conditioning system (the “"HVAC")
business in Hong Kong, while other segments would not be
included. The Group will continue in assessing the impacts of its
business on the major ESG aspects and to include in the Report.

REPORTING BASIS

The Report is prepared with reference to the ESG Reporting Guide
set out by Appendix C2 (formerly known as Appendix 27) of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The Group has
complied with the mandatory disclosure requirements and the
“comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide. Certain key performance indicators (“KPIs"), which are
considered material by the Group are disclosed during the
Reporting Period, the Group will continue to optimize and improve
the disclosure of KPIs.

THE ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The board of directors (“The Board”) has overall responsibility for
the Group's ESG strategy and reporting. The Board is responsible
for evaluating and determining the Group’s ESG-related risks
annually and ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG risk
management policies and internal control systems are in place.
Also, the implementation and results are monitored and recorded
for internal review purpose annually. The Executive Directors are
responsible for formulating ESG management policies, strategies,
goals, and annual reporting and promoting related
implementation. They also identify, evaluate, review, and manage
major ESG issues, risks and opportunities while other departments
are responsible for organizing, promoting, and implementing
various ESG related tasks under the Group’s ESG management
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policies and strategies. The Board understands that the
establishment of ESG targets aids in the Group’s ESG governance.
Therefore, the Board sets ESG targets related to the Group's
business where appropriate, and reviews progress made toward
improving the Group’s ESG performance by keeping track of the
ESG KPI on a regular basis, in the environmental and social
aspects, which are vital and closely related to the business of the
Group. All tasks will be reported to the Board annually in order to
review and reformulate the policies and plans for achievement of
goals and targets. The Board is committed to integrating ESG
principles into our business management practices. The Executive
Directors have over 20 years of experience in construction, which
enable them to possess relevant skills to oversight ESG matters.
The board of directors held 4 meetings to discuss ESG issues with
the management during the Reporting Period.

As for the risk management and internal control systems, the
Board and its committees identify and monitor the existing and
potential risks related to environmental, social and governance.
The risk management system is to be formulated, while quarterly
meetings are to be arranged. We would assign representatives
from every department to identify, review the risk items and their
corresponding materiality, so as to mitigate, transfer and handle
the risks. Internal control policies and manuals are reviewed
annually and periodically reports shall be provided by
representatives from departments to The Board. The Board is
responsible to review and organize meetings with representatives
to review the existing plans and policies on whether they could
fulfill our goals and targets.

We were granted I1SO 9001:2015 Quality Management Systems in
September 2017, which is valid until September 2026
Representatives from quality control department shall also review,
check, fulfill, and anticipate in coming ISO requirements for better
implementation.

Overall, to further improve the ESG performance, the Group has
set up the following key plans/measures for the Reporting Period:

o Assign representative to review current practices and
provisions of environmental and social policies;

o Allocate resources to fulfill coming changes of environmental
policy; and

o Report to the directors to formulate management plan for
the coming year.
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During its preparation, the Group adheres to the reporting
principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency by:

RimEBiET  AEEBBU T T NERERNE
Bt FER-BENRERA

Reporting

Principles Interpretation The Group’s Application

HwERA 7e rEBENER

Materiality — The report should disclose significant — The Group conducts questionnaires to understand

impacts on the environment and society,
or aspects that materially affect how the
stakeholders assess the company and
make decisions.

B2 — BERBBEHREIEGMERNER —
TEREFOETERA R RIELIREK
B B E R BB o

Quantitative — The KPIs disclosed in the report shall be —
calculable and comparable where
applicable.

21t — WMEMBRBEOERERIERER THE —
RREZIBR T #EITHR -

Balance — The Group should objectively and truthfully —

report its ESG performance for the year.

i — AEBEEFHAEEHBREELNFER —
RN HEgREBAEKRE o
Consistency — The ESG report should be prepared in a —

consistent manner, its ESG's KPIs can be
compared to understand corporate
performance.

— 2t — RE -HEREABENRETARR —
B3 RE e RELANBERENR
BRRAI TLLE - AT ARIRE -

stakeholders’ expectations. Based on the results of
the questionnaire, the Group identifies and reports
the Group's material sustainability issues.

AEEDETHESHEUNTHIFOERE - RIE
FMEREER  AEEB LRREHLEANARFE
LRAE -

Under feasible situation, the Group records,
calculates and discloses quantitative information and
conducts comparisons with past performance.
ERATIBERT AEEDRE FTEREESL
BRI B R RIBEITHR -

The Group follows the principles of accuracy,
objectivity and fairness to report its achievements
and challenges in sustainable development.
REBAERE  BERAFRRA HEERA
FAE TR EEVS BORCRE S P E ST RO BRE -

The Group ensures consistency in preparing the
report and manages its ESG data for future
comparison. If there are any changes to the
methodologies, calculations, or any other factors
that affect meaningful comparison, the Group will
make a clear explanation.
REEKBRRBRESHA -3 TERRE -
HERERBIE  UWEBEBETER - 7%
ATESEMEMTERERLBRNEREEZL
ANE BB E L BARERR AR -

CONTACT INFORMATION

The Group welcomes your feedback on the Report for our
sustainability initiatives. Please contact us by email to
info@manshungroup.com.hk.

APPROVAL OF THE REPORT

The Report was approved by the Board of the Group on 27 March
2024.
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT BEhE2H

We identified the key stakeholders of our business operations. We ~ H IR N EKEETNET 2O E  TEBS
interact with our stakeholders regularly through various $8/EBERERFHETCHES - TRHBAETEHF
communication channels. The following table illustrates the issues & FIETMEE A LB FEZFHE BB

of concern of our major stakeholders and the ways we
communicate with stakeholders:

Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel
B0E BE SHERE
Government — To comply with laws and — On-site inspections and checks
regulations — Research and discussion through
— Proper tax payment work conferences, work reports
— Promote regional economic preparation and submission for
development and employment approval
— Interim reports, annual reports,
announcements
— Company website
245 — BTERRNER — BEMERLRE
— KESH — MEREBIEGZETAR
— RERNEEERREAE RAELERSERRTME AL
i:d
— HHRE FHRILM
— DAk
Shareholders and — Return on investment — Annual general meeting and other
Investors — Information disclosure and shareholders’ meetings
transparency — Interim reports, annual report,
— Protection of interests and fair announcements
treatment of shareholders — Company website
— Business risk management — Meeting with investors and analysts
RERRBREE — REM@RK — RREAFAERAMBKREAE
— BHRERERE — THRE FR QA6
— REREFSRATHER — Q78K
R — BEREERHWESE
— XBERER

Measures

#i

— Operated, managed and paid taxes

according to laws and regulations,
strengthened safety management; accepted
the governments supervision, inspection
and evaluation, and actively undertook
social responsibilities.

REZERARZE  EERME  mA
RE2EE  BXPAEE mERFE
YEBARLERT

Issued notices of general meeting and
proposed resolutions according to
regulations, disclosed corporate information
by publishing announcements/circulars and
interim/annual reports.

Carried out different forms of investor
activities with an aim to improve investor’s
recognition. Held results briefing. Disclosed
corporate contact details on website and in
reports and ensured all communication
channels available and effective.
REBEERTNERRAGBEREZRE
£ HEAM/BRRYE/ FEREN
RERFEH -
AREREERAEMETRREL ANRK
BERY - BT REEEN G - AU
RBEFREDABEER  WRRME
BERREAMAA -
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Stakeholder

B E

Employees

Customers

Suppliers/
Partners

ftrEm,/
afEBH

40

HERER

Expectation

HE

Safeguard the rights and
interests of employees
Working environment
Career Development
opportunities
Self-actualization
Health and safety
RIEE SN R iR
THERER
SXURKE
BRER
EEEze

Safe and high-quality products
Stable relationship
Information transparency
Integrity

Business ethics

22 REEEM

EEBRF

BHERE

Als

BRER

Long-term partnership
Honest cooperation

Fairness and openness
Information resources sharing
Risk reduction

Ry

REOBHBE

HEAF

SN
SEANER
ERR

B D

HE

Engagement channel

SHRE

Conference

Training, seminars, briefing sessions

Annual performance appraisal
Intranet and emails

EE
Sl RE BN e
FRRRFE

REBRED

Website, brochures, interim reports,

annual reports, announcements

Email and customer service hotline

Feedback forms
Regular meeting

@k EEMEF - PERE F

SN
EBREPRBRE
BAX

THER

Business meetings, supplier
conferences, phone calls and
interviews

Regular meeting

Review and assessment
Tendering process

Company website

Email, circulars and manual

LHes HEEEE 3R

%

THeE
Rt
BEER
YNSFED

BB BULFMH

Measures

#it

Provided a healthy and safe working
environment; developed a fair mechanism
for promotion; cared for employees by
helping those in need and organizing
employee activities.

REBEL 2N THERE  BULATER
wh RESREPNERRBRERR
8o

Strengthened quality management to
ensure stable service standards, and entered
into long-term strategic cooperation
agreements.

MEEEEE - NEERRHGLERTE 1
R RNBBAERS -

Invited tenders publicly to select best
suppliers and contractors, performed
contracts according to agreements,
enhanced daily communication, and
established long-term cooperation with
quality suppliers and contractors.

ENGELE RS Y AP ST
REHZETAD NRAEER YLE
BEREARARARLRASIFRE -
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Stakeholder
e

Peer/industry
associations

A%/ /11%he

Financial
institution

TRIME

Media

B

Public and
communities

REALRAE

Expectation

HE

—  Experience sharing
— Corporations
— Fair competition

B
Al

|
B> o) A
&
ot

f W %

e
H

— Compliance with the laws and
regulations
— Disclosure information

— WERARER
— BEER

— Transparent information
— Communication with media

— EHEH
— HERER

— Community involvement
— Social responsibilities
— Promote employment

— R

Engagement channel

SHRE

— Industry conference
— Site visit

— EeE
— EES

— Consulting

— Information disclosure
— Reports

@i

— EHEE

— W%

— Company website
— Interviews

— Media conference
— Media gathering
— REME

— JfA

— nERFE

— ERERe

— Volunteering
— Charity and social investment
— Annual reports

— £I1EH
— EERHERE
— £

RE #HERERRE

Measures

it

— Stuck to fair play, cooperated with peers to
realize win-win, shared experiences and
attended seminars of the industry so as to
promote sustainable development of the
industry.

— BRRTHEE HAXSFEREE 5
R URBMTEWSTE DT
RARBEER -

— Complied with regulatory requirements in a
strict manner, disclosed and reported
information in a timely and accurate manner
according to law.

— BRETEERT RERNEENRE
RBREEH -

— Organized conference, media gathering and
site visit to enhance the communication
with media.

— HReE BREEREHER NS
BEFNER -

— Gave priority to local people seeking jobs
from the Company so as to promote
community building and development; built
roads, protected the communities,
ecological environment, and provided timely
compensation and assistance; provided
volunteer service, kept communication
channels open between the Company and
the communities and villagers, co-sponsored
community activities to promote the
building up of harmonious communities.

— BRERAARFRBOEMA  REL
BERRER BRERK REHE &£
BRE - DRRERHEREDY RHEET
R - REFRBAR R E R RN RAE
BEE HARBRHLEED - RERRN
EALE o
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

With a growing population, challenges such as climate change,
energy supply and security, raw material scarcity, human health
and safety, and employment must be addressed to ensure that
people can lead healthy and fulfilling lives. Faced with a wide
range of issues, the Group is keen to identify those that have a
great impact on its stakeholders and business, and then to develop
its strategic priorities. This is why materiality assessment is an
essential part of the Group’s ESG management and reporting.

EEZMMME

BEEAOTHENER - SRR APIGESE @R
FENEE  VEARHREZL REEEZ
2 BMEER  ABREERZZ2URERS
B m¥EZzMNZEER  AREBEGREHEERF D
EREBHBREATENZE - WHITHRAKE
B A EEUFGERAKERE HER
EREENREN —ERRAES -

Materiality Matrix

Highs

Labour Standards

EEMEME

Health and Safety
REEZR

(72}
ﬁ BIEA
(]
o)
T zai'[ Employment ® | Anti-corruption
lil E EE RESS
®
< ju | Use of Resources o .
b—) R | BEFER Development and Training
> i Product Responsibility | ® BRRIEI
8 = s EmEE
o Climate Change o .
E KR ﬁiuﬂ%%g;:?;m Management
= ® Community Investment SRS
Emission ° HERE
£z L) e o
Environment
RIE
Low{& IMPACT ON BUSINESS High®

HEBNTE

The Group has established a stakeholder-driven approach to
analysing the importance of ESG and identified 12 issues most
relevant to the Group’s business. A questionnaire was then
conducted, in which stakeholders were invited to rate the issues
based on their importance to the Group’s business and to the
stakeholders themselves.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

Aspect A1: Emissions

To demonstrate the Group’s commitment to sustainable
development and compliance with laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection, air and greenhouse
gas ("GHG") emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste. The
Group endeavors to minimise the environmental impact of
the business activities and maintain green operations and
green office practices.

Our business is mainly providing HVAC electrical and
mechanical engineering ("E&M engineering”) services
which focus on servicing new residential property
development projects as a first-tier or second-tier
subcontractor in Hong Kong. Our work performed as a first-
tier subcontractor is mainly for overall project management
and supervision of HYAC E&M engineering works conducted
by us and/or our subcontractors to ensure their conformity
to contractual specifications and requirements of the
property developers while work performed as second-tier
subcontractor is mainly responsible to execute installation
work of HVAC system such as fixing of devices and
connection of various pipe through our workers and
subcontractor. Meanwhile, we delegate part of the
installation process or overall installation works for part of
the site areas to our subcontractors to assist us in
completing on-site works. Thus, given the nature of our
HVAC E&M engineering services that focus on project
management and installation work, together with
subcontracting practice, the Group poses less negative
impact to the environment than most typical construction/
engineering industries.

RE #HERERRE

REEBME

BEA1: HHRY
RERAEEHAKEERNAKENLEST
ERRE BERIMAZERE ((BRERB))
PR MK R LA S AR BERESE
BEWELNEZRIESR  AEEEIR
LEBEHHRENTE  VHBFGEE
BRAERANERER -

BAMEBEETZRREHEBZARETRE
(MEIRDRYE UNEEHIRESEHE
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HERERRE

Our Group's operations in work sites are subject to certain
environmental requirements pursuant to the laws in Hong
Kong, such as Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Noise Control Ordinance (Cap.
400 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Waste Disposal
Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group
has been in strict compliance with the above relevant laws
and regulations in Hong Kong. We endeavour to minimise
any adverse impact on the environment resulting from our
business activities. In order to comply with the applicable
environmental protection laws, we implemented an
environmental management system. Apart from following
the environmental protection policies formulated and
required by our customers, we have also established our
environmental management policy to ensure proper
management of environmental protection and compliance
of environmental laws and regulations by both our
employees and workers of the subcontractors on, among
others, noise control and waste disposal.

Such key measures and procedures concerning mainly noise
pollution and waste control include, amongst other things:

Noise control
— Installation of acoustic barriers as required;

— Inspection and maintenance of all equipment before
use for compliance of permitted noise level; and

—  Works to be undertaken in accordance with the
permitted work hours as specified by each project.

Waste disposal

— Our Purchasing Department has procured
environmental protection refrigerant for our E&M
engineering projects, so there’'s no material hazardous
waste or toxic chemical produced by us;

— Wastes to be separated into general wastes and
construction wastes before transporting to landfills;

AEERMBRNESEAREEEEAMET
ETRERE  PIWBEBENEINEER
THRE SRR - FBIEDIE 400 B1RZ E H
i) & B EDI B 354 BREY B B 15D - X
SEERET AR EEARELER -
BB BEHEDEREHRKOERD
NEERERRK /ETERRFREN
BACHETREEENE - RREBRBE,A]
ERERORERERIN  RFTFE HER
REEBR  NEREEERSEEIAN
HEEEAH (HPER) REEFLED
RENTHNRREE UETREZER
Zy

TERBESAREMESNEENERNE
ERERFERE(EReRE)

BEEH
— BRERKRERE:

— RERMEMERBETRERRE
AR EBEENREKFE R

— RESRBEENEAE T EREET
TR~

BV EE

— FRBES/EMOKETIRERRER
RELHE ARBRMUTBEELESEARE
EEMXES(CEM

— REXEMBERAMGEDDER R
R BGREEEERY
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— The Company has established and maintained
procedures designed to control risks arising from
handling storage, use and disposal of substances
hazardous to health and specific safety training has
been conducted to relevant persons for handling the
hazardous substance; and

— The Company has also followed main-contractor’s
safety regulation on site basis and reviewed by the
main-contractor on a regular period.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material breach
of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations related to environmental protection, GHG
emission, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Regarding hazardous and non-hazardous wastes, solid
wastes are separately stored and handled with the ledger for
record. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not
generate/consume significant hazardous and non-hazardous
waste and water due to its business nature.

In addition, the Group advocates emission reduction, and is
committed to achieving sustainable operations and
compliance with emission requirements permitted by the
local authorities. To this end, we have set management and
control targets by 2027 in reducing air pollutant emission,
GHG emission, and waste production by 10%, with 2022 as
the baseline year. The Group actively implements the air
pollutants control plan, electricity-saving plan, material-
saving plan and measures to reduce the intensity of waste
production and relevant gas emissions by 10% by 2027. The
Group continuously reviews and monitors the progress and
explores opportunities for various environmental protection
goals. In the future, we will consider setting more specific
guantitative environmental goals to nurture the environment
and cherish natural resources. Moreover, we are investing
more resources in recycling to help the development of
circular economy.

RE #HERERRE

—  ARBCFEILREFFE ARG R
BT EAMREHREAENY
G5l B Rk - I REREA T8
REAEMENBTELE2EI R

—  RAFNE MR ERE AR Tt
BT 2R - 3 R
Wt -

RBEME YTEEEERIXTETER
RR - CRERBYN  AKRTHAOES
URBEREBERREMELTNERERER
EREVEIL

RESEREEEMNS  HMASRARER
BRIZEREEEY) - WA D BEREEITLE -
RBSHE AEEYERNEKEEME
K/ ERAEBRENEZEMRAK -

BESN - AEER BB - AR B IR A
BRZERETERBRFENBERER -
Bl ZAREREEER UZ_FZ
FHEREEF R-T_L+FHZERFTAE
M REREBHRBARBEENELER
210% - AEBEHREE = RS2 WEH
HEEERE - M A RER AR
—ECEFREEDELTEREBER
BEMRIE10% - ARBEFERN LERE
B IRREBRERBBOEE - KK
HMBERREERENENLCRERF
NREREREEBERER - #5N T
ERRTHEBEAREZER AP NBERE
BEER
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Environmental aspects

RREE

Air Pollutants Emissions

ERT R

GHG Emissions

Waste Production

BED R D

HERER

HE

Targets
BE

Reduce the intensity of air
pollutants emissions by 10%
by 2027

RIEZLFEEREY
mm%&%ﬁm%

Reduce the intensity of GHG

emissions by 10% by 2027

\—7 ‘tgﬂ_.f/ Eﬁ g%t
PR E K 10%

Reduce the intensity of waste
production by 10% by 2027

R-E-_+FBEEMESE
RERE10%

Measures

Bt

Carrying out regular maintenance of vehicles
with good condition for operational efficiency
Encouraging the use of public transportations
Buying electric car to replace old vehicle

HEHETERRE  FERERIFUIES
5 R R
SEFEFAAEZTBIA

BEEHEHRRES

Adopting LED lighting in some offices

Setting the temperature of air-conditioning
system in 24°C

Switching off lights and unnecessary energy-
consuming devices when they are not in use
Promoting environmental protection such as
saving water and electricity by means of slogan
or poster in office

RSB WA = BRI LED FR AR

1% /% AR E R EFE 24°C

FEFEE RS BAE M BB N B AERERR
ERRZEURENEREEHNRKEAE
LRRE

Operating waste and living waste are collected
in bags and collected by the local sanitation
department

100% of recyclable waste, such as paper
scraps, paper skins, waste documents, scrap
defective products/goods, etc., are handed
over to renewable resources for recycling
RARWEKEREENEY RERSE I
B S T A B P SR

100% AT B4 sy 4% - an4RfE ~ 4R ET -« BESCHF
WERGD/EME  XHBEEREIK
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Besides, the Group had developed the environmental targets
for air pollutants emissions, GHG emissions and waste
production, and the results as at the end of Reporting Period

are as follows:

Environmental KPI
RIGARENES

The intensity of air
pollutants emissions

ERSRBNEE

The intensity of GHG
emissions
BERBAREE

The intensity of
waste production

BENELTE

Targets
BE

Reduce the intensity of air pollutants
emissions by 10% by 2027

RIZBZLFRERTRANIEREE
PEE10%

Reduce the intensity of GHG emissions
by 10% by 2027

RIEHFHAERBHENEE
PEE10%

Reduce the intensity of waste
production by 10% by 2027
RIZE_+FRERVEETE

PEE10%
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RE #HERERKRE

AN REBSFTERISRYENE B

EREHNEREENESE
MEMRNERNOT -
Baseline
Year 2023 vs. 2022
—EZ=FHE
EEEFE —2-C
2022 Decrease by 32%
—g- D 32%
2022 Decrease by 40%
S B 40%
2022 Decrease by 56%
—ECCF D 56%

ENRREF

Status

R A&

In progress

EITH

In progress

EITH

In progress

EITH
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Major air pollutants emissions from vehicles during the RBEHEE S —_FRBAEREEDN
Reporting Period and the corresponding period in 2022 are FEERSEMBERERAT
as follows:

Air Pollutant Emission
ERTRMERER
Air Pollutant Emission (kg)

ZRESRYHERE (TR)
2023 2022
Type of Air Pollutants ERERMER —F-= —EF_C
Sulphur dioxide —EbwR 0.17 0.26
Nitrogen oxides k=Rt 113.46 137.53
Particulate matter R E 10.87 13.10
Air pollutant intensity ERERNEE
(kg/revenue HK$'000) (FR/FHTKRA) 0.0008 0.0012
Note: Mzt -
The emissions data of Sulphur Oxides, Nitrogen Oxides and Particulate Matter may - R KRB Y B PEREIR D ER BB
are based on “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting RETEMAR CEFRE « (g REARE — gk —:
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange of Hong IRIEBRETUIRIZIERIES]) -
Kong.
The decrease in air pollutants emissions compared to the corresponding ERFEAVHNR _E__FRMRI D EEHENRSE
period in 2022 was mainly attributable to less frequent vehicle use for MR EEAERE  BLEEER  URHERR
business with the aim to energy conservation and disposal of two vehicles VT o

during the Reporting Period.
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The GHG emissions from the operation during the Reporting
Period and the corresponding period in 2022 are set out
below:

GHG Emission

BEREBHEMRER
Type of GHG emissions BERBHERER
Scope 1 Direct emissions #HE BB
Scope 2 Indirect emissions #[E 2 MEEHEN

Total st
Intensity (tonnes/revenue HK$’'000)

EE (W TEITEA)

RE #HERERRE

LHR RS- —FERE LEBESL
FEEREHMBERIT ¢

Equivalent CO, emission (tonnes)

—HAbmBEB Y E R ()
2023 2022

—E-= =
30.69 45.58
11.15 12.17
41.84 57.75
0.00027 0.00046

Note:

The calculation of the GHG gas is based on the “A Corporate Accounting and
Reporting standard” from The GHG Protocol,“How to prepare an ESG Report
— Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, and the CLP Power Hong Kong ‘s
2022 Sustainability Report.

Scope 1: Direct emissions from vehicles that are owned by the Group.

Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of purchased electricity
consumed by the Group.

The decrease in GHG emissions compared to the corresponding period in
2022 was mainly attributable to less frequent vehicle use for business with
the aim to energy conservation and disposal of two vehicles during the
Reporting Period.

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

The Group places high priority on the efficient use of
resources. The major resources used by the Group are
electricity, water, and paper. The Group strives to improve
the efficient use of natural resources, such as minimising
waste/emissions and implementing effective recycling
program. Guidelines were announced for encouraging staff
to save energy by the management, and staff are
encouraged to save electricity, water and paper.

B 5E -

BRERBDRBECRERERERTE)NLETE
WERE]  BEBARZXHMARRDERM A2
BRIE HERERAME — W= REMABENUE
BREHREIDRBEBPEENCZE__FAKEER

FE)EHH -
HE  AEEEEESHOE R -

EE2 - AREPHEFEINEE NELEMRE B -

RERRHENR - —FRHBAL DEIEERREY
R DX A ERE - #ULEERR - AR HER®A
oo

EmA2: EREH
AEETLEREIFEAER - AEEF
ARNEZEZEERAE N KEHEKR - AEEH
BMAOBMERAERERARE  OINFER
DR B WE KB R B ks
EEEBAMEEE THLERMIES - &
BETEANAE - AKKAL-
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Electricity

Electricity saving measures are encouraged that electrical
appliances are required to be set at energy saving mode
where possible. For computers, the idle mode are configured
to commence upon 20 minutes or less without inputs. The
room temperature should be set in 24° C. Also, power
supply should be switched off when they are not in use.
Preference will be given to office equipment with relatively
high energy efficiency. We adopted LED lighting in the
office, and there’s no air-condition in all warehouses.

Energy consumption by the Group during the Reporting
Period and the corresponding period in 2022 are set out
below:

Energy Consumption

BE TR OH 3

Type of energy RERER

Unleaded petrol EiE i

Diesel g

Purchased electricity SN )

Total #at

Energy intensity RRZRE (TER

(kWh/revenue HK$°000) FHRATWA)

&7
ANEGFE RN EE G ERFEA L
RERDEER BHAOBEEAEEAR
00 ERF EHHARLEH ARG -
ERERTAE24°CHEER - o - TR
ETHEERAN - AEERBELERER
BEESNRAETRE - BHARPRE
KALEDRHE BB EASR -

REBRBEHR R T - —_FREHRE
ROHFEAT

Energy consumed (kWh)

FriEseiR (TR BF)

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-%F
90,023.68 116,360.16
23,317.23 53,165.69
28,587.00 32,896.00
141,927.91 202,421.85
0.93 1.62

Note:

The decrease in fuel and electricity consumption compared to the
corresponding period in 2022 was mainly attributable to the Group’s saving
initiatives during the Reporting Period.

GEE

MERBENERBR S _—FRPRIDEZEREE
ER RS BRI E KA PTE -
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Water
The Group did not encounter any problems in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose during the Reporting Period.
Water consumption by the Group during the Reporting
Period and the corresponding period in 2022 are set out
below:

Water Consumption

RE #HERERRE

7k
AEERREPFEERBBEAKS L E
BEEMEE A EERBFEHBRE -
“ZFREEHAKESHYWT

K&

(m3) (m?)

(375 3K) (3273 K)

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-=

Running water consumed BRKBEREE 3.66 2.00
Total et 3.66 2.00
Intensity (m3/revenue HK$'000) BRE(LFRKFHEBETHRA) 0.00002 0.00002

Paper

Reduction in paper use indirectly reduces the overall GHG
emission. The Group has been taking the following steps to
reduce paper consumption:

—  Reduce the use of paper by printing or photocopying
on both sides of paper, where applicable;

— Encourage the employee to use suitable font size/
shrinkage mode to minimise pages, if possible.
Besides, electronic media is recommended for
circulation/communication purposes, to minimise
using paper.

During the Reporting Period, the consumption of paper and
packaging material were 0.75 tonnes (0.000005 tonnes/
revenue HK$'000) (2022: 1.41 tonnes (0.000011 tonnes/
revenue HK$'000)) and 6.91 tonnes (2022: 2.27 tonnes),
respectively. The decrease in paper consumption was
attributed to a reduction of consumption in office paper
with the aim to resource conservation and the reduction in
the need for business operations during the Reporting
Period. In addition, increase in the consumption of
packaging materials by the Group during the Reporting
Period is because of the change in business practice that the
Group is recently responsible for the packaging of the items
and deliverables during the course of its operations.

it
AR AR R A R EEEEEEREH
ME - NEE—ERBUA TMEIR D BRE

B BB T EN G DR D 4R

=
=2]
= .
2

— @
a& A

— SEREIZVUREASENTR
N R ENR SR D BB e SN TR AR
ZEREFHAAEHMBE A
BERLHAERAE -

RIBERE AREBEMEREEED
R4 0.75 18 (0.000005 M8/ F# U A) (=
T~ 4 : 1.4118 (0.000011 W8, F % 7T Uit
A)) R691HE (ZE = =4 : 227WF) « K
MEHHE RERBEERDTIERBEHNE
BMRLHAETRREEREREEFT K
BWMAFTE - N AEBERHEPHHEAE
KM ERERMY AR AEELPER
BREERETNYR LN RO ES
BHIZE R -
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The Group advocates energy and resources saving, and is
committed to achieving sustainable operations and
compliance with emission requirements by local authorities.
To this end, we have set management and control targets
by 2027 in reducing energy consumption and water
consumption by 10%, with 2022 as the baseline year. The
Group actively implements the electricity-saving plan, water-
saving plan and measures to reduce the intensity of
electricity consumption and water consumption by 10% by
2027. The Group continuously reviews and monitors the
progress and explores opportunities for various
environmental protection goals. In the future, we will
consider setting more specific quantitative environmental
goals to nurture the environment and cherish natural
resources. Moreover, we are investing more resources in
recycling to help the development of circular economy.

Environmental aspects Targets
REEME B

Energy Conservation Reduce the intensity of energy

consumption by 10% by 2027

BN RE R -E -+ FHRERE
FERIK10%

Water Conservation Reduce the intensity of water

consumption by 10% by 2027

BAK RoT - L FSRKEE
P&1K10%

AEBEBEHOERLRER MNIRER
AREKE B TERBFHNTERESR -
Bl ZAREREZERE U_F=-=
FHEREAF RIT_L+FHERER
NRAKEREI10% AEEREHREZENE
AHEl - EIKEFEI RER R-2TLFH
BENEREBKEZTERE10% A&EE
FERNAREREE YRRZERRKE
RS - KK RABEERTEEARE
MENLRERE URERERZEBEAR
BRUs BPERKTERAESZE
B AN BREBENERE -

Measures

Adopting LED lighting in some offices

Setting the temperature of air-conditioning
system in 24°C

Switching off lights and unnecessary energy-
consuming devices when they are not in use

A3 EB 9 WX E 5K LED FR A

12 R AR FORE R E A 24°C

FEFEE RSB MR T U B R R B

Promoting environmental protection such as
saving water and electricity by slogan or poster
in office

Regularly inspect the water supply network to
prevent leaks

Review water bills to detect abnormal

consumption
ERNZEUNRENEREEHNAKEAE
HERRE M

E Hite B KA - T ERK
ERKEE - DB REHEREBR
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Besides, the Group had developed the environmental targets
for energy conservation and water conservation, and the
results as at the end of Reporting Period are as follows:

Environmental KPI Targets
RERENER B

The intensity of
energy consumption

ERBRE R

Reduce the intensity of energy
consumption by 10% by 2027

RIZB-LFRERBREE
PEE10%

The intensity of Reduce the intensity of water
water consumption consumption by 10% by 2027

RKEE RIB-LFRFRKEERE10%

RE #HERERRE

SN - AN SR B I RT B A M B KO IRIR B AR -
BEBEPRNERAT -

Baseline

Year 2023 vs. 2022 Status
“E=FHE

EREE “ECCF k8

2022 Decrease by 43% In progress

—ZT-—F B 43% HEITH

2022 Maintain In progress

—T--F MR TR

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
The Group raises staff’s awareness on environmental issues
through education and training and enlist employees’
support in improving the Group's performance, promote
environmental awareness amongst the customers, business
partners and shareholders and support community activities
in relation to environmental protection and sustainability
and evaluate regularly and monitor regularly the impact of
past and present business activities regarding health, safety
and environmental matters, with the integration of policies
mentioned in sections “Emissions” and “Use of Resource”,
the Group strives to minimise the impacts to the
environment and natural resources. The principal business
activities of the Group do not have a significant impact on
the environment and natural resources.

EBHEA3:  BERXARER
AEBFBYE KBRS ETHIREM
BENEH FHEIXFASERERA -
RARFE EBEBEAERENBRREH -
ZREAABRRMIFEZERNTETE -
WEMTEREEBREMENTEEE
LZERIBREENER TS - BBAES [HE
B RTERERIZEMHRIOBE A%
EHNZERLEHBRENERERENTE -
$%lm$£%%éaﬁkﬁ&§%§ﬁ
WEmEATE -
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Aspect A4: Climate Change

Climate change has caused frequent extreme weather and
has a major impact on business operations. Therefore, the
Group has formulated working mechanisms and
contingency plan to identify, prevent and mitigate climate
change issues that may have a significant impact. A list of
potential climate-related risk and opportunities pertinent to
our business operations has been identified. The Group’s
management and operating departments identify material
risks via self-assessment questionnaires annually. Regarding
the material risks identified, the Group organizes and
develops prevention and control measures. The operating
departments would then organize the supervision of
material risks prevention and control, and report the
material risks to the management. Relevant operating
departments arrange the implementation of the material
risks prevention and control measures, continuously monitor
the implementation, and timely report the progress or any
issues encountered to the management. At the same time,
we would adjust the use of resources and energy. In
response to disasters and accidents that are easily induced
by extreme weather, we always enhance the capability to
the disaster response.

Physical Acute Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such as typhoons,
heavy rain, thunder and lightning and flooding that can
cause physical acute risk. The potential consequences
include: (i) during the time of extreme weather, workers
may not be able to access to clients’ sites and the delivery
schedules of raw materials would also be affected or
delayed; (ii) equipment and materials on-site will be exposed
to risk of damage; and (iii) employees’ health, safety and life
may also be at risk. These potential consequences may cause
economic losses and increase operating costs to the Group.

BHEA4 . RIFEL
RIEBLEBEIRmRRIAE  WHEBKE
BEEEATE B KEIMEIW
HH R ESTER R - Bl k&
EELFEAFENREZLET - HME
FHAEEFEEEENELTRIEBEBEER
LB EE AEBERELREENMNE
FERBERFHBENFABRANERER
FEHNMERRERMS  AEBEABL
FIFT B I fa i o B EBPI R 1B AR AR A 3 1T

EKH Bﬂi%ﬁ% YRAEEBEHREEKX
RERER - HESERFILZHEREAM

SRR BEEEERBR  RER
af@féi&%ﬂzl B E B o B
BMEABRERRERER - BEY ST
Bin RRAFENLERBW  H ARG
SRS ERETREN ©

Yy EE 2 7 b
ﬁ%EE&/DJ'JEIAb%ﬁ%E%\EHEAE'JW
WmAR R - BE - BEENEEE B
FrReE Eﬂiﬂﬁieﬁﬁ?ﬁ T AFJ&E
/iﬁkgﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁ B R B8R AT
F'EJ%TETV\‘@J?/EiLu? (iR IGRE X
MRS EEREZERRE - &i)ESMER
?1&’4{6?7?5“ HERER - BEELE
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The Group has established different measures as below to REBEHIFLTTAREEN - ABTIE R
prevent and minimize the negative effect of extreme BRAOBHRAHBHETE -
weather.

Extreme weather

1R % KR

Typhoons

Heavy rain and flooding

BN

Thunder and lightning

B
@

Physical Acute Risk
Y32 S R R
Preventative and mitigation measures

T R AR AR R

— Close doors and Windows with advance notice

— Move materials and equipment to safety areas in advance, or
covered with a tarp

— Reinforce equipment and components that may be blown away

— Stop all outdoor work

— Hold regular project meetings to promptly develop action plans and
address any potential delays

— RAEAMEARPfE

— BHRRRERABDIZ2EE - BKMEE

— JNIE AT BB 4 WK E # 2% 8 S B 1

— EiEMAERPINIIE

— EHRTIEB g ARGIEITE 8 RBREAIEELR

— Clean up trash and make sure drains are unblocked

— Maintain drainage equipment

— Reinforce equipment and components that may be washed away

— Hold regular project meetings to promptly develop action plans and
address any potential delays

— BEBAR R E G ®

— HEEBEKRE

— DNE T BB A RE B 2R R ED

— THRTER g WARGIEITE 8| LR EAEELER

— Keep good conditions of earthing devices

— Control travel and outdoor work before the arrival of lightning
— Remind employees to save data and turn off computers

— REFEMEEN R IFARE

— BAE B R AT S LT RPN

— 1REE (& B R 17 85 0 B B &
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Physical Chronic Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such as extremely
hot weather can cause physical chronic risk. The potential
consequences include an increased chance of getting
heatstroke for employees working outdoor or in the
workshop, increasing turnover rate and work-related
injuries, which may lead to longer project completion times
and additional costs. The demand for cooling for the
working environment will be increased, which may lead to
an increase in power demand and operating costs to the
Group.

The Group has established different measures as below to
prevent and minimize the negative effect of extreme
weather.

W R H R B

RSB C BRI R e E B IR & B 69 1R
HmAR PIMERRNR - BEERRBEP
SR ERE TEABMPEHEEN  RK
RRTHERBRN - AIEEHIAR R TR HEE
EMELRBIAAN - THERRHLSANT
KGR EAREHAEBNENT
SRR & R AR BN

AREBESEL T NEERR - A L RFE
ERDBHARNBETE -

Physical Chronic Risk

Y32 R H A b
Extreme weather Preventative and mitigation measures
i KRR AR REFIE T

— Open windows to allow the air to circulate

— Keep a First-aid kit convenient

— Keep cold water available 24 hours a day

— Inspect the ventilation condition and employ ventilation fans on work sites

— Distribute government guidelines on preventing heat stroke at
work to field workers and managers

—iITHEPRE=RME

— BEsRAE

— 2 RIRFEERML K

— & TS EEM ORI R AR

— ARSI ARERAEDERRAY I TEHZNBTES

Extremely hot weather

EEEXR

Transitional Risk

The Group has identified related matters such as the
tightened laws and regulations imposed by the government
and more customers are concerned about climate-related
risks which can cause transitional risk. The potential
consequences include a higher chance of breaching relevant
laws and regulations, as well as an increase in operating
costs.

HRR R

AEECHEANEHEEE  PINBFERE
BIBREERMER  BEZREPHIT A
ERBL AR RIEEBRR  EBERR
BIERBRERE SRR AT REIEE M
AR @R RSB AN
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The Group has established different measures as below to NEREBIFT AT SR M TR I & 205
prevent and minimize the negative effects of transitional EHARBNEETE -
risk.

Transitional Risk

BRERE
Climate-related risks description Preventative and mitigation measures
RAR B R B 2 Taks & 4% i 15 e
Legal risk
—  Exposure to litigation risk. We have to adapt the —  Monitor the updates of environmental laws
tightened law and regulations imposed by the local and regulations in advance
government due to climate change, as well as bear —  Continue monitoring of the ESG reporting
the risk of potential litigation once we fail to obligate standards of the Hong Kong Listing Rules
the new regulations. —  Replace conventional vehicles with electric
— Increasing policies and subsequent operation costs vehicles
and changes to regulations are expected.
SRR
— MHEEFLARAR BRMASREEREHMBRAEARKEE(C — RAESERFEAZLERNERN
MEMOREEERER - WAE-—BREETH — FHEERFELTHRUNRE HLEkER
ERMEIRAEEFARE - WERE
— EHBRREELENANANERZSHKEEM - — UEHERRERAS
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Transitional Risk

B E

Climate-related risks description

SRR AR BE L B iz AR

Market risk

More customers are concerned about climate-related
risks and opportunities, which may lead to changes in
customer preference and would bring potential
impacts for the Group. For example, customer
demand for energy saving technologies and improved
resource efficiency, may potentially increase the
operating cost and affect gross profits of the Group.

™5 R

FZEPRIRGMERRR IS  AIEHEP
RiFoh s RAKEGEREEZE - fl - TP YH
ENRER T R IR R B R R F R AIRE R IB A
B L ERANNTEERN -

Reputation risk

Stakeholder concerns, negative feedback, and press
coverage regarding our Group's climate impacts would
impact our reputation.

BEAR

RONEHAKERREENRET AERELRKERE

7

SEERMMEER-

Preventative and mitigation measures

T FG B AR R4 B

—  Fulfill the climate-related regulations by the
government

—  Prioritize the climate change as a high concern
in the market decisions to show to the clients
that the company is concerned about the
problem and challenges of climate change

—  Adopt environmental friendly and eco-friendly
practices to the supply chain and emphasis our
green procurement requirements

—  Reduce waste stream from the source

—  Implement measures of energy efficiency

— BOBRIREARER

— BRESCELIATEARNEERTE -
[FEPRRARAERIRE(CHEERKED
2z

— AEHEREPRIERRLRRBREEG - LR
AR PR B REEK

—  JREERREE

— ERARERURGENER

— Review business projects to ensure they are
environmental friendly

— B XK B ARERNT S REME
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Climate-related Opportunities RIRIGE#E

The Group highly recognizes the importance of low-carbon AEBSESERERER WA FHER
development and embraces sustainability challenges as RKEAR BB - REEZ R AL
opportunities. It is committed to innovation and s HEERN  BEsEEtE A
continuously improving the way of its operations, turning B -BASENEBEMS  HEEHE
various possibilities into inspiration. For the Group’s EIRRREENRIREGZEIIEAZ
business, the recognition of consumers towards the BREOFTR BRREHERAEBEE D
environmental value of green engineering and the increasing W RERFERER °

demand for green engineering are expected to continuously
enhance the revenue and continuous cash flow of the
projects in the future.

Type of opportunity Detailed description of climate-related opportunities
HBER HRIZEBEKBNFAMFL
Services —  Circular business models create opportunities for the Group to generate

new revenue streams while reducing its environmental impact

— By collaborating with suppliers and adopting sustainable procurement,
choosing environmental friendly supplies, not only reduces environmental
impact but also attracts environmentally conscious consumers, increasing
market share and revenue growth

— Returns on investment in low-emission technology increases

AR%%5 — REREXEASAKTHEHAEEENWAIRNEE - REH IR
Boge

— BEEUERSERRAVHERE EERGRAS TERIY
RIENEE  TRSIERFROEEE  ERemEHELKEER
— BB E @ HRIE N

Resource and energy consumption —  Energy conservation and emission reduction, water resource
management and waste management through green operation can
directly reduce the Group’s operating costs in the medium and long term

BIR KRB — BRAGECLEERMHRRE KEREEREEMERE ATEER
BAREEDRPLERR

Energy use — Increasing the use of electric vehicles as a substitute for conventional cars
can reduce GHG emissions while reducing operating costs

BEIR{E — BENEREPEEREAAENERR  IRRERBHER R

By (K 2 B AR
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SOCIAL ASPECTS

Aspect B1: Employment

We endeavour to use our best effort to attract and retain
appropriate and suitable personnel to serve our Group. Our
Group assesses the available human resources on a
continuous basis and will determine whether additional
personnel are required to cope with the business
development of our Group. The Group'’s staff handbook sets
out our standards for compensation and dismissal,
promotion and salary review, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity and other benefits and welfare. The
Group entered into separate labour contracts with each of
our employees in accordance with the applicable labour
laws of Hong Kong.

The Group strives for compliance with local employment
laws and regulations, such as Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and the Minimum Wage Ordinance
(Chapter 608 of Laws of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong.

We generally recruit our employees through placing
advertisements in the open market with reference to factors
such as their experience, qualifications and expertise
required for our business operations. They are normally
subject to three months’ probation period starting on board.
The remuneration package our Group offered to our
employees includes salary, bonuses, other cash subsidies and
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”). In general, our Group
determines employee salaries based on each employee’s
qualifications, position and seniority. Our Group has
designed an annual review system to assess the performance
of our employees, which forms the basis of our decisions
with respect to salary adjustments, bonuses and promotions.
The Group recognizes the value of a diverse and skilled
workforce and is committed to creating and maintaining an
inclusive and collaborative workplace culture in which all can
thrive. The Group advocates the principles of equal
employment opportunities and diversity. Discrimination,
including unjust or prejudicial treatment of anyone due to
certain personal characteristics, such as race, gender,
ethnicity, religion, age and marital status, is strictly
forbidden. Policy applies to employment procedure is based
on capabilities, qualifications, experiences and skills without
discrimination. We believe that the above arrangements can
help us maintain good relationship with our employee.

HEE®
BB : E(E

BHABEAB IR REBEEREGBEA
TREEERE - AEBRFEFEATAA
NER ITEERERFEEBEAFUAES
AEEXBFER - NEEMNE T FMED
HAIE B BN AR B - B R B AR T
I KB FERSUREMEERE
MR E - REBRBEFEEM S TAM
HEXEETLERSIEL -

REBMBNETEWRFBEDFOER - Bl
WMEENERIGD (FBREMETE) - 8
B ATE R BRD (BEADIFE4855)
REETEGED (BEEPIFE608F) -

BA—REBERAAMSRBMESHERE
B EF2RBRUAMEXBLEMTOHLR
EENBEXRNBSEAER -EE—RABA
BERX=-@EAZRY AEEREER
HFMETEERTE €A MRS
M kRtE e (BEE]) - AKHE
BEERENBENEE BULFEE
TRE¥HZ AKBECHEFEEZREER
REFHEERFRUBRBEMBEBF R
B BARBRROEE - REERA
LR XERRONE THEE  XLHD
REERRF BB RBIENTHESAXIE -
EAAB TR XEREREMKE - A
SEREEFFUEHRGRETECRA -
PBRZER - BEERER - 1HH - Rk =R
o FREBREANES TEASEMY
FEAALTIEETRAFHAMERFE - B E
BFMEBAOBERLEREN BB &
Bl bee WEKR - RFIEE LR
BABREESHFRIHARE -
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During the Reporting Period, there were no material non-
compliances regarding employment brought against the
Group or its employees.

Below is a detailed breakdown of our employees by gender,
age group, employee category, and geographical region as
at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022:

RBEME TESEAEEXEREEN
BERERERER

UTAR-E-_=F+-_HA=+—B8BEFk=
T _FF+_A=+—HRERHN - FiA
Bl EBERI MR E DA EE B :

2023 2022
—E=-= ==
Number of % of  Number of % of
staff Total staff Total
HBAY 1HB A
BT A Ba BT AE Btk
By Gender &1 Rl
Male B 57 80 62 87
Female g 14 20 9 13
Total et 71 100 71 100
By age group RERRAE B
30 or below 30 A T 1" 15 14 20
31-40 31E405% 25 35 28 39
41-50 41 = 5075% 19 27 13 18
51 or above 513 A £ 16 23 16 23
Total et 71 100 71 100
By employee category ZEEER
Senior management RREEE 6 9 7 10
Middle management HPREEE 13 18 14 20
Normal gl 52 73 50 70
Total et 71 100 71 100
By geographical region Rt &
Hong Kong &3 71 100 71 100
Total et 71 100 71 100
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Below is a detailed breakdown of our employee turnover UTAERMABREHAR-_ZE 4R
rate by gender, age group and geographical region during MR FEAER RIEE S HEE KK
the Reporting Period and the corresponding period in 2022: EAFA
2023 2022
—Z-= —E-—

% of particular % of particular

category category
CEEFE Pl (RSl
Bat AN
Turnover rate by gender &1 B 82 B R =R
Male S 29 37
Female it - -
Turnover rate by age group RERAREDHRAZE
30 or below 30k AT 48 60
31-40 31 £405% 19 38
41-50 41 E505% 19 8
51 or above 515 3CA E 19 13
By geographical region RitE
Hong Kong BE 24 32
Note: Turnover rate for employees in the relevant categories = Number of Mzt . ABREMERMEBRAR =BT ERIBERIEB AL ®
employees leave in the specified category/Average of total employees HEMMBAREEENES A FI9E -
in the specified category at the beginning and at the end of the
Reporting Period.
Aspect B2: Health and Safety [EEB2: BFEHEZ2
We place emphasis on occupational health and work safety R EREERSENBYEELRIIER
during the delivery of our services as it is our concern not to 2 PESEE -DEHLETRATEY
put our employees, our subcontractors and the general fEi o RIS IR 2 IS 1R E K F
public in hazards. Insurance policies purchased can cover HIPNERIMERNIES - R/ ERAE
and protect our employees in the office and construction BB ERELREDEE  BAUREENE
site. We have also adopted an occupational health and ERMBERERLRIES THEBRA
safety manual as required by relevant occupational health B EEER o AN R PIERIS B ST B R
and safety laws, rules and regulations under the supervision L MERIGH (FBEMES09E) o

of our project directors. Also, we strictly comply with the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) of Hong Kong.
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Our key occupational health and work safety measures are NTEINEMEZNRERERIEL S
set out below: R

Effective promotion and communication of safety
procedures are maintained through, among others,
establishing safety bulletin and detailed record of
accident statistics, holding regular internal and
external safety meetings, documenting safety
measures and issues identified for each project by
preparing safety reports and training records;

We regularly attend safety training organised by the
main contractors of the projects, typically covering
safety procedures for performing different types of
work, first aid training, safety procedures for
emergency and duties and procedures for reporting
hazards, incidents, accidents and diseases, and good
housekeeping of workplaces;

All workers on site, including subcontractors’
employees, are required to follow the general safety
rules posted on prominent notice boards on site,
which would be adopted by the main contractor of
the relevant project. Workers would receive training
before they commence work, and those who breach
any such rules will be subject to internal disciplinary
actions. Project directors would make site inspections
to ensure strict compliance;

We designate a member of the project team who has
the relevant qualifications as our safety supervisor for
each of our projects. Risk assessments are generally
conducted by the relevant safety supervisor to identify
the potential hazards and accidents and provide
suggestion on proper preventive measures prior to
commencement of works;

Site inspections are carried out at least once every two
weeks by our project director to ensure strict
compliance with the statutory occupational health and
safety laws, rules and regulations;

— RMEERRBEERANHEAHBEERD

— BB EPERE)RILERENFE

R E NS ET R 8, © T HARIT R ER A
Hergd UBABRIELZEZWRER
HIESL TSREBEENLEEER
FIERmEE AmESEERES
2SR

— RAEHL2INEBEARHEROL

2| —REERTTRME L
MRRIERF SRR BAERN
RERFARERLCE  F8 - B
R R IR T IR

— FAMBIA(BEIEEEER) DA

BTRMNBSERE TR LA —K
Z2MA BRMRAGAEREER A
AR o T ARG TIERER
Bl EREMBERUERZIA
MaeEEsy - A T EETRSERE
FEIRERAR BT ARA

KREEREEEENZE2EEE - A
AL 2 BEE8 —RaFETRBRIMGE
A RIBE KB R BN - WA TR
SEE B a2

— BHEAESRSEMEEMKE—
NHERERETEAERERERELR L2
EE - RANFOER
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—  Specific safety measures in relation to, among others,
emergency, working at height, safe operation of
machinery and reporting of hazards and accidents are
communicated with workers and documented in
details;

— In order to provide a healthy and safe working
environment for employees, we have included a
Smoking Policy, Alcohol Policy, and Drugs Policy in the
Employee Handbook. Any employee who fails to
comply with these regulations may be subject to
disciplinary action and dismissal;

— Employees are required to report any potential
accidents or hazards that may endanger the safety of
themselves and their fellow workers. If an employee is
injured, they should immediately report it to the duty
manager to ensure prompt medical treatment for the
injured employee. The duty manager is responsible for
reporting the work-related injury to the company
within 48 hours of injury by completes and returns the
Injury Report to Human Resources Department. At the
same time, the company are also required to report
work-related injuries to the Labour Department/insurer
within a stipulated time;

—  We have placed first aid kits in the work environment
to address injuries and emergencies; and

—  Check to ensure all machines and tools are in good
condition before they are put into service and maintain
updated list of machines to ensure regular
maintenance is performed.

During the Reporting Period, no cases of work-related
injuries and fatalities are recorded. There was no
noncompliance of significant case in relation to laws and
regulations for health and safety, and therefore no lost days
due to injury was resulted. Our Group did not have any
incidents of work-related injuries and fatalities for the latest
3 financial years, including the Reporting Period.

— HMEIALHBLHBAR(ETEHE)
BB SZEIE R2BREER
PAR: FE S X B R BN R & 246 e

— RREERHEEMZENTERE
BPEREE FMARARERE
EREBR BB BR - T RREET
ZERPINEERREXICERED
R e

— EEAREEMAIEERESRER
PRETSEHNER WETR
CES EIAEL KBRS  HERE
BEIRERAE ERLIEGETE
TS BRI 1B 48/ N A AL A ¥R
ETEHEBR TEIEREIB AN
BIRER o RIBF - AR E IR R TR
MAMSTE RERARKRETIEE
5

100

N
pai

— HAEEIEREFRESRAMAE - A

— HEMA#ERTARAEMAAETR
EUEREARDR L WRTF R
WeRB B AR IRAETT E M &

RmERRY &L THERBGECER
NEERBEZZXEERNENESE -
BWEERFATBERRE - AEER K
T =AM R R (B & B W&
TIRHRBEBTEN -
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Aspect B3: Development and Training

The Group recognises the importance of training for the
development of our employees as well as our Group. We
provide various types of training to our employees, including
those on occupational health and safety in relation to our
work as mentioned in aspect “B2: Health and Safety” in this
Report. Such trainings include our internal training held by
human resources department as well as courses organised
by external parties such as the Construction Industry Council
and the Occupational Safety and Health Council in Hong
Kong. We believe it is a win-win approach for achieving
both employee and corporate goals as a whole.

Below is a detailed breakdown of the percentage of trained
employees by gender and employee category during the
Reporting Period and the corresponding period in 2022:

RE #HERERRE

FEm B3 : #EKEI
AEERAZINERMEE R AKEER
MERE - HMAEBRERESEEI &
BAREE®EB2: @FERE|TAER
BATEROBEREELZ2EI - BHE
FERANERIBEITHOAEEIIARZ
EXRERBERELERERFI K
BABNRE - HMBEE HBTHERE
ITREFEEBFENER N -

UTAERMARERRAER S _FRFH
ZUERREERRNESHZIEEE L
AR4A :

2023 2022
—EZ=F T
% of total % of total
EEUN- HHEANE
ERase Btk
Employee trained by gender REREINZIES
Male Bt 88 83
Female g 12 17
Total #Et 100 100
2023 2022
—E-= -T2

% of total % of total
HBA™ IHEANE
Aokt Aotk

Employee trained by REEERESNZIEE

employee category

Senior management aSREERE 19 39
Middle management PRERERE 22 17
General s 59 44
Total #Et 100 100
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The average training hours for employees by gender and
employee category during the Reporting Period and the
corresponding period in 2022 are as follows:

Training hour by gender
Male B
Female el

Training hour by employee category

Senior management SRERRE
Middle management hRERERE
General i

1 Bl &1 5 3% B B B

BB RN R - E - = R SBEET
R B B 45815 0018 B 1955 31 % BB
m -

2023 2022
—E2== T

Hours per Hours per

employee employee

BEEERE SRESRH

BESEFE D HIEH

3.59 3.97
2.00 3.61
9.00 34.50
2.69 0.64
2.76 0.56

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

The Group is fully aware that child labour and forced labour
violate fundamental human rights and also pose threat to
sustainable social and economic development. The Group
strictly complies with the Employment Ordinance and other
relevant labour laws and regulations in Hong Kong. The
Group prohibits the use of child labour and forced labour.
Employment contracts and other records, documenting all
relevant details of the employees (including age) are
maintained properly for internal review and verification by
relevant statutory body upon request. During the
recruitment process, the Group would verify the actual age
of the applicants by checking their identity documentations
and other records to avoid hiring any child labour. Terms
and condition are stated in employment contract for
employee to review before signing into contract, while
duties and responsibilities are identified before recruitment.
If any violation is discovered, we will handle it in a serious
manner. Depending on the actual situation, it will be
handled in accordance with national and local laws and
regulations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with
policies and relevant laws and regulations regarding
prevention of child labour or forced labour.

fEmB4 : & TAA|
AEBRAMETLBBSETRILPERARE
MEAHBELEREBERBREE - &
SEERBTEERRBEROREMERS
TERRER - AKREZELEAET RS
BT WRERFCHEEME AR
BEEFR)NERAOLEMLE &
EREERATHRBEAD RS RZE -
RBEBEET AEESREZERBE
MENERAREMBLEZEEERFK -
LA BB ET o R RIEEHHER
BEAHOAN HEIERIT AR
MBE R BTN BEATREE - N HRE
BoRMEEREE REEBR BR
B R A REARETRE -

RBEHE AEECBTABHLET
kSR8 55 TRV BUR MARBA R MOEM -
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Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

The Group works closely with its subcontractors and
suppliers who are committed to high quality, environmental,
health and safety standards. Policies and procedures for
selection and evaluation of subcontractors and suppliers are
established for staff to follow. New subcontractors and
suppliers are accessed with established criteria for
comparison purpose. We carefully evaluate the performance
of our subcontractors and suppliers and select them based
on a range of factors that are stated in the relevant policies
and procedures. We maintain a list of approved
subcontractors and suppliers which is updated according to
our assessment of their performance on a continuous basis.

We had over 21 (2022:17) subcontractors and 18 (2022:15)
suppliers located in Hong Kong during the Reporting Period.
We evaluate our subcontractors and suppliers base on a
number of factors, including their technical strengths,
product quality, quality control effectiveness, pricing, core
management team, credit rating, size, reputation,
environmental, health and safety standards. Apart from
product quality, delivery time and service quality, we
evaluate if the suppliers and subcontractors consider the
environmental and social criteria including the prohibition
on the recruitment of child and forced labour, eliminating
discrimination to employees, providing a safe working
environment, considering if the products and services
provided are beneficial to environmental protection and
fulfilling the Group’s internal environmental requirement
while minimizing the negative impact to natural
environment, so as to minimize environmental and social
risk that may be encountered, and strictly obeying the law.
The Group regularly reviews the updates of policies and laws
related to the supply chain, and communicates with internal
and external stakeholders to understand and identify
potential environmental and social risks within its supply
chain. We also conduct annual evaluations on our suppliers
and subcontractors. Any suppliers or subcontractors with
inferior past records of material environmental or social
accidents, such as exploitation of workers, will be removed
from the approved subcontractors and suppliers list.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any
major suppliers having any significant impact on business
ethics, environmental protection, human rights and labour
practices, nor did any of them have any material non
compliances in respect of human rights issues.

RE #HERERRE

fEmEBS : HEMEERE

AEEED BB MERHEZEE BE
BOAREREKRKEINEE RR RBER
ZEFEE - BMABEERLIESBE R
HEFRBRREFUHE TET &1
EEAFEFH D B R HEEEAETHEER -
HMREFGEOEBLREEENRE X
RIRAABREEIRF P AN — R B EE
HEE - RPREFNZED BRI RHER
BEEREHFRERNOTEMITEERN -

RBEHE RMEEBEHFA2IR (=
ST F ITR)DBERISR(ZE
F SR HEIER - HAREZEEZTE
DEERHEER REEFNEN  ER
HEe HETHARME - TE RLER
B EHFA AR B2 RE - @BR
hE2ZE - BKREREE RERMER
BEEN BN STFEHEERSBER
ERERRERESEE  BEZIERE
BETRBALT  HBRE TR BEL
EHIERE EERMEENER KRS
REANR BB REN LB NEE R
REBENR ABEERSYHARRENSE
FE UEEREATEBIMNERE L
GER  WEKETEZ - AEETHE
BEEERABRMEZENENER I
HEAI RO EETER  LATHER
HAEEREANEERERLCT AR - B
MEEEE RS BEETEE TG - A0
BEEBRRBEI LS ER(PIWAETA)
SR ENRERS S BEEERATDE
PREERRERRA -

RE AR AEEL TAAMBERMETEMH
ERHEEER RERE ABRRST
BHEEMERTE TEEFNEZHE
BEAERELLETAENERTR
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Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

Quality control on projects

Achieving and maintaining high quality standards for
projects are utmost important for sustainable growth of the
Group. The Group believes completing works that meet or
exceed customer’s requirements is crucial not only for E&M
engineering safety, but also for job reference and future
business opportunities. The Group is liable for the works
carried out by us and our subcontractors. We ensure that
each project is completed in accordance with the
specifications set out for the project. Our project directors
closely monitor the progress of each project to ensure that
our services (i) meet our customer’s requirements; (ii) are
completed within the time stipulated in the contract and the
budget allocated for the project; (i) comply with all relevant
rules and regulations; and (iv) meet high quality and
sustainable requirements. Our project directors will monitor
overall work quality and project progress and perform on-
site inspections and supervise site workers regularly. Our
project directors will timely inform our executive Directors of
the project status and any quality issues arising from project
execution. The Group's insistence on quality was recognised,
and the Group was awarded the 1SO9001:2015 quality
management system certification, valid until September
2026. The Group is committed to developing a sustainable
culture to pursue continuous improvement on quality rather
than adopting a short-term and project-based approach. We
hold management review meetings regularly to review
operations resources, follow up on customers’ feedback and
complaints, and identify areas for improvement.

In addition, the Group, together with the Architect/Clerk of
project from main contractor and customers, will conduct
on-site acceptance testing of all projects to ensure that they
have been completed in accordance with contractual
requirements and regulations. If any defects detected within
the defect liability period, the project manager would
investigate, and workers will be arranged to address the
defects. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not
receive any material service-related complaints and there are
significant no cases of product recalls.

[EHEB6 : EmMET

JHEESEPE
ERWHBBEENSEREENAEEN
AHELERGABR AEERE  TK
HERHARPERMIRE  TEHKS
TENZ2UHEBEAEE  NYTERER
ARREREZEERATE -AEBEERLBEM
EoBEETHIRaE - RARERE
HEFEIARRIETERSIEE - THERE
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R NMIBEESREMNTEE RN © (i) ESF
FrEMBRAEER: RivvFEaEERT
BEER BELEBERBRTIRESS
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AN HEREBERNENESHNTEETEHE
BEMRANBERITAEFEEANTERES
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AFEX L WBKEENFENRE T
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Materials and consumables

We closely monitor the quality of materials and consumables
we purchase. Our procurement staff will ensure that they
are sourced from our approved list of suppliers. We conduct
quality control checking on HVAC systems and other types
of materials and consumables we procured prior to applying
them for installation to ensure the quality of the materials
and consumables used in our project. Such quality control
checking typically involves: (i) whether the quantity is correct;
(i) whether there is any observable defect; and (iii) whether
it functions normally. Any defective products or products
that fall short of the product specifications would be
returned to the suppliers for replacement. Our customers
would also inspect the materials used by us at work sites
and verify the specifications from time to time.

Subcontractors and workers

We may be liable to our customers for the performance of
our subcontractors and we may also be liable to any
potential employee compensation claims and personal
injuries claims made by our or our subcontractors’
employees arising from work injuries that may happen from
time to time, in order to ensure that our subcontractors
comply with the contractual requirements and the relevant
laws and regulations, we require our subcontractors to
follow our internal control measures in relation to quality
control safety and environmental compliance. Our project
directors conduct regular site inspections to ensure general
compliance by our own workers as well as our
subcontractors in quality, safety and environmental
requirements. During project implementation, our project
team regularly meets with our subcontractors and closely
monitors their work progress and performance as well as
their compliance with our safety measures and quality
standards.

RE #HERERRE

YERFEH
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In order to achieve high quality in each aspect of our
operation, we rely on our management team which has
extensive industry knowledge and project experience in the
HVAC engineering and services market in Hong Kong. Our
members of senior management have over 20 years of
experience in the HVAC engineering and services market.
Their experience and extensive knowledge in this market
enable our Group to enjoy in-depth understanding of the
local market dynamism and industry practice. Our technical
team, in particular, our project directors who are assisted by
a team of experienced project management staff, have over
10 years of experience in the E&M engineering works
industry. Our directors and senior management possess
substantial experience, industry insight, technical skills and
knowledge and project management experiences to lead
and execute high quality works for sizeable projects with
stringent project requirements, which serve as our major
competitive edge over other market players, bringing
custom knowledge and commitment to quality have been
and will continue to be our Group's valuable assets and
strive our Group towards greater success.

For our quality control measure over our subcontractors and
suppliers, please refer to aspect “B5: Supply Chain
Management” in this Report for further details.

During the Reporting Period, there were no significant
disputes between our Group and our customers in respect
of the quality of work performed by us or our
subcontractors.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group protects its intellectual property rights by
registration of domain names in Hong Kong. Such domain
name is renewed upon its expiration. The Group
understands and complies with the intellectual property
("IP") rights related regulations. During the Reporting
Period, there was no material infringement of the IP rights
and the Group is confident that all reasonable measures
have been taken to prevent any infringement of its IP rights
and the IP rights of third parties.
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Data protection and privacy policies

Employees are generally required to follow the
confidentiality clause as stated in the staff handbook and
employment contract, which requesting employees not to
disclose any trade secret or other confidential information
concerning the business or affairs of our Group except for
the benefit of the Group with further authorization. All
customers’ or suppliers/subcontractors’ confidential
information is only accessible to employees who are
responsible for the corresponding project. Without the
permission of the related customers or suppliers/
subcontractors, the Group will not provide any confidential
information to any cooperative partners. Also, all contracts
and letters of tenders are kept in locked cabinets, while
projects server could only be accessed by the corresponding
team members. Only certain staff, such as Project Director
or Accounting Manager, could be permitted to see those
files, so as to maximise the security of data for customers,
suppliers and subcontractors.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

Actively identifying compliance issues and remediating the
findings of investigations can prevent problems from
escalating. Therefore, we keep a close eye on the updates of
the Buildings Ordinance (Chapter 123 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Construction Industry Council Ordinance
(Chapter 587 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and other relevant regulations to revise our policies and
operations accordingly to prevent any malpractice. The
Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters regard to products and services provided by
the Group during the Reporting Period.
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Aspect B7: Anti-Corruption

To ensure operation efficiency and employees’ development
in a fair and honest working environment, the Group has
formulated whistleblowing policy to avoid suspected
corruption and provided channel such as by letter, meeting,
email or phone call for employees to report suspected
corruption. If there are any suspected case related to
corruption, employees are encouraged to report the related
cases through the mentioned channels. All these practical
actions not only win the trust of customers, but also
enhance the sense of belonging and fair play among our
employees. During the Reporting Period, the Group regularly
organized online trainings on anti-corruption for directors
and staff to strengthen the relevant management on the
prevention, implementation and oversight of anti-corruption
measures in the Group. During the Reporting Period, a total
of 8 individuals participated in training for a total of 11
hours.

The Group has been in strict compliance with law and
regulation related to anti-corruption. During the Reporting
Period, there was no legal case regarding corrupt practices
brought against the Group or its employees.

Aspect B8: Community Investment

As a socially responsible company, the Group is committed
to understanding the needs of the communities in which we
operate. The Group strives to develop long-term relationship
with our stakeholders and seek to make contributions to
programs that have a positive impact on community
development. Labour needs, health and culture will be the
focus areas of our community investment strategy.

During the Reporting Period, the Group made donation of
approximately HK$70,000 to the Association for the Rights
of Industrial Accident Victims(* TEE T #2252 ") in order
to support workers’ welfare, healthcare, and industry
development, while the Group donated approximately
HK$55,000 to certain local charitable organizations in the
corresponding period in 2022.
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LIMITED’S ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND (RE HERER
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPls Section

TERER BEH —REERBERERER BH

Environmental
RIE

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEAT: BB

General Disclosure

— R E

KPI A1.1
FREMIEEAL

KPI A1.2

FREMIEEAL2

KPI A1.3
FRREMNIEEALS

Information on: “Emissions”

[BEm ]

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer,

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
BHERSORERBIW - AR R TaBE
A ENEEERYNELSN

(@ BE: &

() BTHETABEAZENMEBEZENLR
IV E KL o

The types of emissions and respective emissions “Emissions”

data. [BEm )
BE e A R ARR BB -

Greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where “Emissions”

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production [ B ]
volume, per facility).

BEREBEHRE (ABERTE) & (ER) %E (W
NEESEN  BERXBAH) -

Total hazardous waste produced and, where “Emissions”

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production [ B ]
volume, per facility).
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section Page
FTEHER -BEEH —REERBAREARER =4: 0] BR
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) “Emissions” 51
BARENIEREA1L and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of [ e ]

production volume, per facility).

ESBEZEEMEE UANEGE )&(ﬁﬂ%@ﬂ%)%

EWNGESEN - §RRMEAE
KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken  “Emissions” 45-47
BREBIERALS to achieve them. “Emissions” [HEm ]

BT M BERE B R R R ETE LB BRMEK

B 2 8%
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous “Emissions” 45-47
BREMIEEALG wastes are handled, and a description of reduction  [HER ¥ |

target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

MMEBAENEBEREEYN L MM PIE]

SHRRE B IR R AER S BRI R -
Aspect A2: Use of Resources
EEA2: EREA
General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources. including “Use of Resources” 49-51
—RiEE energy, water and other raw materials. [&R{EA]

BRERER(BIERIR KR HEAMRM K £

Aﬁﬁk o
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type “Use of Resources” 50
BREMIEEA2.1 (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kwWh) and [BIREA]

intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per

facility).

REREI M ER R/ SEEER(WE - Bdom)

BREE ATRFE) REE (MABES B -

BEREFE) °
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per “Use of Resources” 51
FEENIEEA2.2 unit of production volume, per facility). [&IRE A

,,,,, REKEREE MABEEEN  BERME

#) o
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and “Use of Resources” 52-53
BREMIEEZEA23 steps taken to achieve them. [&R{ER ]
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPls

FEER BH -  —REERBRARER

KPI A2.4
FREMIEEA24

KPI A2.5
FAREMISIZEA2S5

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
e SR ERE AR 7KOR E R A EA R - A RPRET AL
BVRKM B IR R AERE L B IRAT IR P8R

Total packaging material used for finished products
(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per
unit produced.

HEmABREMHNESE (A E) &k (0@
R)SGEESIEE -

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EBEHEA3: BERXKARER
General Disclosure

— R E

KPI A3.1
AR EMISZEA3A

Aspect A4: Climate Change
EHEAL : RIREL

General Disclosure

— R E

KPI A4.1
FRRENIEE AL

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact
on the environment and natural resources.

RAREITABRERRAERERERTENBER

Description of the significant impacts of activities on
the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.

ML EBEHHRBERRABRNEATERE
ERMEEBEATENTE -

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer.

BRI REHER LA EHBTAEATZENE
ARIFMEBEENBR °

Description of the significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
MBS RAIEEHBITAEEZENERRIR
HEEE - RELHTTE -

HERER

Section

-}

"“Use of Resources”

[BIREM]

“Use of Resources”

[BIREM]

“The Environment and
Natural Resources”

[RIERRARER]

“The Environment and
Natural Resources”
[IRIERRKAER]

“Climate Change”
[RIRE L]

“Climate Change”
[ RI& 1L ]
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section
FTEHER -BEEH —REERBAREARER =4: 0]
Social
e
Aspect B1: Employment
EEB1: EfE
General Disclosure Information on: “Employment”
—RIKE [EfR%

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the issuer,

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment

and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal

opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other

benefits and welfare.

BRAF N E - M RETT - TERS - RE -

FTERE b REBRIAREMEE REF

Hy -

@@ BREH K

(b) BFHETABEATENHEBEEEZLA

BIEE R o

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for “Employment”
BREMIEEB example, full-or part-time), age group and [ &1 ]

geographical region.

IR EEERN (WEBEEE) - FRER K&

wEE o IEE B -
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and “Employment”
BRENMIEEBL2 geographical region. [ &1 ]
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPls Section

FEER BH -  —REERBRARER -}

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EHEB2: @ERZE

General Disclosure Information on: “Health and Safety”
—RIRE [MEREL 2

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer,

relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational

hazards.
FRREBELZ2TEREIREREH2BELS
=h -

(@) HEREH: &

() BTHETABEARENMEBEIENRR

BIEYEEL
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred  “Health and Safety”
B ENIEEB2.1 in each of the past three years including the [ 2 Fr Ed%e 2

reporting year.

BE=ZF(BRBEFRE)BFRATITHNAZRR

Fo o
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. “Health and Safety”
HREARIERB2.2 EIGEEATERS - [MEREL 2
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety “Health and Safety”
BABENIEEB2.3 measures adopted, and how they are implemented ~ [f#FEE%Z 2 |

and monitored.
LT R AR B R R R 286 - AR BB
TRERTE-

Aspect B3: Development and Training

FETHE B3 : /& K3E3

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and “Development and
—RIEE skills for discharging duties at work. Description of ~ Training”
training activities. [ 2R K159

FRRHEERBIT TEREM MBI REENBE
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section Page
FTEHER -BEEH —REERBAREARER =4: 0] BR
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and  “Development and 65
BARENIEEB3.1 employee category (e.g. senior management, middle Training”

management). [25 R KiEdl

BUERIREEEMN (NSRERLE DREERE)
EomXIEEBDL

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee  “Development and 66
BB ENIEEB3.2 by gender and employee category. Training”
RUERREERRNED  BEEETHKZINNT [#REE]
B8 -

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EMEB4: & TR

General Disclosure Information on: “Labour Standards” 66
—BEE [45 T 81|

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer,

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BRARLE TR S EHH
@ BEEH K

() BTHETABEAZENMEBEZENRR

BIEyEEL
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment “Labour Standards” 66
AR E IS E B4 practices to avoid child and forced labour. [4 T %81

faut s R E O EEA R R E T MoREET -

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such “Labour Standards” 66
A NISEB4.2 practices when discovered. [45 T8 ]

WA IR E R BN R AR BRI S5 -
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPls

FEER BH -  —REERBRARER

Operating Practices

EEEH

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EmEBS : HEEEE

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks
—RiEE of the supply chain.
EIRHEEAIRE RS ERARBR -

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.

B A NIEEBS. i EE D EREE -

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging

AR ENISEEBS.2 suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices

are being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

A EEEREERNED - mERITEEED
MHEREE AREBERTRERTE -

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify

BB ENIEEBS.3 environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

B EREA R ERSERANRR LA SRR
MED - AEBBERAITRERTE -

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote

B ENIEEBS.4 environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
i 7E PR R R R 2 % IR R E b AR 89
BHI - ARAEBRIT REE R %

Section

-}

“Supply Chain
Management”

[ e o8 e 1 |

“Supply Chain
Management”

[ o2 e 1

“Supply Chain
Management”

[ e 3 7 32 |

“Supply Chain
Management”
[T |

“Supply Chain
Management”

[ e o2 e 1 |
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs

IRER -BH  —REERBREEARER

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[EEB6: EmEE

General Disclosure

—RiNE

KPI B6.1
BEAMRIERB6.1

KPI B6.2
B A MIEE B6.2

KPI B6.3
RSB MISEB6.3

KPI B6.4
FREMIEEB6.4

KPI B6.5
B AMIEEB6.5

80

Information on:
(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer,

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.
BRAMRHERNBRENRERZS 5§ 18
ERLEEEARFERT AN

(@ HEREH: &

() BTHETABEARENMEBEIEZNRR
FIEVE Y

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject
to recalls for safety and health reasons.
EEXRCEXEMBHTRLT 2 EEFIBHMA
HAEIHE DL °

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

EEBANERSMRBOIRFHREARRETTE -

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.
et B R RIEANBEREEANIER -

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.
HlEERTAEREEER -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

U EEERRERALBBRE - A RBERT
NERTE -

Section

-}

“Product
Responsibility”
[EmAE]

“Product
Responsibility”
[EmEE]

“Product
Responsibility”
[EmAE]

“Product
Responsibility”
[EmEE]

“Product
Responsibility”
[EmEE]

“Product
Responsibility”
[EmAE]
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPls Section

FEER BH -  —REERBRARER -}

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

EBEB7 : RES

General Disclosure

— R E

KPI B7.1
AR EMISEB7.1

KPI B7.2
BEAMIEEBT.2

KPI B7.3
BEANMIERBT.3

Information on: “Anti-Corruption”
[R&E5]
(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer,

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

BRI LEFES - BIR - MFF MBI RER
(@ HEREH: K

b) BIHBFTABEAFENAEEERE
Il ER -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt ~ “Anti-Corruption”
practices brought against the issuer or its employees [k &5 |

during the reporting period and the outcomes of

the cases.

RBREHREETASIRESERDVEELENE

TEERAARMEVEIE MR AR -

Description of preventive measures and whistle- " Anti-Corruption”
blowing procedures, and how they are implemented [R &5 ]

and monitored.

el [y 5 45 7 M R ERAR T - LA RABRIRTT R BB

Tk e
Description of anti-corruption training provided to " Anti-Corruption”
directors and staff. [RE5]

M EERE TIRHORESE -
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section Page
FTEHER -BEEH —REERBAREARER =4: 0] BR
Community

HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EEB8: HBRE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand "Community 72
— R = the needs of the communities where the issuer Investment”
operates and to ensure its activities take into [tTRTE ]

consideration the communities, interests.
BRENMEB2HERTRETAZENTNMLRT
ZNMEREEREES S EBIRFZEABUER

KPI BS.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, “Community 72
B 52 48 IS5 1EB8.1 environmental concerns, labour needs, health, Investment”
culture, sport). [tEEE ]

HIERER(IHE RRFEE - SHIFK &
B-xXft - 8%5)-

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the “Community 72
BREMIEREBS.2 focus area. Investment”
EZIHBMEAER(NE ENEFMHE) - [TtREKE |
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board has been adamant in upholding high standards of
corporate governance to maximize operational efficiency,
corporate values and shareholder returns. The Company has
adopted and applied the principals of the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Company will continue to
upgrade internal control system, strengthen risk control
management and reinforce the corporate governance structure.

The Company has complied with the code provisions and, where
appropriate, the applicable recommended best practices set out in
the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Board believes that good corporate governance culture is
essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard
the interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate value and
formulate its business strategies and policies. Corporate actions
are carried out by following the corporate value & spirit of
"integrity, compliance and care for stakeholders” in order to
achieve continuous success and sustainable growth.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions.

The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors regarding
the compliance with the Model Code. All Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this report, the Board comprises:

Executive Directors
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Tung (Chairman)
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Chau

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson

Mr. LAU Yu Ching

Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson

The Board’s composition demonstrates a balance of core
competence with regard to the business of the Group so as to
provide effective leadership and the requisite expertise to the
Group. The executive Directors and senior management of the
Company have extensive management experience in the
Company’s business.
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The biographical details of the Directors and senior management
of the Company are set out in the section headed “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 17 to 23 of this
annual report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise,
experience and qualifications.

Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Group,
is entrusted with the responsibility to supervise the overall
management of the business, including establishing and
overseeing the Group’s strategic development, business plans’
financial objectives, capital investment proposals, and assumes the
responsibilities of corporate governance of the Group. The Board
has delegated the authority and responsibility for implementing its
business strategies and managing the daily operations of the
Group's business to the executive Directors and members of senior
management.

MECHANISMS TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT
VIEWS ARE AVAILABLE TO THE BOARD

The board believes that independent views and input can enhance
the Board’s decision-making process and therefore make fair and
proper decisions and corporate actions.

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board which, including but
not limited to, the composition of the Board and Board
committees, ensure the independence of all independent
non-executive directors, emphasis on independence in the
decision-making process, compensation structure, availability of
independent professional advice and opinions.

The Board will conduct a review annually to ensure the
implementation and effectiveness of the aforesaid mechanisms.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code requires that the
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive
officer should be segregated.

The two positions are held separately by two individuals to ensure
their respective independence, accountability and responsibility.
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Tung (“Mr. Tony Cheung”) is the chairman
of the Board and Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Chau (“Mr. Gary Cheung”)
is the chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Tony Cheung is
in charge of the management of the Board and strategic planning
of the Group. Mr. Gary Cheung is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Group’s business. The Company considered
that the division of responsibilities between the chairman and
chief executive officer is clearly established.
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Board Meetings

The Board meets approximately quarterly and on other occasions
when warranted by circumstances. During the year ended 31
December 2023, the Board held four meetings. Notice for regular
Board meetings are given to each Director at least fourteen days
prior to the meeting whereby the Directors can put forward their
proposed items into the agenda. The agenda and the relevant
Board papers are then circulated to the Directors three days before
the Board meeting in order to enable the Directors to make
informed decisions. For other Board meetings, reasonable notices
are given.

In addition to regular Board meetings, under code provision A.2.7
of the Listing Rules, the chairman should at least annually hold
meetings with the non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) without the executive Directors present
(the “Chairman and Non-executive Directors Meeting”).
During the year, one Chairman and Non-executive Directors
Meeting was held.

Number of meetings and Director’s attendance

Details of the Directors’ attendance at the meetings of the Board,
the audit committee, the remuneration committee, the
nomination committee and the Chairman and Non-executive
Directors Meeting held during the year are set out below:
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Executive Directors BTES

Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Tung RILBEE 4/4 N/ATE N/AT i N/A i A 17
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Chau R EHE 444 N/ATEF N/ATNEF N/ANEF NATEF

Independent non-executive ~ BIUFHTEES

Directors

Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson YHELE 44 212 11 1/1 1/
Mr. LAU Yu Ching AMERE 44 212 11 11 1/1
Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson ~ ZBMEFR%4E 4/4 212 11 11 11

85



Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / & IB5 @ (32 %) ABR A 7]

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERWME

Relationship amongst Directors

Save for (i) Mr. Tony Cheung is the brother of Mr. Gary Cheung
and (ii) on 12 March 2018, Mr. Tony Cheung and Mr. Gary
Cheung entered into the concert party deed to acknowledge and
confirm, among other things, that they are parties acting in
concert; the Board members have no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships with each other.

Independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a
specific term. Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association,
one-third of the Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting at least once every three years.

Independence of Independent non-executive Directors

In determining the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors, the Board follows the guidelines as set out in
the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has received
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive
Directors and concluded that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Each Director receives a comprehensive, formal and tailored
induction package to ensure that he understands the business and
operations of the Group and is sufficiently aware of his
responsibility and obligation under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements.

The Directors are kept informed on the developments of the
statutory and regulatory regime, and the changes in the business
markets so as to facilitate them to fulfil their responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. Continuing briefings and professional development
for Directors will be arranged by the Company when considered
necessary.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, according to the
records provided by the Directors, the individual training record of
each Director received for the year is summarised below:

Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Tung sRITH A
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Chau SRk TTARK ST A
Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson ) e
Mr. LAU Yu Ching B8 IE A
Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson EMEREAE

CEERRE

BE_Z-_=F+_A=+—BILFE REE
EREMNRE  SEENFARINERFIIE
SEEEMT

Attending training
courses/seminars/
reading materials
relevant to the
director’s duties
HEHRESHE
BERAMIZIIRE
e BEEME

AN NN

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) in June 2018 (collectively, the “Board
Committees”). The term of reference of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee are
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
Members of the Board Committees are provided with sufficient
resources to fulfil their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee
The current members of the Audit Committee are:

Mr. LAU Yu Ching (Chairman)
Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson
Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson

All members of the Audit Committee are independent non-
executive Directors who possess sufficient accounting and financial
management expertise and relevant experience to fulfil their
duties.
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The Audit Committee serves as a focal point of communication
between the Directors, the external auditors and the internal
auditors with regards to their duties relating to financial and other
reporting, internal controls, external and internal audits and
assisting the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by providing
independent review and supervision of financial reporting, by
satisfying itself as to the effectiveness of the internal controls of
the Group, and as to the adequacy of the external and internal
audits.

During the year, two Audit Committee meetings were held, inter
alia, to review the 2022 annual results and the 2023 interim
results of the Group. The attendance records are set out under the
section headed “Number of meetings and Directors’ attendance”
in this report.

Remuneration Committee
The current members of the Remuneration Committee are:

Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson (Chairman)
Mr. LAU Yu Ching
Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson

All members of the Remuneration Committee are independent
non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
and making recommendations to the Board in relation to the
remuneration packages and benefits of the Directors and the
senior management of the Company to ensure the relevant
individuals are fairly rewarded in light of their contribution to the
Company with reference to their performance, and that they
receive suitable incentives to maintain high standards of
performance and to improve the Group’s and their own
performance. In connection with the review of the remuneration
package, no Director shall be involved in deciding his own
remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, one Remuneration
Committee meeting was held, inter alias, to review the Company’s
remuneration policies, remuneration structure and remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management of the
Company. The attendance records are set out under the section
headed “Number of meetings and Directors’ attendance” in this
report.
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Remuneration paid to senior management
Remuneration paid to senior management of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2023 by band are as follows:

CEERRE

TN FERESEASNEM
HE-_Z-_=F+-A=+—H1FE IF
ARG ESMEEAENTHEELOT -

Number of staff

EI#®HE
HK$nil-HK$1,000,000 T £ 1,000,000 7% 7T 3
Nomination Committee REZEE
The current members of the Nomination Committee are: REZEZHAKERRE
Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson (Chairman) BEREE(FE)
Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson AR S
Mr. LAU Yu Ching 2R A&
All members of the Nomination Committee are independent non- RHZEEHNEHKEH BB IUIENITES -
executive Directors.
The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for, amongst RRZEE€TEBEE (EFeR) () BFERTES

other things, (i) reviewing the Board'’s diversity policy and the
measurable objectives set by the Board for implementing the
Board's diversity policy annually, and making recommendations to
the Board on any proposed changes to the Board according to the
Company’s corporate strategy; (ii) making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment and re-appointment of Directors
and succession planning for Directors; (iii) identifying individuals
suitable to be qualified as Board members; (iv) assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors annually;
and (v) deciding whether or not a Director is able to and has
adequately carried out his duties as a Director.

The Board has adopted a Board diversity policy setting out the
approach to the diversification of Board members since 2018. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of
Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirement of the Company’s business. All
Board appointment will continue to be made on a merit basis with
due regards for the benefits of diversity of the Board members.
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills and
knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.
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As of the date of this annual report, the Company had a total of 5
Directors. The Directors have a balanced mix of experiences,
including overall management and strategic development, quality
assurance and control, business and risk management, and
finance and accounting experiences in addition to corporate legal
affair experiences.

The Company currently does not have female Director. To achieve
the aim of gender diversity of the Board, the Company will
endeavor to recommend at least one female Director for approval
by the Shareholders by the mid of 2024. The Nomination
Committee will be responsible for identifying suitable female
candidates and providing their recommendations to the Board on
at least an annual basis. Subject to (i) the Board being satisfied
with the background, qualification and experience of the relevant
candidate(s) and their potential contributions to the development
of the Group, (ii) the Directors fulfilling their fiduciary duties to act
in the best interest of our Company and the Shareholders as a
whole when making the relevant recommendation(s), and (iii) the
Company’s prevailing nomination policy, the Board will
recommend the female candidate to the Shareholders for
appointment as a member of the Board. However, during the
year, the Nomination Committee had not identified a right
candidate according to the Company’s nomination policy.

As at December 31, 2023, as set out in the section headed
"Aspect B1: Employment” in the environmental, social and
governance report (“ESG Report”) as contained in this annual
report, among the 71 employees (including senior management)
of the Group, the percentages of male employees and female
employees are 80% and 20%, respectively. As the Group is
conducting air-conditioning E&M engineering services industry
which involve majority of male in site workforce, the Board
considers that the Group’s workforce (including senior
management) are diverse in terms of gender.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, one Nomination
Committee meeting was held, inter alias, to review the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board and to consider,
nominate and recommend the appointment and re-appointment
of Directors.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board has carried out its duties and responsibilities as set out
in the CG Code including (i) the development of policies and
practices on corporate governance; (ii) monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management of the Company; (iii) reviewing and monitoring the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the code of conduct applicable to the
employees of the Company and the Directors; and (iv) reviewing
compliance of the Company with the CG Code and the disclosure
in this report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility in preparing the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and that of the results and cash
flows in the relevant financial year. In preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors
have selected appropriate accounting policies, applied them
consistently in accordance with appropriate Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and the
related interpretations, and made adjustments and estimates are
prudent and reasonable.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. The Directors,
having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

The responsibilities of the external auditors to the Shareholders
are set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report”
on pages 96 to 103 of this annual report.

Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year, the Company’s auditor, D & PARTNERS CPA
LIMITED, provided to the Company its audit services in relation to
the audit of annual financial statements. The audit fee paid/
payable to D & PARTNERS CPA LIMITED in respect of the audit
services provided was approximately HK$730,000. There was no
non-audit service provided by D & PARTNERS CPA LIMITED during
the year.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lo Wan Man has been appointed as the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) since 9 April 2019.

The Company Secretary whose appointment was approved by the
Board, is responsible in supporting the Board for ensuring good
information flow within the Board and that the Board policy and
procedures are followed. The Company Secretary reports to the
Chairman on governance matters and has day-to-day knowledge
of the Group’s affairs.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
Secretary had duly complied with the relevant training requirement
under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Group recognises Shareholder’s rights in exercising control
proportionate to their equity ownership. As one of the measures
to safeguard Shareholders’ interest and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at the Shareholder’s meetings on each substantial
issue, including the election of Director(s), for Shareholder’s
consideration and voting. All resolutions put forward at
Shareholders’ meeting will be voted by way of poll, which is
conducted and scrutinised by the Company’s share registrar. Poll
results are announced and posted on the website of both the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting
Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written request to
the Board or the secretary of the Company, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specify in such request; and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the submission of
such request. If within twenty-one days of such submission the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, Shareholder(s)
may do so in the same manner.
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Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries to the Board in
writing to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong or by email for the attention of the secretary of the
Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

Pursuant to Article 85 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, no person other than a Director retiring at the meeting
shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election, be
eligible for election as a Director at any general meeting unless a
written notice signed by a Shareholder (other than the person to
be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given of his intention to propose such person
for election and also a written notice signed by the person to be
proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged
at the head office of the Company or at the share registrar of the
Company provided that the minimum length of the period, during
which such written notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven days
and that (if the written notices are submitted after the despatch of
the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election) the
period for lodgment of such written notice(s) shall commence on
the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than seven days prior
to the date of such general meeting. Accordingly, if a Shareholder
duly qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting of the
Company wishes to propose a person for election as a Director at
the general meeting, he/she can deposit a signed written notice of
the intention to propose a person for election as a Director and a
signed written notice by that person of his/her willingness to be
elected together with his/her particulars (such as qualification and
experience) and information as required to be disclosed under
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules at the head office of the
Company at Room 1908, 19th Floor, Cheung Fung Industrial
Building, Nos. 23-39 Pak Tin Par Street, Tsuen Wan, New
Territories, Hong Kong or at the share registrar of the Company,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong. The period for lodgment of the
notices required will commence no earlier than the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting, and the minimum length of the period during
which such notices to the Company may be given will be at least
seven days.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The up-to-date consolidated version of the Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company (in both English and
Chinese) is available on both the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. There is no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the year ended 31 December
2023.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY AND
WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Group has established (i) policy and measures that promote
and support anti-corruption laws and regulations; and (ii)
whistleblowing policy and measures for employees, suppliers and
business partners to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity,
with the Audit Committee about possible improprieties in any
matter related to the Group. For further details of the Group’s
anti-corruption and whistleblowing policy and/or measures, please
refer to the section headed “Aspect B7: Anti-corruption” of the
ESG Report contained in this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has an overall responsibility for maintaining a sound
and effective system of risk management and internal control and
for reviewing its effectiveness, particularly in respect of the
controls of financial, operational, compliance and risk
management, to safeguard Shareholders’ investment and the
Group’s assets. The Board should ensure that review of the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control
systems has been conducted at least annually.

The Group maintains its internal audit function with the assistance
of the Audit Committee and the management of the Company.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has
conducted a review on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control system of the Group with the
assistance of the Audit Committee and the management of the
Company. The Board is satisfied that, based on the information
provided and on its own observation, the present risk
management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate for the nature and size of the Group’s operations and
business.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board has established a Shareholders’ communication policy
to ensure that Shareholders and potential investors are provided
with ready, equal and timely access to material information of the
Company in order to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders and to enable the Shareholders to exercise their
rights in an informed manner.

The Company communicates information to the Shareholders
through different channels, including, among others, its periodical
financial announcements and reports, annual general meetings
and other general meetings (if any), all the disclosures submitted
to the Stock Exchange and its corporate communications and
other publications on the Company’s website.

The mechanisms utilised by the Company for communication of
information with the Shareholders include (i) communication
through the Shareholders’ enquiries; (ii) posting of relevant
information on the Company’s website; and (iii) communication at
the Shareholders’ meetings. Shareholders may also at any time
make a request for the Company’s publicly available information
through the Company’s email address (info@manshungroup.com.
hk) and enquiry hotlines (852-2633 6866) on the Company’s
website.

Overall, the Company considers the shareholders’ communication
policy of the Group to be effective and adequate. The Company
will continue to review the implementation and effectiveness of
the shareholders’ communication policy by shareholders’ feedback
from the above channel.
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D & PARTNERS

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Man
Shun Group (Holdings) Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 104 to 184, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2023 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Contract accounting estimates
Refer to accounting policies 2(h) and 2(q) and Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements

The Key Audit Matter
HREZER

The Group recorded revenue from the provision of air-
conditioning installation services in Hong Kong totaling
HK$152,950,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023.
HE_ZT_=F+_A=1+—HBLLFE BEXKEREBHEE
KA R ZERZEREHKAS 152,950,000 7T °

Contract revenue is recognised progressively over time using the
cost-to-cost method based on the contract costs to date as a
percentage of total forecast costs. Contract costs are recognised
when work is performed, together with any provisions for
expected contract losses.

EHRMATIE BB BDE - 1R325 R 1EE KB 4278 BARK
RE) A 5 L BE R R o & AN AR ETT TR ER A
ABHBEENEABERR -

B M BT

BRREFXEER
FREZFEDRMARBEERHE - RBHEZ
ARG M BHRAZRREERNFTH - ZFFA
ERMERGAMBHRRER R EREARKEE
BT eRREFTRERBLIER -

EHgsHhE
BRI AR DGR 20K 2(q) KA LK
iF4

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMWERNAEEEHESEE

Our audit procedures to assess contract accounting
estimates included the following:
B AN EH AT ETNERZERR

o assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal
controls over the contract revenue
recognition processes;

o  FIAHEHNWAERIRIZAMEEA P
AT B SEVERCRK
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Contract accounting estimates (Continued)
Refer to accounting policies 2(h) and 2(g) and Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
HRELZER

The recognition of revenue and profit therefore relies on
management'’s estimate of the final outcome of each contract,
which involves the exercise of significant management judgement,
particularly in forecasting the costs to complete a contract, in
valuing contract variations, claims and liquidated and ascertained
damages, in estimating the amount of expected losses and in
assessing the ability of the Group to deliver services according to
the agreed timetable.

At - BRRARGRFEBREEEGASEANNREER
ERSRIERERERAL  FRIREASHOTHAEN  Ha
WEF RENETHREELGE GFAEHERSE UK
HE EREREBHERSERREHRRBOES -

We identified contract accounting estimates as a key audit matter
because the estimation of the total contract revenue and total
costs to complete contracts is inherently subjective and requires
significant management judgement and estimation and because
errors in forecast of contract revenue and contract costs could
result in a material variance in the amount of profit or loss
recognised from contracts to date and, therefore, in current
period.

BB aNEHEAETRBREZER  REAMGHEALN
WARBHTRERAAZFAGEE N BAZELERNE
1B K K AR Et - AR AR RRTEBI & KA KB KB T B
BERESRIENERENMPEARSOERNBEZSB LR
BRER
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMWERNAEEEHESEE

o discussing with management the performance
of contracts in progress during the year, on a
sample basis, and assessing the key estimates
and assumptions adopted in the forecasts for
contract revenue and contract costs, including
estimated costs to completion, the recognition
of variation orders and the adequacy of
contingency provisions, and the assessment of
potential liquidated and ascertained damages
for contracts, by obtaining and evaluating
relevant information in connection with the
assumptions adopted, including contract
agreements and subcontracts, correspondence
with customers regarding contract variations
and claims and by considering historical
outcomes for similar contracts;

e BBRMERTHEMKBRIBEENHER
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BEMNWFANETRENNETER I
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BRAENEDY FABBHOREERYES
HBHEEFREOE

o obtaining a detailed breakdown of the total
estimated costs to completion for all contracts
in progress during the year and comparing, on
a sample basis, actual costs incurred and
future cost estimates with agreements,
certifications or correspondence with
subcontractors and suppliers and other
documentation referred to by management in
its assessment of the estimated costs to
completion;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) FAEEXEE(F)

Contract accounting estimates (Continued)

B (E)

Refer to accounting policies 2(h) and 2(q) and Note 4 to the & 245 BRI S E 2(h) & 2(q) LA K HT

consolidated financial statements (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
EREKSBE

T4 (&)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMWERNAEEEHESEER

o comparing the contract revenue recognised
for contracts in progress during the year, on a
sample basis, with reference to the
certifications received for the customer,
discussing with management for any
significant difference;

o MBAXABRENETHREHNERNE
BPAEREPEWORBELR - W8
ERENmITMERER

° performing a retrospective review of contracts
completed during the current year by
comparing the final outcome of the contracts
with previous budgets made for those
contracts to assess the reliability of the
management’s forecasting process; and

e BBRANNRKRERENERZZESN
EHNBREMELE  HEAFETHNEL
EITEER - LT EERBERAREZD
AISENE I

o inspecting a sample of contract agreements
with customers and subcontractors to identify
key terms and conditions, including the
contract period, the contract sum, the scope
of work, and evaluating whether these key
terms and conditions had been appropriately
reflected in the total estimated revenue and
costs to complete in the forecast of the
outcome of the contracts.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We ¢

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

ommunicate with the those charged with governance

regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We a
state

Iso provide the those charged with governance with a
ment that we have complied with relevant ethical

requirements regarding independence and communicate with

them

all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be

thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

102

BB B AR S M | RAER
B (&)

s HEERAKEKLESTEENREMLE
HER URBARENERERE BT
RABEEHYE BESEFELEEIBK
BEARENEHHBERLEEFEEATD
BEM MERMAB/FEEATEEE
AIER BB SRFERAEIESAY
BRERPOBRBERE - AWEERETR -
AIRPIEERRFERBER - HINE
WOERBEZBERSE A LAMREHE
TBRE AWM RXEHHBERAELSE

B BERBTREFELE -

s HERAMBHRENBEZINA LB
MRS BREEE UREEHBHRERE
BUARFTA2IEER S REM -

e 3 EEEANERIXHEIINUKEEH
ERRREENEZERE NEHEAY
BHRREXRER -HMAE EXEEX
MR BEERAT BAREZE R
EREEE-

FREMERS - RARIEERETEINEREE
RRZHELEREZERSETER  BFERM
KRBT 5 B N BP B IR (M EKERFE o

BFIRARIEBRR B - SARMC A B
BUMEMBABERER  YRREEMNERER
REERREFERMBIMNMARENEME
R R (H@ER) 7B BB BT R AR 1T 8 &2 8
FEVRD g6 4E it



Annual Report 2023 / =% = ZF F 7}

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lau, Ming Tak Simeon.

D & PARTNERS CPA LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

Lau, Ming Tak Simeon

Practising Certificate Number: P07579

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / & JE£ & (32 5%) B R A 7

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEEkHEtEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 2 —Z - =F+ - A=+ —H I FE AETIIR)

2023 2022
—E-=F g

Note $000 $'000

e FBT FET

Revenue A 4 152,950 125,087

Cost of services i8N (133,743) (106,381)

Gross profit ER 19,207 18,706

Other income E b A 5 10,026 6,297

Administrative expenses THEX (28,465) (24,691)

Finance costs B T R AR 6(a) (65) (60)

Profit before taxation B %L A % 6 703 252

Income tax expense FrigHi il 7(a) (23) (14)

Profit and total comprehensive FRENRZEKZERE

income for the year 680 238
Earnings per share (HK cents) BRER GBI 11

— Basic — AR 0.07 0.02

— Diluted — s 0.07 0.02

The notes on pages 109 to 184 form part of these consolidated 55 109 E 184 B MM H B AR & B @k — 30

financial statements. 5 e
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TR ZFER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ma RN R

As at 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R =Z = =F+=A=+—8 (LB LIIR)

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=

Note $'000 $'000

e FBT FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plantand equipment )X - #&EkEE 0 120 2116 2,419
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 14 2,225 3,108
Trade and other receivables B 5 NHE M ER A 15 51,263 68,161
Contract assets ENEE 16(a) 28,739 22,254
Pledged bank deposits BIRIRITER 17(e) - 3,848
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFEEAS 17(a) 88,370 64,581
S 170,597 161,952
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 N E b T 5RIE 18 19,157 11,191
Contract liabilities BHIaE 16(b) 178 728
Lease liabilities HEBE 19 1,029 1,049
L 20364 12,968
Netcurrentassets ~~~~~ #"BRE®E 150,233 148,984
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERABAERE 152,349 151,403
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Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / & JE£ & (32 5%) B R A 7

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e KR &

As at 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R=ZE = =F+= A =+—8 (B TIIR)

2023 2022
—E-=F —EFE-=
Note $000 $'000
M FBT FET
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEalE 19 484 241
Deferred tax liabilities FEIETRIEAE 20(a) 37 14
- L SO 255
Net assets EEFE 151,828 151,148
Capital and reserves EAXR#E 22
Share capital [N 10,000 10,000
Reserves M 141,828 141,148
Total equity FERBE 151,828 151,148

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on ZBEE@R T _[UF= A -+t B ERFET

27 March 2024. % -
Cheung Yuen Tung Cheung Yuen Chau
RITE w’IT
Director Director
EF FF

The notes on pages 109 to 184 form part of these consolidated

FI109E 184 B MM sEB K AR A Bk —3f
financial statements. 9 e
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TR ZFER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) i Z2 —Z - =F+ - A=+ —H I FE GAETIIR)

Share Merger Share  Retained Total
capital reserve  premium earnings equity
BE EOHEE ROBE RKREBAN #EREE
(Note (Note
22(c)ii) 22(0)(i))
(M (Bt
22(c)ii)) 22(c)(i))
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
TET FET FET FERT FET
At 1 January 2022 R-B--%—HF—H 10,000 2,010 107,850 31,050 150,910
Changes in equity for2022: —E-_EEZ#E) !
Profit and total comprehensive “F R3%& &Il &2 2
income for the year W # s - - - 238 238
At 31 December2022and R=-ZE=-_
1 January 2023 +t=ZA=+—-HBK
—ZE-_=%—-HF—H 10,000 2,010 107,850 31,288 151,148
Changes in equity for 2023: —ZE-=FR&Z 2 :
Profit and total comprehensive “F R3% F| &2 2 H
income for the year Wi gE - - - 680 680
At 31 December 2023 R-ZEZ=F
+=-BA=+-—H 10,000 2,010 107,850 31,968 151,828

The notes on pages 109 to 184 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / & IB5 @ (32 %) ABR A 7]

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &2 —Z = =F+=-A=+—B 1t FEF B LIIR)

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E -4
Note $'000 $'000
Bt 5E FET T
Operating activities REES
Cash generated from/(used in) operations #& & %13,/ (FiA) R4 17(b) 19,160 (19,740)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BESEEATES(FTA)
__operating activities RER® 19060 (19,740)
Investing activities RETEH
Payment for purchase of property, EEME - MR
plant and equipment B0 (189) (554)
Proceeds from sale of property, HEYE - WS REREN
plant and equipment Fr5 318 30 -
Release of pledged bank deposits fRER B IR RITIER 3,848 378
Interest received B UF & 2,446 573
Decrease in time deposits with original REEARBB=E AL
maturity over three months T B 1F FOR - 35,000
Net cash generated from investing RETHMBREFH
adivities 835 35397
Financing activities REEE
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENEEREsMELRT Y 17(c) (1,441) (1,842)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENHEERSNFEHBD 17(c) (65) (60)
Net cash used in financing activities BHEZBFAREF®E = (1.506) (1,902)
Net increase in cash and ReRBESEEYIEINTFE
cash equivalents 23,789 13,755
Cash and cash equivalents FHNESRESEEY
at the beginning of the year 64,581 50,826
Cash and cash equivalents FRESRRESEEY
at the end of the year 17(a) 88,370 64,581

The notes on pages 109 to 184 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e T WRR MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB &8I © B LHIR)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the provision of installation of heat, ventilation
and air-conditioning system (the “HVAC") business in Hong
Kong. The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 11 April 2017 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.
The Company'’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 11 July 2018 (the “Listing”).

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA"), and the requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.
Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are
set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group. Note
2(c) provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current accounting
periods reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

—REHR

BIEEE (R BRI FAREKB AR (5
MIAEE]) TERTENSFREER &
R Kk Z=FHRRLRRGES (TBRABZ=H])
ARRMN-_F—tFOA+—ARERAE
BEEVE2R2ERAEDE(—NAN—FEH
BB RIER]) R S B BEMMK L R ER
RERAR -RZT—-—NF+tA+—H"
ARARBNERBEBMAXZMERATR
(TEexzpr)) ER EMR (T L) »

BEAGTTHEE

(a) EXEH
NGABBHRERTZBABERNE
B BRELEA ((BEMBREE
ANRE: sEEEgtmAe ([F
BErMAg]) BHEMTEEBER
EAMBHRELED  HE G LA
((BHESE]) RREBURESA
BHEBIE R E - AR E BRI A
AR ATES LR BIAEREBRGK
X REBRMANEASHBREER
T e

EEGHMAREEGSAEEH T
BEAR BT HAAREA NS
5T HRRY &K 2 B A IR R AR o B
2RI RS A REAR -
B RBRRA G B GAB R
BT &T BLAT 1 T A T 25 2 e R I
FEDEH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& % & 583 5h -

2

110

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, rounded to the nearest
thousand. The measurement basis used in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements is
the historical cost basis.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements and major sources
of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e T WRR MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB &8I © B LHIR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(9]

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these consolidated
financial statements for the current accounting period:

—  HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 and
February 2022 Amendments to HKFRS 17),
Insurance contracts

— Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of
accounting estimates

—  Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related
to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction

—  Amendments to HKAS 12, International Tax
Reform-Pillar Two model Rules

— Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has
had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

2 EARESTEE (&)

(o)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& % & 583 5h -

2
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(0

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies, changes
in accounting estimates and errors: Definition of
accounting estimates

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. The amendments define
accounting estimates as “monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items
in financial statements to be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncertainty. In such a case, an
entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve the
objective set out by the accounting policy. The
amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates, and changes in
accounting policies and the correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current year
had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred tax
related to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. The amendments narrow the
scope of the recognition exemption of deferred tax
liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15 and
24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes so that it no longer
applies to transactions that, on initial recognition, give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& 2% 588 5] -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(9]

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred tax
related to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction (Continued)

In accordance with the transition provision:

(i) the Group has applied the new accounting
policy retrospectively to leasing transactions and
provisions for decommissioning and restoration
that occurred on or after 1 January 2022;

(i)  the Group also, as at 1 January 2022, recognised
a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised) and a deferred tax
liability for all deductible and taxable temporary
difference associated with right-of-use-assets
and lease liabilities.

The application of the amendments in the current year
had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making
materiality judgements: Disclosure of accounting
policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements is amended to replace all
instances of the term “significant accounting policies”
with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements.

e T WRR MR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& % & 583 5h -

2
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(0

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making
materiality judgements: Disclosure of accounting
policies (Continued)

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events or conditions,
even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all
accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must
not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-
step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about
an accounting policy is material to its financial
statements. Guidance and examples are added to the
Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance but has affected the disclosure of the
Group’s accounting policies set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& 2% 588 5] -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is included in these
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and
any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing these
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are
made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 2(g)(ii)).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
Note 2(g)(ii)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items

of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated

residual value, if any, using the straight line method

over their estimated useful lives as follows:

— Leasehold improvements Shorter of 5 years

or unexpired terms
of lease

— Properties leased for own use Over the lease terms

— Furniture and fixtures 5 years

— Computer and office Shorter of 5 years

equipment or over the lease
terms
— Motor vehicles 4 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost or
valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis
between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& 2% 588 5] -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease
payments associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f)

Leased assets (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus
any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any
lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see Notes 2(e)
and 2(g)(ii)).

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for
separately from the right-of-use assets in accordance
with the accounting policy applicable to investments
in non-equity securities carried at amortised cost (see
notes 1(q)(ii) and 1(g)(i)). Any excess of the nominal
value over the initial fair value of the deposits is
accounted for as additional lease payments made and
is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change
in an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group'’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

(9)

Leased assets (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is
determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECLs") on the following
items:

— financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash equivalents
and trade and other receivables); and

—  contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15 (see
Note 2(h)).

Financial assets measured at fair value are not
subject to the ECL assessment.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(9)
(i)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

The expected cash shortfalls of fixed-rate
financial assets such as trade and other
receivables and contract assets are discounted
using the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof
where the effect of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This
includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items
to which the ECL model applies.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade and other receivables
and contract assets are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated based on the
probability of default with reference to available
market information, taking into account any
credit enhancement and, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of the financial instrument since
initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of
default occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition. In making this
reassessment, the Group considers that a default
event occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions such
as realising security (if any is held); or (ii) the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument'’s
external or internal credit rating (if
available);

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in
the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a
loss allowance account.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
Note 2(q)(ii) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount
less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the debtor;
or

—  the disappearance of an active market for
a security because of financial difficulties
of the issuer.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
contract asset is written off (either partially or in
full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that property, plant and
equipment including right-of-use assets may be
impaired or an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit). A portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset is allocated to
an individual cash-generating unit if the
allocation can be done on a reasonable
and consistent basis, or to the smallest
group of cash-generating units if
otherwise.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying value of an
asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable
amount. A reversal of an impairment loss
is limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see Note 2(q)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under the
payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets
are assessed for ECLs in accordance with the policy set
out in Note 2(g)(i) and are reclassified to receivables
when the right to the consideration has become
unconditional (see Note 2(j)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see Note 2(g)). A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised
(see Note 2())).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a
net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see Note
2(q)(ii)).

e T WRR MR

A TTHIR)

2 EARESTEE (&)

(h)

BHNEEREGNER

RIRE 0P8N AR A R R I
BB R A (R FE20a) - B
EHMRANEE - ANBEEREBWFE
2090 FEBRFEERPEERRE -
A 7 WCER AR B B U B 7 B R (B B2
#hoy $E R MR TR (IR 2() -

REPXMNRER  AEERERHE
WAR (RHEE2) @ AIEEREH
BE o W AN SRR A R RO
EBREREBERA  TEERANE
B-RZFBERT  TEEREERE
WoskaE (RMEEE2() e

HEFME-—SOEANEEFENL
BHREFEE) - RBHEAHMS -
THEANNEHNEERANARET
SUNFEEERTD -

EANSAEAREND MENE
HRERRBERNZAEAONE (R
FREE 2(a)ii)) ©

127



Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / & JE£ & (32 5%) B R A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& % & 583 5h -

2

128

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0}

()

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, in the process of
production for such sale or in the form of materials or
supplies to be consumed in the production process or
in the rendering of services. Inventories are carried at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
calculated using the first in first out method and
comprises all costs of purchase and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as
an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset (see Note 2(h)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see Note 2(g)(i)).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k)

U]

(m)

(n)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
in hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECLs in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2(g)

().

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy for borrowing costs (see
Note 2(r)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and subsequently stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is
deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n)

(o)

Employee benefits (Continued)

The Group has a defined benefit plan of LSP (“Long
Service Payment”) under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The Group’s net obligation in respect of
defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each
plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in the current and prior periods
and discounting that amount. The estimated amount of
future benefit is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits
derived from the Group’s Mandatory Provident Fund
contributions that have been vested with employees,
which are deemed to be contributions from the relevant
employees.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(o)

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that
will arise from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary difference or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset
can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are
adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or
credit can be utilised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enabled at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is
reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(o)

132

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company
or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
the following additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Company or the Group intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered, intend
to realise the current tax assets and settle
the current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(p) Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous
contracts
(i) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(ii)

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required
to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed
by another party, a separate asset is recognised
for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount
of the provision.

Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group has
a contract under which the unavoidable costs of
meeting the obligations under the contract
exceed the economic benefits expected to be
received from the contract. Provisions for
onerous contracts are measured at the present
value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the net cost of
continuing with the contract.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer. The Group
recognises revenue when it transfers control over a
product or service to a customer. “Control” refers to
the customer’s ability to direct the use of and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits from an

(a)

asset.

(1)

Contract revenue

Revenue of services transferred over time is
recognised progressively based on the contract
costs incurred to date as a percentage of total
forecast costs to depict the transfer of control of
the services to the customer. The Group
recognises revenue over time only if it can
reasonably measure its progress toward
complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation. However, if the Group cannot
reasonably measure the outcome but expects to
recover the costs incurred in satisfying the
performance obligation, then it recognises
revenue to the extent of the costs incurred.

Any unconditional rights to consideration are
presented separately as “Trade receivables”.

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on
input method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of a performance obligation relative
to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of
that performance obligation, that best depict
the Group’s performance in transferring control
of goods or services.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(q) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Contract revenue (Continued)

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration,
the Group estimates the amount of consideration
to which it will be entitled using either (a) the
expected value method or (b) the most likely
amount, which better predicts the amount of
consideration to which the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the
extent that it is highly probable that such an
inclusion will not result in a significant revenue
reversal in the future when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
updates the estimated transaction price (including
updating its assessment of whether an estimate
of variable consideration is constrained) to
represent faithfully the circumstances present at
the end of the reporting period and the changes
in circumstances during the reporting period.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(r)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i) Government grants
Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a
systematic basis in the same periods in which
the expenses are incurred. Grants that
compensate the Group for the cost of an asset
are deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and consequently are effectively recognised
in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset
by way of reduced depreciation expense.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the
cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing
costs are being incurred and activities that are
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for
its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s) Related parties

)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s)

®

Related parties (Continued)
(2)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (s)(1).

A person identified in (s)(1)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management personnel
of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in these consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of
the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.
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ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumption concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

(a)

Loss allowances on trade receivables and other
receivables and contract assets

For trade receivables and other receivables and
contract assets, the Group applies the simplified
approach to provide for ECL as prescribed by HKFRS 9,
which requires the use of the lifetime ECL allowance
for all trade receivables and other receivables and
contract assets. The loss allowance for financial assets
are based on assumptions about risk of default and
expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the loss allowance calculation, based on the Group's
past history, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking estimates at the end of reporting
period. Management reassesses the loss allowance at
each reporting date.
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ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

Revenue recognition

As explained in Note 2(q), revenue and profit
recognition on a project is dependent on
management’s estimation of the progress of the
satisfaction of performance obligations of a
construction contract over time, measured by actual
contract costs incurred to date to estimate total
contract costs for the contract. Based on the Group’s
recent experience and the nature of the construction
activity undertaken by the Group, the Group reviews
and revises the estimates of contract revenue, contract
costs and variation order, prepared for each
construction contract as the contract progresses.
Budgeted construction costs are prepared by
management on the basis of quotations from time to
time provided by the major subcontractors, suppliers
and vendors involved and the experience of
management. In order to keep the budget accurate
and up-to-date, management conducts periodic
reviews of the budgeted construction costs and revises
the budgeted construction costs as appropriate.

Significant judgement is required in estimating the
contract revenue, contract costs and variation work
which may have an impact on percentage of
completion of the construction contracts and the
corresponding profit taken. In addition, actual
outcome in terms of total revenue or costs may be
higher or lower than estimation at the end of the
reporting period, which would affect the revenue and
profit recognised in future years as an adjustments to
the amounts recorded to date.

A TTHIR)

3 ErtHERMEE (F&)

it FRERE (&)
(b) AR

HANF E20) TR - BB A K
EANERIOANEEBY —BRE[A
BEAHNNBENE T TACERER
it AREREDREBRANBEMNEL
MERG QR AE AT A QKA
RGHE - REBEAEE AT RER K
AEEAZEERSNEE - K&
BN & HETRRN RMEFTRERE
BHRENEHBA  ABHKART
REEECMH; BEERESHER
BONEZNEE HEBRES T
RENBENEEEBNLR  GRE
ERATER - BERERRENNE
5 EEBEMENHRET (WER)
FRIERATRE

BEAHRA AR AREE TR
FERERAE  SERETERESR
KBV TEAC L O AR FE S ) © e b - L
BBAIRAME - AR E A2 &S
THEAE BERERTESNIER
WS MR EAET - (R 8 ROR R HE
REVUA B A o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& 2% 588 5] -

e T WRR MR

A TTHIR)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 WARDHBER
Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received or WATE RN EBFE RS 42 Yk Y Hh 30
receivable from the service contracts by the Group to EFPFRENATFE AEEZERFAE
external customers. The Group's operation is solely derived BT —FRFT - F+ZRA=+—
from provision of HVAC business in Hong Kong during the HEFERBEAKEERERHEL - E
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. For the purpose BAMERRBFEME  TELEARKE
of resources allocation and performance assessment, the FRASERNEEEERTBAR - Bt -
chief operating decision maker reviews the overall results REBEEE —EE —KEDH - WA W2
and financial position of the Group as a whole. Accordingly, Pl B — S EBEVE — B IS E RIS AT -
the Group has only one single operating segment and no
further discrete financial information nor analysis of this
single segment is presented.
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (a) WA#HZD
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with B AEREERRBENE S EP
customers by timing of revenue recognition and type BHAWARBABS O -
of service are as follows:
Revenue from contracts with customers within the BB IR E R E 15 K HE AR E
scope of HKFRS 15 F & AIRA
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-
$'000 $'000
FET FHET
Disaggregated by timing of revenue ZWAREREBMA S
recognition
Products transferred at a point in time A R85 R ShE M E B 31,077 19,284
Services transferred over time B i R B8 R 1) AR 75 121,873 105,803
152,950 125,087
Disaggregated by type of service RIS E B Ao
Installation services only FL R 70,568 84,640
Installation services with HVAC systems &3 RIS IER B R4 EREE
procurements 82,382 40,447
152,950 125,087
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 WARSHER (&)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Transaction price allocated to the remaining (b) PEHEFHBHNEENRZE

performance obligations

The following tables include revenue expected to be TEREEBHN_BE-_=FR-_T__

recognised in the future related to performance FHZA=Z+—HKREK (EHDF

obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) ER)WBHETMBEEHSR KRR

as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. REVUA o

2023 —EZ=H $'000

FER
Remaining performance obligations expected AR BZUT AHLEFER
to be satisfied during the year ending: ERNRISBEANEE:

31 December 2024 —E-ME+-A=1+—H 93,652

31 December 2025 —E-AFt+-A=1+—H 91,506

After 31 December 2025 —E-_RHE+_A=+—H{ 28,488
213,646

2022 —F-= $'000

FHET
Remaining performance obligations expected FEHEREBZUTHHILFER
to be satisfied during the year ending: ERNESBENEL:

31 December 2023 —E=F+ZHA=+—H 96,851

31 December 2024 —E-NFE+-A=t—H 120,776

After 31 December 2024 —E-NFE+_A=+—H#%E 133,487
351,114
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(9]

(d)

Geographical information

The Company is an investment holding company and
the principal place of the Group’s operation is in Hong
Kong. For the purpose of segment information
disclosures under HKFRS 8, the Group regards Hong
Kong as its place of domicile. No geographical
information is presented as the Group is principally
engaged in HVAC business in Hong Kong.

Information about major customers

The Group’s customer base includes three (2022: one)
customers with whom transaction has exceeded 10%
of the Group’s revenue. Revenue from customer
during the year ended 31 December 2023 contributing
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as
follows:

Customer A ZEA
Customer B (Note) ZFB(W)
Customer C (Note) =P C(fisr)

e T WRR MR

A TTHIR)

4 WARZHESR (&)

(o)

(d)

EER

KRR BEREER AR MAEEE
TEEEMBATE - RBRBEFBVIS
HRELEBESHPRSBERME -
AEBREEAEEMBIHOE - AR
REBEBREBUERBETHER
B 4 2 5 [ B R o

BEBEXEEFNER
TEEMNEFPHEBRE -4 (ZE ==
F:—R)RXFBEEREBRRABB
10%NEF - BE_T-_=9+_A4
—t+—HLEFE hAEERLKE
10% A EBEFPRZERT -

2023 2022
—E-= =
$'000 $'000
TR TR
69,552 81,270
35,104 5,022
30,295 7,855

Note:

The transactions did not exceed 10% of the Group’s revenue during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

B RE -

HE-_T-_—#+_A=+—HIEE "
DARBBAREBRAZ10% °

SR
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& % & 583 5h -

A TTHIR)

5 OTHER INCOME 5 HielrA
2023 2022
—Z-= —E-=
$'000 $'000
FET FHEIT
Bank interest income RITH B WA 2,819 654
Repair and other service income HE1E B B A R A5 A 6,721 2,480
Gain on early termination of lease RERIEHEERZE 2 2
Government grants — Employment BB & — tRBLEFH B (B E1)

Support Scheme (Note i) - 3,008
Government grants — others (Note i) BB e — B (FFsEii) 27 -
Net reversal of expected credit loss on trade & 5 M E b EURFRIB LA K & 4 E &

and other receivables and contract assets ~ TE Hi{Z & /&5 18 # [0 ;% 58 - 133
Over-provision of long services payment REIAR TG EBRE A 257 -
Sundry income FEIFUA 200 20

10,026 6,297
Note: FitsE -

(i) In 2022, the Group successfully applied for funding support of
HK$3,008,000 from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-
epidemic Fund, set up by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region. The purpose of the funding is to provide
financial support to enterprises to retain their employees who would
otherwise be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the
Group is required not to make redundancies during the subsidy period
and to spend all the funding on paying wages to the employees. No
government grants in relation to Employment Support Scheme was
received in 2023.

(ii) The Group recognised the government grants of HK$27,000 (2022:

Nil) under Construction Innovation and Technology Fund from
Construction Industry Council.
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(i)

RZZZZF  AEEXDAEBFHRTTERER
R EREES TZRRENERFERED
3,008,000/8 L % E & E M2 A EREN K
TH UNRBREASWRANE T - RIEWHE S
B AEEEHBBARNTERE - WAKHA
BeARIHEENIE R-ZT_=F &%
ERBREE BRI ETEOBITHEDS -

AEBRAUDNEEXZSEFATRBHE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f & #5885 - LLBTTHIR)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

6

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

BR B Al i A
B BEAT M R ORI () AT & E &
EE

2023 2022
—E-=F —_EF-—
$'000 $'000
FE T FET
(a) Finance costs (a) BFIEMA
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 65 60
(b) Staff costs (including directors’ (b) EIRK(BEEEHS)
emoluments)
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe - TENREMET 31,157 31,180
Contributions to defined contribution TE R SR IRET B3k
retirement plan 1,000 1,105
32,157 32,285
() Otheritems (0 HfEHE
Depreciation e
— owned property, plant and — BEERYE - WEREE
equipment 680 300
— right-of-use assets, including in — REEE BEE
cost of services AR 75 R 2R 547 -
— right-of-use assets, including in — FREEE BEE
administrative expenses ITHREZ 894 1,741
2,121 2,041
Net impairment/(reversal) of expected B 5 K H b e U TE A &
credit loss on trade and other AEHEERHREEEE
receivables and contract assets BUE(BE) F58 1,763 (133)
(Over-provision)/provision of long RERB S (BERE)
services payment B (257) 587
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  EERERED
equipment 18 7 -
Auditors’ remuneration Z B A B 730 700
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7 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 7 FiEBEAX
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit (a) HEEEREtEZEWRFERPHFHE

or loss and other comprehensive income

5

represents:
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
$'000 $'000
FBxT FAET
Deferred tax ELEBLIE
Origination of temporary differences T EENEE 23 14
Hong Kong Profit Tax is calculated at 16.5% in the BEENESTIRMEFE 2 A ERM

estimated assessable profit for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made as the Company and its subsidiaries in Hong
Kong have either sustained losses for tax purpose or
their unused tax losses were sufficient to cover their
estimated assessable profits for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

(b) Reconciliation between income tax expense and

(b)

M2 16.5% 5T E -

HREBE-_FT_=FrR_F_—

TZAZ+—ALFEARBARER
BENMBARKIAN S ELER
K E KRB AT IAE R R A B G

FERRBLE A - R LB B NS BHAE
B o

FreHm BRERARRAENS
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accounting profit at applicable tax rates: AR T ¢
2023 2022
—Z-= —E=-=
$'000 $'000
FET FHEIT
Profit before taxation B 756 AT 703 252
National tax on profit before taxation ~ BR §iis& F 79 % 3 £ 08 116 42
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses T~ A] HBR B A IS & 790 499
Tax effect of non-taxable income HEERBIBMAN R G E (465) (623)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses EEIN ﬁﬂiﬁﬁ R BIIEE1E
previously not recognised B2 (554) (868)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised A< ZR %1 18 5 18 MO Bl 155 52 28 83 964
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERA N YR58
differences not recognised mgEE 53 -
Income tax expense for the year FEMERAX 23 14
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f & #5885 - LLBTTHIR)

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 8 EEME
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) RIEE B R MG 5 383(1) ik & (A R) (3
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the BESMNRER BRI E2BEENES
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of emT :
Directors) Regulation are as follows:
Salaries,
allowances
and Performance  Retirement
Directors benefits related scheme
fees in kind bonus contributions Total
Eiic
ER AR *AHE BRGHE
EEme HUBHER 4L it @t
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Bt aE TET TERT TER TET TER
2023 —BC=F
Chairman S
Mr. Cheung Yuen Tung — RT#5E 4% (i) - 1,824 152 18 1,994
Executive director HITEE
Mr. Cheung Yuen Chau R # 4 (i) - 1,800 150 18 1,968
Independent BUFNTEE
non-executive Directors
Mr. Law Chung Lam EMRIEE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Pang Kam Fai EHEEE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Lau Yu Ching BIMIEEE 120 - - - 120
360 3,624 302 36 4,322
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8 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

A TTHIR)

8 EEM= (&)

Salaries,
allowances
and  Performance Retirement
Directors benefits related scheme
fees in kind bonus  contributions Total
e
BRI Ees eyl RIRGTE
BEHE  UEDEA TEAL 3% @at
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
BizE FAEx FEL TEL TER FEL
2022 —EC-CE
Chairman EY
Mr. Cheung Yuen Tung — RT#B5E4E () - 1,824 152 18 1,994
Executive director HITEE
Mr. Cheung Yuen Chau  SRT M7t 4 (i) - 1,800 150 18 1,968
Independent BUFNTEE
non-executive Directors
Mr. Law Chung Lam MRS 150 - - - 150
Mr. Pang Kam Fai EHELE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Lau Yu Ching BRIERLE 150 - - - 150
450 3,624 302 36 4412
Note: FtsE -

(i) During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
emoluments of Mr. Cheung Yuen Tung and Mr. Cheung Yuen Chau
were paid by the subsidiaries of the Company.

(ii) No director received any emoluments from the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for
loss of office during the year. No arrangement under a director waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year.
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IHFE RTBAERETREENHEHAR
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INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 9
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two
(2022: two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed

e T WRR MR

A TTHIR)

REFMAL

hE&ERSHFMALH ME (2T
ME) REE  WEZMES NI E8IKE -

in Note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of ER=ZFB(ZBEZZF:=ZR) AT 2HEB
the other three (2022: three) individuals are as follows: EWT
2023 2022
—E=-= —E=-—
$'000 $'000
FBT FHETT
Salaries and other benefits e REMET 2,143 2,372
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R KAE 5T &) 5 54 54
2,197 2,426
The emoluments of the three (2022: three) individuals with =R (CE - —F  =ZR) B ALTH
the highest emoluments are within the following band: FNEATEHER :
2023 2022
—E-=HF g
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE AE
Nil to $1,000,000 Z 0% 1,000,000 7T 3 3
DIVIDEND 10 KB
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final EFEETERARNBE_E-_=F+=A
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). =T BLEFERMRS(ZZE__F &)
EARNINGS PER SHARE 11 8RER

(a) Basic earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders
of the Company of HK$680,000 (2022: HK$238,000)
and the weighted average of 1,000,000,000 ordinary
shares (2022: 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares) in issue
during the year.

(b) Diluted earnings per share

The amount of diluted earnings per share is the same

as the basic earnings per share for the years ended 31

December 2023 and 2022 as there were no dilutive

potential ordinary shares in issue.

(a) EBREXREF
BREARFTRAD R L BEERS
Ji% B8 FE (3% %11 680,000 8 T (Z T = —
% :238,0008 L) R FRNE #EIT
1,000,000,000 f& Ei@A% (= F = =4 :
1,000,000,000 % & 38 J%) 2 hntE 35

e
HETE -

EREEEF
BE_Z_=FRK-_FT-_—_F+_-A1
=+—HBLFE ARASETELR
EBEEERENEETERR  HE
RE#ERF N ¢ REEFRERNEFIE
ﬁ °

(b)
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12 Y%  HBERXE

A TTHIR)

Reconciliation of carrying amount: (a) IREEHIR:
Other
properties Furniture Computer
Leasehold |eased for and and office Motor
improvements own use equipment equipment vehicles Total
EtER ElR
HENERE HENE BRRRE BAERE fE @t
§'000 §'000 §'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
TET TET TET TET TAT TET
Cost: A
At 1 January 2022 RZE-—#-f-H 748 3,730 21 769 3,606 8,974
Additions HE - 1,059 4 109 551 1,723
Early termination of lease RELIEE - (322) - (162) - (484)
At 31 December 2022 RZTZZF+ZA=1-8
and 1 January 2023 k=E-=£-H-H 748 4,407 125 716 4157 10,213
Additions HE - 1,637 - 79 158 1,874
Disposals & - (56) - 9 (252) 317)
Early termination of lease RELIHAE - (57) - - - (57)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZEFZA=+-H 748 5991 125 786 4,063 11,713
Accumulated depreciation: B3 E
At 1 January 2022 W-2--#-f-H 748 2,337 121 514 2,475 6,195
Charge for the year EMRER - 1374 1 107 559 2,041
Elimination of early BHRFRILAE
termination of lease - (295) - (147) - (442)
At 31 December 2022 RZZZZF+ZR=1-A
and 1 January 2023 k=%-=%-HA-H 748 3416 122 474 3,034 7,794
Charge for the year EMER - 1364 1 9% 660 2,121
Elimination of Disposals HERH - (56) - 9 (215) (280)
Elimination of early RHRFHLAE
termination of lease - (39) - - - (38)
A31 December 2023 RB_ZRI-A=t7R [ g6 B B AT 997
Net book value: REFE:
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZ#+ZA=+-H - 1,051 3 214 1123 2,419
At 31 December 2023 R-B-ZE+ZA=+-H - 1305 2 25 584 2,116

BE TGN _ZT-_—F+_A
—t+—H HEDE- EEREKES
AR o

No property, plant and equipment has been pledged
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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(b) Right-of-use assets (b) FRHEEE

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use

Annual Report 2023 / =% — = F 5§

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T WRR MR
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R EERAREEERPIENRK

assets by class of underlying asset is as follows: EFESTET

2023 2022
—Eg== —F=-=
Note $'000 $'000
B EE FET FHEIT
Other properties leased Hing AHEEME

for own use (i) 1,305 1,051
Computer and office equipment & Ji§ & i1 A = % & (i) 187 216
1,492 1,267

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases

EEGTERNEREABNMAXA

recognised in profit or loss is as follows: BAaT :
2023 2022
—EZ=HF T
$'000 $'000
FTHER FHET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use ERAREERABEE
assets by class of underlying asset: HAMITEER -
Other properties leased for own use HEmaRAHEEME 1,364 1,374
Motor vehicles qE - 289
Computer and office equipment BRI AERME 77 78
1,441 1,741
Gain on early termination of lease REKRIEAS Y (T EES)
(Note 5) 2 2
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 6(a)) HEBENE (HE6@)) 65 60
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
$1,685,000 (2022: $1,168,000). This amount included
the capitalised lease payments payable under lease of
office premises, warehouses and photocopies.

152

(b)

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the
maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in Notes
17(d) and 19, respectively.

(1)

(ii)

Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other
properties as its office premises and warehouses
through tenancy agreements. The leases typically
run for an initial period of 1 to 3 years.

The lease does not include an option to renew
the lease for an additional period after the end
of the contract term.

Other leases

The Group leases motor vehicles and office
equipment under leases expiring from 2 to 3
years. Leases include an option to purchase the
leased motor vehicles and office equipment at
the end of the lease term at a price deemed to
be a bargain purchase option. None of the
leases includes variable lease payments. During
the year, the leased motor vehicles under hire
purchase was fully settled and transferred to
property, plant and equipment.

A TTHIR)

12 W5 - M RHRE (R

FHEESE (&)
FAFAEEERLINT 1,6850007T

(b)

—= — —

=

©1,168,0007T) ° k&%

BREBAE EEHERFHETRE
NZERNMBENK -

HEMNRREABAGMEERE
BE B A 0 RIS FE 17(d) B2 19 »

(1)

(ii)

HthEHHEYF
AEECEAHERZESRE
REMYEERER DGR
BEMNERN - ZHEH MR
RE1E3F -

ZHEMBERANHERRE
BHREENERN -

HBE
AREAELEOR2EITE
HOATRBAERE - EE
BEA LB E MR
AT 58 75 216 B b {8 15 B8 4
WEESEARDRM A
MEHTREARBENR -
7 IAF I S
ERHMEALHANE #EB
R
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 13 REBRTANRE

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries TREBESTIEXEREEEE BEN
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of BENMBARFB -BREAEHBAN B
the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless BEROE\ERNREBER -

otherwise stated.

Proportion of ownership interest

FrE gL Bl
Particulars of Group's
Place and date of issued and effective ~ Heldbythe  Held bythe Principal
Name of Company incorporation paid-up capital interest Company subsidiary  activity
t B 4 BETR r&E AR HMEAR
AREB REH BEREFHE BRgR ) BE TEER
Man Tung Air-conditioning ~ Hong Kong/ 1,000,000 100% - 100%  HVAC Business
E&M Limited 9 April 2008 ordinary shares
ERLAKERRAR EE/ 1,000,000 & M 100% - 100% ERRZEHEH
ZZT\EMANE
Man Tung Air-conditioning ~ Hong Kong/ 1,000,000 100% - 100%  HVAC Business
Works Limited 19 November 1996 ordinary shares
EBLRAIRERAR EE/ 1,000,000 & M 100% - 100% ERZEHEH
—ANRE+-ATAR
Shun Tung Engineering Hong Kong/ 10,000 100% - 100%  HVAC Business
Company Limited 6 November 1998 ordinary shares
ERLRERIRERAR FE/ 10,000 &3 100% - 100% ERREHEH
—ANE+—ARE
INVENTORIES 14 78
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=
$'000 $'000
THERT FET
Raw materials R A4 % 2,225 3,108
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15

154

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

A TTHIR)

15 EZREMEWVRE

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—8
2023 2022
—E-=F —EFE-=

$'000 $'000

FH T FET

Trade receivables, net of loss allowance B RWGIE - Ik EERE 21,724 37,391
Deposits, prepayment and other receivables &< « 7815 5 & E b & W 5118 2,814 4,413
Retention receivables, net of loss allowance FEMWI(REZ & - 14 B 1B EE 26,725 26,357
51,263 68,161

As at 31 December 2023, the amounts of retention
receivables expected to be recovered after more than one
year is approximately HK$14,185,000 (2022:
HK$23,164,000). All of the other trade and other
receivables are expected to be recovered or recognised as
expense within one year.

Ageing analysis

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade receivables (which are included in trade and other
receivables), based on the date of payment certificate and
net of loss allowance, is as follows:

R-E-_=F+-_A=+—8 FEHIR
—FRrBEENERRBLSHEY
14,185,000 7T (— & — — 4F : 23,164,000
BIT) o FTEEME 5 & E b FEUGRIATE 57
AIA—FE AU E SR AR -

AR 2 AT

RBEHR RBAFEAHE D LEHN
BRERRENEZREFEGTAESRE
b EUYRIR) MO RRER DATIN T

As at 31 December

R+=ZBA=+—H
2023 2022
—E=-= —EF-=

$'000 $'000

FET FAT

Within 1 month 1@ AR 20,859 35,644
1 to 3 months 12318A 138 1,078
Over 3 months 3@ A M+ 727 669
21,724 37,391

Trade receivables are due within 30 to 45 days from the
date of payment certificate.

B RWGRIEBRRES B 30245
SAEIRE
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16 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 16 SHNEEREGHNAR
LIABILITIES
(a) Contract assets (a) BHEE

As at 31 December

R+=—HA=+—H
2023 2022
—==-= —E=-=
$'000 $'000
FExT FHET
Arising from performance under EEBRITLZESH
installation contracts, net of MR EIE RS
loss allowance 28,739 22,254
Receivables from contracts with BB HREERE 155
customers within the scope of HENKEZTFEHH
HKFRS 15, which are included in FEWEIAE GTATE S &
“Trade and other receivables” H b pE A D) 48,449 63,748

As at 1 January 2022, contract assets amounted to
$15,058,000.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's
right to consideration for work completed and not
billed because the rights are conditioned on the
Group’s future performance. The contract assets are
transferred to trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount
of contract assets recognised are as follows:

MR-ZE-_—_F—H—H AYEER
815,058,000 7T, °

BHEEXTREAKEFD TRER
WHRE TR BN B R B R -
RZEMBURN AN EE 2 RRKER -
ERMKSEGHE  ANEEER
B 5 WA -

HEERANEESRBRTEN—
RRAS AT
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16 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

156

(a)

Contract assets (Continued)

Installation contracts

The Group’s installation contracts include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the
installation period once milestones are reached. These
payment schedules prevent the build-up of significant
contract assets. The Group typically agrees to a
retention period ranging from 12-month period to
24-month period for 5% to 10% of the contract
value. This amount is included in the retention
receivables until the end of the retention period as the
Group’s entitlement to this final payment is
conditional on the Group’s work satisfactorily passing
inspection. When the retention period is due and the
right to the retention is unconditional, this amount is
included in the trade receivables.

As at 31 December 2023, net retentions held by
customer for contract work was approximately
$26,725,000 (2022: $26,357,000) and have been
included in trade and other receivables (see Note 15).

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in
Note 23(b).

A TTHIR)

16 SHNEERGHAEE(E)

(a)

BREE(F)

LTREH
$’il;z“*/—\?’7&%f5’\§“*3ﬂf'ﬂ£fﬁ
DHNFRONRER(—BEREZE
B HENKRARHLEBERERA
MEE AKE-—RKREEMS%E
10%MAENEERESHIZEAZE
248 A 9 PRE B o AN SR [ AUt
E—i5<1ﬁmﬁ’9%7f'JE’$$%lI% ST iE
EIRR T AFE ﬁﬁl&t%%ﬁ?ﬂkﬁ’é
WrEBT BEEREBEHMERBL - K
R HHFﬁJ’ﬁﬁH&ZHM% é%%ﬂ)ﬂ%%
BRI RSB AR SRR -

HE-_ZT-_=-F+=-RA=+—8"
EFRBAEZCEFAHNIERES
#497/426,725,000C (—Z & — —
26,357,0007C) F WEHAZESH M E
fth FEUGRIR (RIEE15) °

BERF AR BN 230) °
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16 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 16 EHNEEREGHNERE (A
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Contract liabilities (b) EHERE
2023 2022
—E-=F —EFE-—
$'000 $'000
FBxT FHT
Contract liabilities EHEAaE
Installation contracts ZEE L
— Billings in advance of performance  — JBU B XI5 IE 178 728
As at 1 January 2022, there was no contract liabilities. RZE-—_F—A—H WEEAEH
BE-
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount HERRENEGESERKTEN —
of contract liabilities recognised are as follows: MRAT R T
Installation contracts ZREH
When the Group receives a stage payment over the e 75 52 [ 70 42 14 AR 755 AT A2 20 3 R fE
installation period before the services are performed, BOBNR - AEEENBE EE
this gives rise to contract liabilities, until the revenue MENTIRERAW AR D B
recognised on the contract work exceeds the amount HeERIL -

of stage payment.
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16 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 16 ENEEREGHNAE(E)
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Contract liabilities (Continued) (b) EHEREE)
Movements in contract liabilities AR B EaE
2023 2022
—E-= g
$'000 $'000
FExT FET
Balance at 1 January R—A—B®&EH 728 -
Decrease in contract liabilities as a FARBRTAFEVELD
result of recognising revenue during BEMNBRAGEHELD
the year that was included in the aEmD
contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year (563) -
Increase in contract liabilities as a result 22 2 5% B 14 78 U 0B E 5
of billing in advance of installation BHBEEN
activities 13 728
Balance at 31 December R+—B=+—HHN#&H% 178 728
No billings in advance of performance and instalments 1B TR ST AR AR 75 R M ER 5 B SR ey
received are expected to be recognised as income FREBFEHEN —FERERR/WA -
after more than one year.
17 CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND AND 17 BRIRFERSURHEMR SR
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION EER
(a) Cash at bank and in hand comprise: () |MOTRFHEESE:
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=
$'000 $'000
FET FET
Cash at banks and in hand and IRITRFHEEE R
cash and cash equivalents in the FAaRERERTH
consolidated cash flow statement RekBREEED 88,370 64,581
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17 CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND AND

17

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION EER (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (b)

used in operations:

BOTRFERSUREMBRER

REAGFNRECEMARENYER:

2023 2022
—==-= —E=-=
Note $'000 $'000
{hg=3 FExT FHET
Profit before taxation BR B A& 703 252
Adjustments for: HUATFIBEL L
Depreciation of property, M MBERBETE
plant and equipment 6(c) 680 300
Depreciation of ERAREENE
right-of-use assets 6(c) 1,441 1,741
Finance costs B 7% i 7R 6(a) 65 60
Bank interest income HRITHAEHA 5 (2,819) (654)
Net impairment/(reversal) of B 5 K H A YR
expected credit loss on LA K2 & #) & EE 78 B
trade and other receivables SEEBRE(BR)
and contract assets HEE 6(c) 1,763 (133)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - HER
plant and equipment BER EE 6(c) 7 -
Over-provision of REIRB ¢ @BEEE
long service payment 6(c) (257) -
Gain on early termination REZLEEERER
of lease 5 (2) (2)
Operating cash flows before LEEREHIL
changes in working capital KERESRE 1,581 1,564
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories 7Z &4~ (3€0) 883 (245)
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and & 5 & H i E I FIA
other receivables B, () 16,693 (7,139
Net movement in contract assets AHEENALNEEFE
and contract liabilities (8,220) (6,533)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade and 8 5 K H {th JiE < 5018
other payables #hn G 8,223 (7,387)
Cash generated from/(used in) KL EKE,/(FTR)
operations B 19,160 (19,740)
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17 CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

17 RTRFERSUREMB SR
BEEH (F)

(CONTINUED)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (0 FREEBETEMEELEENYHE
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s TRFMAEERE TS 2 BEES) -
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash BREReRIERSET - @EEEFT
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from EENBEEATRSRESRKR
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows EREFNAEESZERERERD
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the HARERDFEANRERENE
Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash 8

160

flows from financing activities.

Lease
liabilities
HeEBE
$'000
FETT
(Note 19)
(MtzE19)
At 1 January 2022 R=-B=-=—F—-HA—H 2,007
Changes from financing cash flows: MmERERES
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEEHRSNERL Y (1,842)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEEReMA B (60)
Total changes from financing cash flows &R en&8Lees (1,902)
Other changes: Hine g
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into FRBRETZFEA MG
new leases during the year WHEEE 1,168
Interest expenses (Note 6(a)) FERASZ (iE6a) 60
Early termination of lease REHLESE (43)
Totalotherchanges  ~ H#®®esr 0 1,185
At 31 December 2022 R-ZB-=—F+=-HA=+—H 1,290




Annual Report 2023 / =% — = F 5§

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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17 RTRFERSUREMB SR

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 2E8 (&)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (00 FEETBMELEENHEREE)
activities (Continued)
Lease
liabilities
HEAE
$'000
FET
(Note 19)
(PfFzE19)
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=%—H—H 1,290
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSREF
Capital element of lease rentals paid ERHEREESHERT D (1,441)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEERSHNFEHY (65)
Total changes from financing cash flows &R en8&e@es (1,506)
Other changes: Hins g
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into FRBERFTZFEA MG M
new leases during the year WHEEAR 1,685
Interest expenses (Note 6(a)) BT (HiEe@)) 65
Early termination of lease RERIHEE (21)
Totalotherchanges H#®®esr 00 1729
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=5+=A=+—H 1,513
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17 CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(d) Total cash outflow for leases
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for

B TLEIT)
17 RTRFERESUREMBAER
BEEHR (&)

(d HERSRHARE
HERERERTHEREREATE

leases comprise the following: 18 :
2023 2022
—E-= —_F-—
$'000 $'000
FET FHET
Within financing cash flows ERERLRNA 1,506 1,902

These amounts relate to the following:

Lease rentals paid BENE®

ZETRETIIZRAEM

2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-=
$'000 $'000
FET FAT
1,506 1,902

(e) Pledged bank deposits
The balances represent deposits pledged to secure the
issuance of performance bonds by banks. There was
no pledged bank deposits carry fixed interest rate
during the year (2022: 3.80% to 3.85%).

162

(e) THEREITER
EHRIEAENRITELNBORES
MEFOTR - FRTEDIEPRT
GRIZEEHNE(ZEZZF :3.80%
£385%)FH 8 °
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 18 EZRHMENRE
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2023 2022
—E-=F —EFEq-—
$'000 $'000
FExT FHT
Trade payables B 5 IE 11,771 3,782
Accrued subcontracting costs FEST D B A 2,665 2,704
Other payables and accruals Hin eI IERESTE A 4,391 4,118
Provision for long service payment AR BB 330 587
19,157 11,191
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be FTEEZ REMENFIERHAN —FRE
settled within one year. The following is an ageing analysis B UATREREHREZEZAHE SN
of trade payables presented based on the invoice date at the B Z N RIBR BRI DT -
end of each reporting period:
As at 31 December
R+=—HA=+—8H
2023 2022
—Z=-= —E-—
$'000 $'000
FET FHET
Within 1 month 1@ A A 5,905 1,986
1 to 2 months 12218A 5,496 1,545
2 to 3 months 2E 3@ A 100 251
Over 3 months 3EALALE 270 -~
11,771 3,782
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19 LEASE LIABILITIES 19 HE&E
At 31 December 2023, the lease liabilities were repayable as R-ZE-_=ZF+-_A=+—H BEEZ
follows: HEREWOT :
2023 2022
—E-= —EFq-=
$'000 $'000
FET FET
Within 1year & ™ 1029 1,049
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F8EB2F K 427 162
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FRESFR 57 79
o 484 241
1,513 1,290
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20 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a)

(b)

Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised
Movement of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities

The component of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the movements during the year are as
follows:

2 0 n\l_\

(a)

MR R Z A EH

ERAELHE(EE) &E
Eﬁ?ﬁ?lﬁ(ﬁ/ﬁc)/ﬁfs“

RER B B F RS R HER A IR FE R IR (B
BE)/ABEERBD RERFRNE
BT

Depreciation

allowances
in excess
of related
depreciation Tax losses Total
ERE
BHERTE HIEEE #et
$'000 $'000 $'000
FHL FEL FET
At 1 January 2022 RZZEZ_F—HF—H 223 (223) -
(Credited) charge to (FfEA) Mk ERE
profit or loss (163) 177 14
At 31 December 2022 RZZE-_—F+-F=+—H 60 (46) 14
At 1 January 2023 R-EBE-=F—fH— 60 (46) 14
(Credited) charged to Gt kR ER
profit or loss (23) 46 23
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+ZA=+—H 37 - 37
Deferred tax assets not recognised (b) RERELEBEEE

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in
Note 2(0), the Group has not recognised deferred tax
assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of
$11,585,000 (2022: $14,406,000) as it is uncertain
that future taxable profits against which the assets can
be utilised will be available. The tax losses do not
expire under current tax legislation.

LRME20)MEN S ERE - AR
KRR TEHAESTARENERE
ERNRRERB RN - B ANER N
K# 11,585,000 (ZFE = =
14,406,000 70) By 2 E B E 1B 1# R
REFIREE - S HIBABBERIER
TR R R 2R ©
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21

166

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
("the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of
the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of $30,000. Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.

Contributions to the provident fund by the Group for its
employees are fully and immediately vested in the employees
once the contribution are made. There are no contributions
forfeited by the Group on behalf of its employees who leave
the plan prior to vesting fully in such contribution. Hence,
there is no forfeited contributions which may be used by the
Group to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Long service payment liabilities

Hong Kong employees that have been employed
continuously for at least five years are entitled to long
service payments in accordance with the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance under certain circumstances. These
circumstances include where an employee is dismissed for
reasons other than serious misconduct or redundancy, that
employee resigns at the age of 65 or above, or the
employment contract is of fixed term and expires without
renewal. The amount of LSP payable is determined with
reference to the employee’s final salary (capped at $22,500)
and the years of service, reduced by the amount of any
accrued benefits derived from the Group’s contributions to
MPF scheme with an overall cap of $390,000 per employee.
Currently, the Group does not have any separate funding
arrangement in place to meet its LSP obligation.

A TTHIR)

21

EERKEF

AEBBHEESRHELBEETEIEN A
EEBRBEINRETXEMNREER Y —
HAGMEATEEFTE ([RESTE]) - &
Be:t8l s —BEHRBYUSTATENTEE
HRRARETE - RERBESHE  EER
HEBSAAEEBHBRANSY MG E
W3R LAS AU A 30,000 A ER -
EHE| M RENRS BRI o

AEERERERAESFELOHKNIE
HHRR2BRAKEBENEES - HRAE
FHxzRBAIRIZTEINEER KK
B E R B WA - Btk - &
FEAEERSEMAD DR HFRRE
EEBHFKEHEE -

REBRBKSERE

BESSEBIKG ZEXEMATHE
BEETETEATERENRHARES -
ZEBARERERNBRETETAIEE
LASNEY R R 3 R B - 1B B Y65 5% Sk A £
B EEANABEEFTHERRET
BEDH -BENERERSEHNSENILERE
EMHRKRFE (LR A22,5007T) MRS F
HREAEBEMBESIEERAES
MEEEZMET BURERENBLRA
390,0007T ° B A + 7N 5 B 37 & (T 7] &5 5 /Y
BELTHUBITERBRESEML -
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EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
(Continued)

Long service payment liabilities (Continued)

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment
Ordinance, which will eventually abolish the statutory right
of an employer to reduce its LSP payable to a Hong Kong
employee by drawing on its mandatory contributions to the
MPF scheme. The Government has subsequently announced
that the Amendment Ordinance will come into effect from
the Transition Date. Separately, it is expected that the
Government will introduce a subsidy scheme to assist
employers after the abolition.

Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting
mechanism takes effect, an employer can no longer use any
of the accrued benefits derived from its mandatory MPF
contributions (irrespective of the contributions made before,
on or after the Transition Date) to reduce the LSP in respect
of an employee’s service from the Transition Date. However,
where an employee’s employment commenced before the
Transition Date, the employer can continue to use the above
accrued benefits to reduce the LSP in respect of the
employee’s service up to that date; in addition, the LSP in
respect of the service before the Transition Date will be
calculated based on the employee’s monthly salary
immediately before the Transition Date and the years of
service up to that date.

The balances of provision for long service payment as
disclosed in note 18.

21

e T WRR MR

A TTHIR)

BERKER (&)

REBRBEEEE (&)

RZFZZ_FXA BENBETEGD
HEABUEREERAERBRESFTETH
BHEHRK O RO ERNEERENES
RIS & ERAERER - TR E M IER] Ik
Bl B 86 B AR - th SN - TR E B
H—IREB S EEUBE SR SR
ERME -

Hep ZFEUREBERBIERE BEAE
B EENSER LR ERESHRN (ER
R EHI AR 2B RIER AT FTE
EMERNRE#RD UL EHBRRESR
R FEOFRWEMRBEE - AW - W
BEREHANMCSRGRE EZAIHE
AL REEZRLBEEH ARESR
RBEELRNRBRBE - BLIN NS
w1 BRI L AR FBOS R REBRS £ 1517
BREEZEH BN AHFLEEZZANMR
BEHH -

REIRS S B EEARNHI £ 18 RIE -
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22 CAPITAL AND RESERVES 22 EXRRGHE
(a) Movement in components of equity (a) REZMEARIPDEE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REBGREEESHAKITDHFET R
balances of each component of the Group's FRERNVE RN GFaEREEE -
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated AR FEEG (L), TR FE)
statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes RERNEFFBHOT -

of the Company’s individual components of (deficits)/
equity between the beginning and the end of year are
set out below:

Share Share  Accumulated
Company capital premium losses Total
LN R REE ZHER st
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

THT THET FTET THET
Note (Note 22(b))  (Note 22(c)(i))
(k3 (MEE2200))  (HEE22(000))

At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—_%—F—H 10,000 107,850 (28,354) 89,496
Loss and total comprehensive FREE k2 H
expense for the year fi s 4858 - - (3,057) (3,057)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZT=-=
+-A=+—-H 10,000 107,850 (31,411) 86,439
At 1 January 2023 RZTZ=%—H—H 10,000 107,850 (31.411) 86,439
Loss and total comprehensive &R E#E k2 H
expense for the year X 8% - - (2,779) (2,779)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F
+-h=+—H 10,000 107,850 (34,190) 83,660
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22 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) 22 EXK (&)
(b) Share capital (b) M
The Company
AT
No. of shares $'000
R E B FHET
Authorised ordinary shares of BREER0.01TH
$0.01 each: EEEBR:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 RZZ-_—F—H—H "
and 31 December 2023 —E- -+ ZHA=+—H
k=ZF==%+=H=+—H 5,000,000,000 50,000
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: Z&EK CRTREE :
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 HRZZ_—F—H—H "
and 31 December 2023 —E-—F#+-AF=+—H
kZF=Z=%+=HA=-+—H 1,000,000,000 10,000
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive TRRSBEABEERTHE IR
dividends as declared from time to time and are B URARNFTRE LRERKROH=E
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the E—ROREE -IAETERNAEAR
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard ARIBREEFEEHENER -
to the Company’s residual assets.
() Nature and purpose of reserves (0 REMEERA®
() Share premium n  BR7#E

The share premium account is governed by the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and may
be applied by the Company subject to the
provisions, if any, of its memorandum and
articles of association in paying distributions or
dividends to equity shareholders.

No distribution or dividend may be paid to the
equity shareholders out of the share premium
account unless immediately following the date
on which the distribution or dividends is
proposed to be paid, the Company will be able
to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

BhaERIHASESRRDA
EE YA AANRAREES
BRAM MK (nE)
RRAEER R DIREIE

BROFEBE D R BB R S
RHRARBKEAEBENEER
EBBREPOINRAEY B
AT AR )4 (B BR A B 25 A R
A IR R A R, o
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22 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

170

(0

(d)

(e)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(i) Merger reserve
The merger reserve represents the aggregate
amount of the excess of the nominal value of
shares of the subsidiaries acquired over the
nominal value of shares of the Company
exchanged as a part of the reorganisation during
the Company’s initial public offering.

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to fund its construction
business and provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

Distributable reserves

As 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of the
reserves attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company, as calculated in accordance with the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association
was $73,660,000 (2022: $76,439,000).

A TTHIR)

22 EXKf#%E (&)

(9]

(d)

(e)

REMEREHN(E)

(i) Btk
BHFEREC WENE QRN
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NRABREEEN D MR
MR R EENEER -

EXxEH
AEEEREANTIEZRABR/RER
SESELENREN  URHEBEER
BRHES  SRRREHEEBLSE
R EEATIREND TR
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5 A R B R LA A
B - DA B (8 BOK T A g Sk B
525 P R L R LA 5 4 AR 2
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BRI B B B AR LA -

L /4

AREHEEMHEARLERLRR
EAAISNERIE N B AR E K -

Al D RS
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HEHERAEAMARRNREHEER
KA R 48 B AT B B AR A B 2 AR R PR
IR 4E %8 473,660,000 (— T~ —
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 23
FAIR VALUES

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate and foreign
currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s
business. The Group’s exposure to these risks and the
financial risk management policies and practices used by the
Group to manage these risks are described below.

BEEREERQFE

AEERAEEBBETAZEE AP
B o U RF R R SMNE R o AN BAE %
T\ B B AN 52 B AR DA B 3R ok S TR B ) B
R EERREEREN T

(a) Categories of financial assets and liabilities (a) SRIEENAEHNER
2023 2022
—E=-= —E=-—
$'000 $'000
FBT FET
Financial assets SREE

Financial assets at amortised cost RBHERATTESHEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H b EIGRIE 49,042 65,779
Pledged bank deposits BEARITHER - 3,848
Cash at bank and in hand RITAFBEES 88,370 64,581
137,412 134,208
2023 2022

—E—-= —E-—
$'000 $'000
FET FET
Financial liabilities tEaE

Financial liabilities at amortised cost Z#ER AT ELHBE RS
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAMERFIE 18,827 10,421
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,513 1,290
20,340 11,711

(b) Credit risk (b) =ERMR

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group's credit risk is
primarily attributable to bank deposits and trade and
other receivables and contract assets. The Group has a
credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group does not provide any guarantee which
would expose the Group to credit risk.

FERBRERXSHFEREANEL
SAKERBHBELOER - RN&E
EmEERRIERERTER &
SRR R EMERFARENE
E-AKECEREERR  UHE
ERERSEERR -

AREY EEHREIMERBEAKE
EEREERR o
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23 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)

172

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables, retention receivables and contract
assets

The Group has significant concentration of credit risk
in a few customers. In view of their good payment
record and long-established relationships with the
Group, management does not consider the Group’s
credit risk to be significant. At the end of the reporting
period, 31% (2022: 50%) and 93% (2022: 92%) of
the total trade receivables and contract assets was due
from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed as part of
the acceptance procedures for new construction
contracts. These evaluations focus on the customer’s
past history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within
30 to 45 days from the date of payment certificate.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables, retention receivables and contract assets
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is based
on the probability of default with reference to
available market information, taking into account any
credit enhancement. As the Group's historical credit
loss experience indicates different loss patterns for
different customers, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between the
Group's different customer bases.

Other receivables

The Group assessed the impairment for its other
receivables individually based on internal credit rating
and ageing of these debtors which, in the opinion of
the Directors, have no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. ECL is estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life
of debtors and is adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Based on the impairment assessment
performed by the Group, the Directors consider the
loss allowance for other receivables within 12-month
ECL as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 was
insignificant and accordingly no allowance for credit
losses was provided.

A TTHIR)

23

BBRREERQFE &)
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23 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 23 BBEREERAFEE)

FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) E=EREKE)
Pledged bank deposits and cash at bank EEHIRITEARRITHEE
Pledged bank deposits and cash at bank are deposited EEFRITFRAELRITEEDFBER
with financial institutions with sound credit ratings EERIHESHEE MAKEITYE
and the Group has exposure limit to any single FAE-—SREBREREE - ERNZ
financial institution. Given their high credit ratings, ZoRMEBRESEENL EEE
management does not expect any of these financial TEHZESRRERRFEFHTE
institutions and counterparties will fail to meet their MARBITEME -
obligations.
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment AEBHRNBEERRTHTEEIE
comprises the following categories: LATEER
Level of
credit risk Benchmarks ECL assessment requirement
EERBRR H*E FHEEBBRTHER

Trade receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets Other financial assets

EZRWAE BRABER

BHEE HttEREE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired ~ 12-month ECL

does not have any past-due amounts
9N HFEFERBREERE TABEMEEH 2HESEERE —SFEHE NEAAEREEEE

2 A
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired ~ 12-month ECL

usually settle in full
ERAE BEBABERIPAREER BE-RTUZHEEE 29RHEEEFE—S8EERE 12EARBEEER
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired  Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

since initial recognition through information
developed internally or externally resources
while the counterparty is with continuous
business transactions with the Group
Al BAERINBERTORNIEER - EERR 2HEHEEHE —B8EERE 2HBEHEEERE—ECGERE
BEWN MYFHEAEEEHEEEBER

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
credit impaired

B8 BRBTEECEERE FHEHEERRE —CBREERE 2HEIEERE -—CSEERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off Amount is written off

severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

A EEBRTESATRELBRE  KAEEFE HEEHB REEHB
REER DREEARD
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23 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 23 BBEREERAFEE)
FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) E=ERMKE)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TRAMNEASBAETHEBEER
Group's financial assets and contract assets which are BRAGNEREERANEEZRE
subject to ECL assessment: ERR :

Gross carrying amount

BEHEE
External Internal 12-month or 2023 2022
Note Credit rating Creditrating Lifetime ECL —EC=F —F-—
128521 $'000 $'000
iz SHBEETER ABEETR BEHEEEE THER FHET
Trade receivables 15 NA Low risk Lifetime ECL — 21,775 37,460
not credit-impaired
B S RUHIE AiEA Wl SHEHEERE —
EEERE
Other receivables 15 NA Low risk 12-month ECL 2,814 2,031
H fth fE Y R IE AiEH W REAEREESE
Retention receivables 15 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL — 27,404 26,440
not credit-impaired
JENRIREE & TEA ERER SHEHEEEE —
EEERE
Contract assets 16(a) N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL — 29,989 22,319
not credit-impaired
BNEE AiEA Wl SHEHEERHE —
EEERE
Pledged bank deposits 17(e) A3 Low risk 12-month ECL - 3,848
BIRMRITER A3 W REABHEERRE
Cash at bank and 17()  Aa3to Baal Low risk 12-month ECL 88,370 64,581
in hand
BIRFERS Aa3 £ Baal 1K NREAEBREEER

170,352 156,679
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FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued) (b)

EEmB (%)

B R R AR B

A TTHIR)

23 BMEREREERERATEE)

The following tables show reconciliation of loss
allowances that has been recognised for trade
receivables, retention receivables and contract assets.

TRFAFMINEEHEEZE S EBGE - JE
WRE e RANEERRZEEREE
2R

Lifetime Lifetime
ECL— not ECL — credit
credit-impaired impaired Total
2B 2HEH
EEEHE— EEEHR—
EEERE EERE “aE
$'000 $'000 $'000
TAET TET FTAET
As at 1 January 2022 R-E-—F— H H 350 - 350
Expected credit loss recognised HHEEEE 88 - 88
Expected credit loss reversed fﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬂ&ﬂ%%@ (221) - (221)
As at 31 December 2022 and RZE-Z%+-A=+—H
1 January 2023 ;kZ_FT_=%—-H—H 217 - 217
Transfer to credit impaired BAGERE (22) 22 -
Expected credit loss recognised EHEEEBEER 245 1,568 1,813
Expected credit loss reversed BHEEEEEE (50) - (50)
As at 31 December 2023 RZZZ=F+-A=1—H 390 1,590 1,980
The Group recognised loss allowance of $1,980,000 REERRE D RUGRIE - BYRIREB
(2022: $217,000) on the trade receivables, retention e REHEEBIEREF1,980,000
receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to L (ZZFE =4 :217,0007T) ' £ %8
lifetime ECLs, which is measured based on the ER2HBEHEEEFE =%
probability of default for the year ended 31 December —=F+=-A=+— Etir*ﬁ%ﬁi

2023. The Group considered that there is no
significant loss allowance recognized in accordance
with HKFRS 9 as at 31 December 2023, and no
expected credit loss rate has therefore been disclosed.

MM ERFTE - AEERRN_FT ==
FH-A=+—H LEBREFEY
BREERNEORAER 2 EANEEE
W ALY ERBERAGEBHEE -
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23 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)

176

(0

Liquidity risk

Individual operating subsidiaries within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the raising of loans to cover expected cash demands.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities as at 31 December 2023 of the Group's
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on rates current at 31 December 2023) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

For bank loans subject to repayment on demand
clause which can be exercised at the bank’s sole
discretion, the maturity analysis shows the cash
outflow based on expected repayment dates with
reference to the schedule of repayments set out in the
banking facilities letters and, separately, the impact to
the timing of the cash outflow if the lenders were to
invoke unconditional rights to call the loans with
immediate effect.

A TTHIR)

23 BMEREREERNTEE)

(9]

REBESRR
AEEETHERNEENBRRAR
HEgmReEE BREEENE
HEHREFR - AEENRERTE
HERRTDESTE  UBRERE
WASHENRETESRBBNF
RAGBREBE KmmeRikE
HORPELHE °

TRV AKEEREER-_F =
F+-A=+T—HHNHRTAHIHA -
WETREBAOARBARSRE (B
BRAEQNE (WEFL  BIRER =
E_=F+ZA=1—HNHEHHNE)
FHEBN BN RS E A K ER
BENKFAHMSL

BANAEENIRITER  MERERT
BEEBREREEERNGER A
TEBASTER T EREHRERA
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23 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 23 BREBERERQFEE)
FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (00 RBELER(E)
2023
—EZ=F
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ENRBBEBER

Total Within More than More than
Carrying contractual 1 year 1 year but 2 years but
amountat undiscounted oron less than less than
31 December cash flow demand 2 years 5 years

R+=AH
=t-8 BHRER 1ERD 1N E 265k
WIREE ReRELE REXR BLR2E BHR5E
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
TER TER TER TER TER
Trade and other payables & 5 & E {708 18,827 18,827 18,827 - -
Lease liabilities HEEE 1,513 1,601 1,100 439 62
20,340 20,428 19,927 439 62

2022
—E-CF
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHNRERAS L

Total Within More than More than
Carrying contractual 1 year 1 year but 2 years but
amountat  undiscounted oron less than less than
31 December cash flow demand 2 years 5 years

R+ A
=t+—-8 BHRMR 15 Rk TEE 2ELE
MEEE BReRsgE® REX BAR2F BARSE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
TET THL TR FHET TR
Trade and other payables & 5 & E (5718 10,421 10,421 10,421 - -
Lease liabilities HEARE 1,290 1318 1,071 166 81
11,711 11,739 11,492 166 81
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23 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)

(d)

178

A TTHIR)

23 BMEREREERNTEE)

Interest rate risk (d) F=Ep
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future FEREESHTAENAFEIANK
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate Reme A TG =S8 mE LR
because of changes in market interest rates. The IR - REEMF KRR EZRN
Group'’s interest rate risk arises primarily from lease HEBEB RIPFEREHAEES
liabilities. Liabilities issued at variable rates expose the AEEAXBESREF ERER - E12
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group's [EATE I B R SR R R BN BN T X o
interest rate profile as monitored by management is
set out below.
Interest rate profile FIE B
The following table details the interest rate profile of TRAJREBEGERREHREF
the Group’s liabilities at the end of the reporting R
period.
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E--F
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BERA= (S ES
% $'000 % $'000
TERT FHET
Fixed rate liabilities: ~ EEFIZREE:
Lease liabilities HERE 3.17%-8.41% 1513 1.97%-3.17% 1,290
Total liabilities BERE 1,513 1,290
Fixed rate liabilities asa B FEFZEELEAE
percentage of total BENE DL
liabilities 100% 100%

The Group has no significant exposure to interest rate
risk as all of the Group's liabilities are at fixed rate.

RAAKBERENNEAREE &
AEBYESAMERAR
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23 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)

(e)

()

Foreign currency risk

The Group has no significant exposure to foreign
currency risk as all of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

Fair value measurement

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets
and liabilities carried at amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair values at the end of
the reporting period.

23 MKEREERRATE(E)

(e)

()

SN ELR
AEBEY EEMBEAINERR  RE
RAKBERBR Y ABTFE -

AT EIE
AR EEE R ATEN D BEER
BENEEERXSEERE ENE
EHMANHATEZHEBREALE -
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24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 24 EXRBHARS
TRANSACTIONS
In addition to transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere BRRIESEREMEREREMENEENR
in these consolidated financial statements, the Group SREEARIN - REEFT A TERBABRZS o

180

entered into the following material related transactions.

(a)

(b)

Key management personnel remuneration () TEEEEAEFTM
Remuneration for key management personnel of the REBFEEZEASOEHH (B IEH
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s ST BRANREENHRIE
directors as disclosed in Note 8 and certain of the LM ERERAE TEaHMES
highest paid employees as disclosed in Note 9, is as XARIB)AT -
follows:
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-=
$'000 $'000
FHER FHEIT
Salaries and other benefits e kEAMmET 6,069 6,298
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & {R48 5+ & 4 7% 90 90
6,159 6,388
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see et ATR IR (R
Note 6(b)). 6(b)) °
Transactions with related parties (b) EEBINRS
2023 2022
—E=-= —E--
$'000 $'000
FER FHEIT
Lease payments paid to related companies [f] B3 B A &) 52~ B9 &~ 3¢ 1,230 1,192
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MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

() Applicability of the Listing rules relating to
connected transactions
The related party transaction in respect of Note 24(b)
above constitutes connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However, the
transaction is exempt from the disclosure requirement
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules as it is below the
de minimis threshold under Rule 14A.76(1).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At 31 December 2023, contingent liabilities not provided for
in the consolidated financial statements were as follows:

2 ERBEEMAIRS (E)
() EEBEEX 5 MBI L8 BlME

5 F RE 24(b) BO B B 5 XX 5 18 A A
BRP (EER EWRAF4AE) -
AW ARABERHERE 14A.76(1)
B RIERRKT WA REST L
MRAEVAZNEERE -

25 HARKE
W=F-=F+-A=+—0 THRE
A BRE AR BN LAREDT

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-=
$'000 $'000
FET FHET
Performance bonds given to customers for &% Z# 1T A £ B B A A
due and proper performance of projects ~ Fi&ZIER M4 TEFH
undertaken by the Group’s subsidiaries BARES - 3,848
Court proceedings (note) AR SR (M EE) 872 872
872 4,720
Note: ST -
RIZZZTF —F55eE((RE]) BFAR R —HEH

In 2020, a subcontractor (“the plaintiff”) sued Man Tung Air-Conditioning
Works Limited (“Man Tung Works"), a subsidiary of the Company, for the
amount due of HK$871,664 for the ventilation fans installation works.
Currently, Man Tung Works is waiting for 1st court session. Based on the
legal advice and after consideration of possible business and financial impact,
the directors believe stand a reasonable chance of success in defending the
action and securing the counterclaims, therefore there is no present
obligation to make any provision for the case at this stage.

BARERARIREERAR ([BRARIRE] Bk
STHARBRRE TR TR B KIES71,66487T - BAT
ERARIRECESHE—NHRE - ERNEARERERT
WERAIECEBRUBHEE EERREAENK
SR AFARHETESRE BRBREREEKA
RIFED T2 -
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26 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 26 NRIEEMBERRE
FINANCIAL POSITION
2023 2022
—ZE_-= =~
Note $'000 $'000
M FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries  MRHEARAMER 3 2 2
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H b U s IE 226 206
Amounts due from subsidiaries AN B s 78,884 81,536
Cash at bank and in hand RITKFBEERS 5,274 5,489
e 84,384 87,231
Current liability REBEE
Other payables and accruals HtERRIERETER 726 794
Netcurrentassets ~~~ Hh®B&EEFE 83,658 86,437
NET ASSETS EEFE 83,660 86,439
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARK#E
Share capital % 7 22(b) 10,000 10,000
Reserves i 73,660 76,439
TOTAL EQUITY XA 83,660 86,439
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COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been adjusted to conform
to current year’s presentation and to provide comparative
amounts in respect of items disclosed.

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE
CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 December 2023, the directors consider the immediate
parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be
Prime Pinnacle Limited, which is incorporated in Republic of
Seychelles. This entity does not produce financial statements
available for public use.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2023

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of
amendments and a new standard, which are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 December 2023 and which
have not been adopted in these consolidated financial
statements. These developments include the following
which may be relevant to the Group.

27

28

29

bEBEF
ETHBRBTEABEANARFEE LT
RAEHEARRELESH -

RZZE-_=F+=-A=+—H8 EERE
AEBNEEZET QDR LTS BRE
&M A R A A SZ B9 Prime Pinnacle
Limited o It BRI MER AT HARA LT
AR BHRE -

E_Z-_=f+-H=+—H
\F R BE B A8 4 18 o R A R A 45
Rl WA ERAIRBREBOWRTE

BELSGRAMBEHRRTEAH T
SR A G B ZBERT MR LR - M
BREAMMALEARBE_T_=F
TZA=+—HALEFERARERBLER
W EHREMBHRRARSR - ZFEFT

AIEAIRREERE NI A EAEEARR
HIEHE °
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29 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2023 (CONTINUED)

29 BE-_ZBE-_=5+=-HA=+-—

H

LEFEERMERERERIE

‘f{;)%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂ&%%ﬂ’ﬂﬁ}ﬁ‘é%%
IIE

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

AT 5 A HE

ZEBBEN

STHHBEN

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between a date to be determined
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

AEBUBMEENE 10X REB T RRNFE285RBE] - KEFHAEHE N A HEARFE

AEDLEZ A EEHELTA

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

1 January 2024

ERMBMELRE 165RER] EXRHOCHERRE —E-WE—-A—H
Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or non-current and 1 January 2024
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

BRGNEREVRER] HEBIHARBXIF R REELEES K] —E_MNF—-H—H

—F-FF)MIARBEET

Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

1 January 2024

ERGTERENVRIER]  WEFEAIE B EE “E-MFE—-A—H
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7, Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 January 2024
ERGFERETRNRBEVEMELERNETRER]  HEFHE L —ZE_mMFE—-A—H

Amendments to HKAS 21, Lack of Exchangeability
ARG ERIZE219REE] - th= Al LA

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments is expected to be in
the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that
the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements.
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Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited
BIEEE (i) BIRAHE
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